
 

 

 

Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic 
Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Email: 
democratic.services@derbyshire.gov.uk 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Cabinet 
 
 

Wednesday, 15 November 2023 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Cabinet to be held at 2.00 pm on 
Thursday, 23 November 2023 in Committee Room 1, County Hall, 
Matlock, the agenda for which is set out below. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  
 
A G E N D A 
  
1.   To receive apologies for absence  

  
2.   To receive declarations of interest (if any)  

  
3.   To consider Minority Group Leader questions (if any)  

 
Minority Group Leaders in attendance at the meeting are able to ask a 
question on a report on the agenda. Any questions should be provided in 
writing by 12 noon at least 2 working days before the meeting. 
  

4.   To approve, as a correct record, the non-exempt minutes of the meeting 
held on 19 October 2023. (Pages 1 - 6) 
  

5.   Performance and Budget Monitoring Q2 (July-Sept 23) (Pages 7 - 138)  

Public Document Pack



 

 

6.   East Midlands Combined County Authority Financial Arrangements (Pages 
139 - 146) 
  

7.   Digital Strategy, ICT Strategy, Target Operating Model and Implementation 
Plan for Derbyshire County Council’s Future ICT Service (Pages 147 - 156) 
  

8.   Brackenfield SEND School proposed change of age range (Pages 157 - 
184) 
  

9.   Expansion Project for The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary School (Pages 185 - 
188) 
  

10.   Acceptance of Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) Funding from the 
Department for Transport (Pages 189 - 200) 
  

11.   Forward Plan (Pages 201 - 220) 
  

12.   Exclusion of the Public  
 
To move “That under Regulation 4 (2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)  
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that in view of the nature of the items of 
business, that if members of the public were present, exempt information 
as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 would be disclosed to them.” 
  

PART II - EXEMPT ITEMS  
  
13.   To approve, as a correct record, the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 

19 October 2023. (Pages 221 - 222) 
 

 



 

 

PUBLIC 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of CABINET held on Thursday, 19 October 2023 at 
Committee Room 1, County Hall, Matlock. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillor B Lewis (in the Chair) 
 

Councillors S Spencer, C Cupit, A Dale, C Hart, N Hoy, T King, J Patten and 
C Renwick. 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted for Councillor  . 
 
Officers present: Emma Alexander (Managing Director), Helen Barrington (Director of 
Legal and Democratic Services), Neill Bennett (Assistant Director Highways 
Commissioning), Andrea Bond (Democratic Services Manager), Carol Cammiss 
(Executive Director - Children's Services), Alec Dubberley (Head of Democratic and 
Registration Services), Ellie Houlston (Director Of Public Health), Mark Kenyon 
(Director of Finance and ICT) and Simon Stevens (Executive Director - Adult Social 
Care and Health). 

  
146/23 TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY) 

 
 None received. 

  
147/23 TO CONSIDER MINORITY GROUP LEADER QUESTIONS (IF ANY) 

 
 None received. 

  
148/23 TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE NON-EXEMPT 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 SEPTEMBER 2023 
 

 RESOLVED: 
  
To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 21 
September 2023. 
  

149/23 ROLL OUT OF ELECTRONIC DEVICES FOR LEARNING UPDATE 
 

 Councillor A Dale introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, that provided an update on the roll out of 
electronic devices for learning in Derbyshire. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

 

To note the progress made to support children and young people to 
achieve their educational potential, enabling access to electronic devices 
and the range of schemes still available to support children and young 
people who are digitally disadvantaged in Derbyshire, including that: 
  

a)   562 Children and young people were supported with free internet 
access during Covid; 

  
b)   11,147 Laptops are now in circulation in schools and with 

individual children since 2020; and  
  

c)    On average Derbyshire schemes provide children and young 
people with 180 devices a year. 

  
150/23 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23 

 
 Councillor S Spencer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 

advance of the meeting, that presented details of the Treasury 
Management Annual  Report for 2022-23 and confirmed the Council’s 
compliance with specified prudential indicators set by the Council.  
  
RESOLVED: 
  
To note the report on Treasury Management activities during 2022-23 
and the Council’s compliance with the prudential indicators set by the 
Council at its meeting on 2 February 2022, in accordance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code. 
  

151/23 ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND 
SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN (LGSCO) 2022-23 
 

 RESOLVED: 
  
To note the Annual Review letter of the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman for the year ending 31 March 2023. 
  

152/23 EAST MIDLANDS FREEPORT, PROPOSALS TO ACCEPT 
AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION AND MEMBERS’ 
AGREEMENT 
 

 Councillor B Lewis introduced a report which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, that sought approval for the amended Articles of 
Association and Members’ Agreement of the East Midlands Freeport 
Company and to change the nominated Director to the Company and 
representative of the Council to act in the role as a member of the 
Company. 

Page 2



 

 

  
RESOLVED:  
  
That Cabinet, subject to:- 
  

-      The resolution of outstanding subsidy control issues through 
Government guidance or by way of acceptable legal advice; and 

  
-      South Derbyshire District Council, Goodman EMIP (UK) Limited 

and Etwall Land Limited also confirming its approval to become a 
member of the Freeport and agreeing the revised Articles of 
Association and Members’ Agreement: 
  

1)   Approves the Council becoming a member of the East Midlands 
Freeport Company; 

  
2)   Agrees the revised Articles of Association and Members’ 

Agreement for the East Midlands Freeport Company as set out in 
the exempt Appendices 4 and 5 of the report; 
  

3)   Authorises the Director of Legal and Democratic Services, in 
consultation with the Leader, to agree amendments to the Articles 
of Association and Members’ Agreement; 
  

4)   Authorises the Director of Legal and Democratic Services, in 
consultation with the Executive Director for Place, to complete any 
documentation necessary to facilitate incorporation of the 
Company, following  confirmation of 3) above; 
  

5)   Agrees to amend the previous approval to nominate the Council 
Leader as Company Director and instead nominate the Cabinet 
Member for Clean Growth and Regeneration as the East Midlands 
Freeport Company Director on behalf of Derbyshire County 
Council; 
  

6)   Notes that the Council’s Cabinet Member for Clean  Growth and 
Regeneration, as a Director, will have the power under the Articles 
of Association to appoint an alternate to attend a Board meeting in 
their absence; 
  

7)   Reaffirms the decision to authorise the Managing Director (or 
authorised representative) to cast a vote as a Member of the 
Company, in relation to decisions reserved to members of the 
Company whether at a member meeting or by written resolution, 
when necessary, having taken legal, technical and financial advice 
as appropriate; and 

Page 3



 

 

  
8)   Agrees that periodic progress reports be brought to Cabinet or 

another appropriate forum by way of updates for members. 
  

153/23 ALLOCATION OF 2024-25 LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN HIGHWAYS 
CAPITAL SETTLEMENT 
 

 Councillor C Cupit introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, that sought approval for the acceptance of the 
2024-25 Local Transport Plan grant and for the delegation to the Director 
for Highways, to approve any changes to the programme, (within the 
tolerance of the overall budget). 
  
RESOLVED to:  
  

1)    Approve the acceptance of the 2024-25 Local Transport Plan   
grant from the Department for Transport (DfT) to the Highways 
Capital Programme providing forward visibility to members and 
communities and enabling early delivery of the programme; and 
  

2)    Authorise delegation to the Director for Highways, to approve any 
changes to the programme, (within the tolerance of the overall 
budget). 

  
154/23 PERMISSION TO PROCURE THE 2024-25 MICRO ASPHALTING 

PROGRAMME 
 

 Councillor C Cupit introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, that sought approval to procure the 2024-25 
Micro Asphalting Programme. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
To approve to advertise an open tender to select a contractor to 
undertake the 2024-25 Micro Asphalt programme with the authority to 
approve contract award being delegated to the Executive Director for 
Place. 
  

155/23 USE OF THE PROVISION OF LIBRARY STOCK TO EAST MIDLANDS 
AND MID ANGLIA LIBRARIES (EMMA) CONSORTIUM FRAMEWORK 
TO COVER THE PROVISION OF LIBRARY STOCK TO DERBYSHIRE 
LIBRARIES 
 

 Councillor B Lewis introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, that sought approval to use the East Midlands 
and Mid Anglia Libraries Consortium Framework for the provision of 

Page 4



 

 

library stock to Derbyshire libraries under Protocol 2a of the County 
Council’s Financial Regulations along with the associated budget 
allocations, control measures and implications as detailed in the report. 
  
RESOLVED to: 
  

1)    Approve the use of the Provision of Library Stock to East Midlands 
and Mid Anglia Libraries Consortium Framework Agreement for 
the purposes of acquiring stock to Derbyshire Libraries; 

  
2)    Approve the allocation of up to £432,000 per annum for the six 

year period of the framework, commencing in April 2024, up to a 
total of £2,592,000; 
  

3)    Agree that any planned spend on stock be reviewed and agreed 
on a quarterly basis with the Director for Economy and 
Regeneration prior to the placing of orders and purchase of stock; 
and 
  

4)    Agree that an annual review be undertaken of demand on stock 
as part of wider budgetary considerations and service delivery 
arrangements to ensure appropriate levels of spend. 

  
156/23 FORWARD PLAN 

 
 Councillor S Spencer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 

advance of the meeting, that presented the Executive’s Forward Plan for 
the period 1 October – 31 January 2024. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
To note the contents of the Forward Plan. 
  

157/23 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 RESOLVED: 
  
That under Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public are excluded from the meeting for the 
remaining business on the grounds that in view of the nature of the items 
of business, that if members of the public were present, exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 would be disclosed to them. 
  

158/23 AGREEMENT BETWEEN DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL AND 

Page 5



 

 

DERBY CITY COUNCIL FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF ENGLISH 
NATIONAL CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL SCHEME 2023-24 
 

 Councillor C Cupit introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, in relation to the agreement between 
Derbyshire County Council and Derby City Council for the Administration 
of English National Concessionary Travel Scheme. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
To approve the recommendations as detailed in the not for publication 
report. 
  

159/23 SAP UPGRADE IMPLEMENTATION 
 

 Councillor S Spencer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, in relation to the SAP upgrade programme and 
the procurement of an SAP implementation partner. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
To approve the recommendations as detailed in the not for publication 
report. 
 

The meeting finished at 2.40 pm 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET  
 

23 November 2023 
 

Joint Report of the Managing Director and the 
Director of Finance & ICT 

 
Performance Monitoring and Budget Monitoring/Forecast Outturn  

2023-24 as at Quarter 2 (30 September 2023) 
(Strategic Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate Change  

and Corporate Services and Budget) 
 

1. Divisions Affected 

1.1 County-wide. 

2. Key Decision 

2.1 This is a Key Decision because it is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure which is, or savings which are, significant, having 
regard to the budget for the service or function concerned (this is 
currently defined as £0.500m). 
 

3. Purpose  
 
3.1 To provide Cabinet with an update of Council Plan performance and the 

Revenue Budget/forecast outturn for 2023-24, as at 30 September 2023 
(Quarter 2). 

 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

4. Information and Analysis 
 
Integrated Reporting 
 
4.1 This report presents both Council Plan performance and financial budget 

monitoring and forecast outturn data. 
 
4.2 The Performance Summary sets out the progress the Council is making 

on delivering the Council Plan with a focus on the achievement of the 
Council Plan priorities. 
 

4.3 The Revenue Budget Position and Financial Summary provides an 
overview of the Council’s overall budget position and forecast outturn as 
at 30 September 2023. 
 

4.4 Appendices to this report summarise progress on Council Plan 
deliverables and the controllable budget position by Cabinet Member 
Portfolio for 2023-24 as at 30 September 2023.  Further reports will be 
considered at Audit Committee and Council in accordance with the 
Budget Monitoring Policy and Financial Regulations. 

 
Performance Summary 
 
4.5 The Council Plan refresh for 2023-25, which outlines the Council’s 

priorities, key deliverables and performance measures, was approved by 
Council in March 2023. 

 
4.6 The 2023-24 Performance Report for Quarter 2, attached at Appendix 3, 

sets out the position in full up to the end of September 2023 for each 
deliverable and associated key measures set out in the Council Plan.  The 
Council is addressing significant in year budget pressures however good 
progress has continued to be made during Quarter 2 in delivering the 
Council Plan, with 78% of the 45 deliverables in the Plan showing “Good” 
or “Strong” progress.  20% have been rated as “Requiring Review” and 
2% have been rated as “Requiring Action”.  Three of the deliverables 
rated “Requiring Review” are due to uncertainties around funding in the 
current context or the impact of the Council’s cost control measures. It is 
likely that in future quarters greater impact will be seen on the delivery of 
the Council Plan as the Council further prioritises its resources. 
 

4.7 Progress in delivering the Plan is shown in the graphic below. 
Deliverable Progress  

 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 
 

4.8 The graphic below shows performance against target for each key 
measure identified in the Council Plan by priority.  For the 29 key 
measures where data for 2023-24 against target is available, 10 are rated 
as “Strong”, with a further 9 rated as “Good”.  There is 1 measure rated 
as “Requiring Review” and 9 are rated as “Requiring Action”. The 2 grey 
measures do not currently have targets set for 2023-24. Measures where 
data is not yet available for 2023-24 are not displayed in the wheel.  

 
Key Measures Against Target 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 10



 

 
 

Performance by Priority 
 
4.9 The resilient, healthy and safe communities priority shows overall “Good” 

performance for deliverables. 
 

4.10 Key areas of success are as follows: 
• A total of 250 grants to the value of £1.391m have now been approved 

as part of the programme implemented in February 2022. 
• The Council has continued to support people and communities in need 

including financial wellbeing via the Derbyshire Discretionary Fund. 
Demand for these services continues to be high. 

• The latest figures for all Live Life Better Derbyshire (LLBD) services 
are above target and there is a high demand for LLBD services.  The 
Walk Derbyshire innovation programme is progressing well and work 
has started to deliver the four neighbourhood pilots. 

 
4.11 Areas for consideration are as follows: 

• There has been a limited response from community groups to take 
forward community managed libraries.  Therefore the work on 
refreshing the Library Strategy will consider options to sustain the 
service through co-location, re locations, digitisation and self service.  
Discussions will also include proposals on the optimum approach for 
the mobile library service.  

• The Council’s delivery of home to school transport for children with 
special educational needs is a complex area with some significant 
risks particularly in terms of the required data and intelligence 
currently available to assess the Council’s statutory responsibilities 
and to support decisions to be able to deliver these in an efficient 
manner.  A twelve month plan is in place to address the challenges 
with some actions already completed. 

• The Council has continued to work with partners under a number of 
government schemes to enable refugee families to make Derbyshire 
their home. The provision of accommodation and support for those 
seeking asylum is becoming a significant issue however, as the 
small amount of funding available for central government support is 
being passported to Districts and Borough Councils. A new burdens 
assessment was expected to be completed by early 2023-24, but 
this has been delayed. Moving forwards consideration needs to be 
given to the role the Council can play in relation to the co-ordination 
of a countywide response to the roll out of asylum dispersal. 

 

4.12 The high performing, value for money and resident-focused services 
priority shows overall “Good” performance for deliverables. 

 
4.13 Key areas of success are as follows: 

Page 11



 

 
 

• Work to support the development of the East Midlands Combined 
County Authority Assurance Framework is underway, led by the 
Governance Group and recruitment into key regional roles has been 
completed.  

• A range of evidence from the Council’s quality assurance and 
performance framework shows consistency of approach and strong 
practice across the children's social care and early help workforce.  

• Policy development in support of the People Strategy has been 
completed.  Sickness absence figures for the year up to the end of 
Quarter 2 show an improvement against the previous year.  

• All the supporting Corporate Property strategies and policies required 
to implement the Asset Management Strategy are now in place.  A 
total of £2.91m has been raised so far this year from the sale of 17 
property assets.  

 
4.14 Areas for consideration are as follows: 

• In support of a resident focused approach, 153 services have been 
made available online. Progress on the Council’s new Customer 
Service Portal is delayed however, whilst priorities for ICT resources 
are reviewed. Priorities are also being reviewed with each service area 
in terms of resource available to continue with the agreed road maps. 

• The Time to Hire measure reflects days between a vacancy being 
shortlisted and the contract being prepared. Quarter 2 has seen a 
slight increase in the year to date figure from the Quarter 1 position 
of 62.5 days to 64.1 days. However, during September there has 
been a reduction from previous months as a result of Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS) check delays easing. Changes to onboarding 
processes and an anticipated reduction in DBS delays should see 
the average time to hire figure reduce during Quarters 3 and 4. 
Towards the end of Quarter 2 a temporary recruitment freeze on all 
but essential posts was introduced and it is expected that this will 
also have a positive impact on time to hire figures during the 
remaining quarters of the year. 

 
4.15 The effective early help for individuals and communities priority shows 

overall “Good” performance for deliverables. 
 

4.16 Key areas of success are as follows: 
• The Mental Health and Suicide Prevention team attended a number 

of events throughout Quarter 2 to promote awareness and 
conversation about mental health and suicide prevention, including Y 
Not Festival, Pride events, football matches and a Baton of Hope 
event in Glossop. 

Page 12



 

 
 

• A total of 228 people are being actively supported with health and 
wellbeing advice and coaching to reduce the need for adult social care 
services  

• Since 2021 a total of 762 people with a learning disability and/or who 
are autistic have been supported to develop an outcome focused 
support plan. 

 
4.17 Areas for consideration are as follows: 

• Progress to finalise the new ways of working with older people and 
people with a disability to increase their independence is being 
delayed by a shortage of homecare to support people to be 
independent in their own homes.  This is a national issue and not 
unique to Derbyshire. The redesign of the Homecare Short Term 
Service to improve capacity and efficiency has now concluded and 
the outcome report is being finalised.  

 
4.18 The priority for a prosperous and green Derbyshire shows overall 

‘Requiring Review’ performance for deliverables. 
 

4.19 Key areas of success are as follows: 
• The provisional 2022-23 data for the percentage of pupils reaching the 

required standard in Phonics suggest an improvement in our national 
rank position and a narrowing of the gap between disadvantaged and 
non-disadvantaged pupils. Latest figures on the percentage of 
Derbyshire 16 to 17 year olds in education, employment or training 
continue to track within the top quartile nationally. 

• The Council has made good progress towards its net zero target of 
2032, or sooner, with a provisional 71.3% reduction in Council 
emissions achieved between 2009-10 and 2022-23 (from 42,965 
tonnes CO2e to 12,338 tonnes CO2e). However, the speed of 
reduction is at risk of slowing down, highlighting that further effort is 
required to reduce the Council's emissions.  

• Following receipt of year 2 funding, the partnership work to deliver the 
£47 million Bus Improvement Plan continued at pace during Quarter 
2. This included enhancements to 17 bus services delivering greater 
frequency and extension into the evenings and weekends.   

 
4.20 Areas for consideration are as follows: 

•  The Council is in the final year of delivery of the £120 million 3 year 
Local Transport Programme. Captured costs in the Council’s financial 
management system so far for the year to the end of Quarter 2 
amounted to £16.4m, against a target of £22m, however delivered 
work on the ground was in excess of £19m. A further £22.5m of work 
is programmed for the remainder of the current financial year and 
every effort is being made to increase this to achieve the 2023-24 

Page 13



 

 
 

target of £43m to deliver the programme within target timescales. Any 
shortfall in this amount will be carried forward to the start of the 2024-
25 financial year.  

• A decision from Government on the Outline Business case for the 
Chesterfield to Staveley Regeneration route is awaited and therefore 
all work has been paused to minimise financial risk. The need for 
certainty over funding has been raised by all parties with Government.  

• Delivery of the Derbyshire Cultural Framework may be impacted as 
the £1m cultural recovery framework reserve which supports delivery 
has been identified as potential to support the Council’s current 
budget position.  

• There is a high level of support amongst partners for the production 
of a Development Framework for The Derwent Valley Mills World 
Heritage Site Development Framework, however it is likely that this 
work will be impacted by the Council’s current financial controls.  

 
4.21 With regard to the key measure to achieve all in year budget savings, 

£3.929m is forecast to be achieved against a target of £16.190m.  The 
Council is reviewing all its savings initiatives and further developing its 
programme of savings proposals.  This is referred to in paragraph 4.59.  
 

4.22 The Council continues to review planned savings initiatives and explore, 
and implement, opportunities for further or alternative in-year efficiency 
measures to offset the ongoing budgetary pressures.  Actions taken to 
mitigate the overspend are set out in paragraph 4.31. 

 
4.23 Performance monitoring shows that the Council is continuing to make 

good progress in delivering the Council Plan, however due to the in-year 
financial pressures the Council will need to prioritise effort and resource 
moving forwards.  Further detail regarding each of the deliverables in the 
Council Plan and the key measures is set out in Appendix 3. 

 
Revenue Outturn Summary 

 
4.24 The Council’s forecast outturn for 2023-24 as at Quarter 2 (30 September 

2023), compared to controllable budget, is summarised below.  The 
forecast outturn table shows the position net of the impact of the ring-
fenced Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) of £397.167m and Public Health 
grant of £45.232m, other ring-fenced grants and income from other third 
parties and their associated spend. 

Page 14



 

 
 

Table 1: Portfolio Forecast Outturn 

  Budget Forecast 
Actuals 

Projected 
Outturn 

Over/(Under) 
Spend 

Budget 
Performance 

Overspend 
Underspend 

  £m £m £m   

Adult Care 295.569 301.290 5.721  

Children's Services and 
Safeguarding and 
Education 

156.525 174.426 17.901  

Clean Growth and 
Regeneration 0.787 0.513 (0.274)  

Corporate Services and 
Budget 67.136 68.078 0.942  

Health and Communities 
(exc. Public Health) 10.534 10.246 (0.288)  

Highways Assets and 
Transport 52.826 60.153 7.327  

Infrastructure and 
Environment 48.745 48.539 (0.206)  

Strategic Leadership, 
Culture, Tourism and 
Climate Change 

11.193 11.425 0.232  

Total Portfolio Outturn 643.315 674.670 31.355  

Risk Management 21.255 19.636 (1.619)  
  

Debt Charges 38.019 47.947 9.928  

Interest and Dividend 
Income (5.140) (13.382) (8.242)  

Levies and Precepts 0.373 0.373 0.000  

Corporate Adjustments 3.839 5.364 1.525  

Total 701.661 734.608 32.947  

Page 15



 

 
 

4.25 The overall Council forecast overspend at 31 March 2024 is £32.947m.  
This is an improvement of £13.429m on the forecast reported at Quarter 
1 (£46.376m), the reasons for which are set out in paragraphs 4.26 to 
4.28 below.     
 

Changes since Quarter 1 
 

4.26 The reduction in the forecast overspend since Q1 is shown in Table 2.  
The reduction is due to a combination of additional resources and 
reductions to expenditure.  Cost control measures, including a vacancy 
freeze, were implemented from September but demand and cost 
pressures remain high in Adult and Children’s Social Care.  Further 
detailed explanations follow in paragraphs 4.26 to 4.28 below. 
 

Table 2:  Projected Outturn change Q1 to Q2 
 

  
Q1 

Projected 
Outturn 

Q2 
Projected 
Outturn 

Q1 to Q2  
Movement 

(Favourable)/ 
Adverse 

Budget 
Performance 
Improvement 
Deterioration 

  £m £m £m   

Adult Care 7.226 5.721 (1.505)  

Children's Services and 
Safeguarding and 
Education 

13.137 17.901 4.764  

Clean Growth and 
Regeneration (0.298) (0.274) 0.024  

Corporate Services and 
Budget 4.237 0.942 (3.295)  

Health and Communities 
(exc. Public Health) (0.613) (0.288) 0.325  

Highways Assets and 
Transport 9.354 7.327 (2.027)  

Infrastructure and 
Environment 1.424 (0.206) (1.630)  

Strategic Leadership, 
Culture, Tourism and 
Climate Change 

0.391 0.232 (0.159)  

Page 16



 

 
 

Total Portfolio Outturn 34.858 31.355 (3.503)  

Risk Management 7.845 (1.619) (9.464)  

Debt Charges 9.323 9.928 0.605  

Interest and Dividend 
Income (5.733) (8.242) (2.509)  

Corporate Adjustments 0.083 1.525 1.442  

Total 46.376 32.947 (13.429)  

 
4.27 The main movements between Q1 and Q2 (summarised in Table 2 

above) are summarised as follows: 
 

• Adult Care:  Continued growth in demand and cost for homecare and 
reablement services is resulting in an increased overspend on purchased 
services.  This is being offset by the use of earmarked reserves of £7.1m 
(an additional £3.2m compared to Q1) and additional grant funding of 
£1.5m to support hospital discharge packages, resulting in a net 
improvement of £1.5m in the forecast outturn position. 

• Children's Services and Safeguarding and Education:  Continued 
demand for services combined with rising costs is resulting in a significant 
forecast overspend, which has deteriorated by £4.8m since Q1.  
Expenditure on placements for children in care or alternatives to care has 
continued to rise between Q1 and Q2, due to an increase in the average 
weekly cost of placements, a shortage of foster care places, and an 
increase in the number of children requiring support.  This increase in the 
number of children requiring support is also resulting in additional costs 
for Children’s Safeguarding Services when compared to Q1.  There has 
also been a significant increase in forecast expenditure on Home to 
School Transport due to both increasing transport costs and an increase 
in the number of children eligible for Council funded transport from 
September 2023.   

 
 
 

Page 17



 

 
 

• Corporate Services and Budget:  The reduction of £3.3m in the forecast 
overspend position is due to a combination of SAP upgrade project (the 
Council’s primary business software) expenditure now being funded 
through the capital programme and the allocation of corporate funding for 
property inflation. 

• Highways, Assets and Transport:  The improvement in the forecast 
outturn position of just over £2m is due primarily to an increase in the 
level of underspend forecast on public and community transport because 
of additional grant funding, combined with the allocation of corporate 
funding for inflation in Highways and use of an additional £0.6m from 
earmarked reserves. 

• Infrastructure and Environment:  After the allocation of corporate funding 
for inflation, there is an improvement in the forecast outturn of £1.6m due 
to a combination of reductions in waste tonnages and additional savings 
on staffing in Planning and Development Control. 

• Risk Management: There has been a significant improvement of £9.4m 
in the forecast against this budget line due to a combination of additional 
grant income (£4.9m) and a refinement in the forecast estimated use of 
contingency budgets (£4.5m). 

• Interest and Dividend Income:  Additional income from investments 
renewed at higher rates of interest (£2.5m).  Note that there is not a 
comparable increase in debt interest payable as the majority of the 
required borrowing for long-term and working capital was already within 
the Q1 forecast and little additional or renewed borrowing at higher 
prevailing interest rates is forecast for the remainder of the financial year. 

• Corporate Adjustments:  Additional costs of £1.4m are now forecast at 
Q2 as a result of anticipated reserve movements attributable to the ring-
fenced Dedicated Schools Grant (£0.5m) and an increase in the expected 
credit loss (£0.9m) in respect of interest receivable on a loan advanced 
to an organisation which is now in doubt due to economic conditions.  

 
Use of Reserves 

 
4.28 The overall forecast Council overspend of £32.947m is after substantial 

one-off support from the use of £33.523m of the Council’s Earmarked 
reserves.  The 2023-24 Budget approved by Council in February 2023 
included the planned use of £23.707m from the Budget Management 
reserve for planned service pressures.  An additional £9.816m of 
earmarked reserves is now expected to be drawn down from 
departmental reserves (£5.992m at Q1) to support the Adult Care 
(£7.091m) and Highways Assets and Transport (£2.725m) portfolio 
outturn positions.  
 
 

Page 18



 

 
 

4.29 The forecast overspend in 2023-24 follows the outturn position for 2022-
23, which resulted in the Council utilising £55m of its reserves in order to 
manage its budget to meet inflationary, demand and pay award cost 
pressures.  The Council continues to face significant inflationary cost 
pressures across all services, combined with continued growth in 
demand for Adults Services, Children’s Social Care and Education, and 
increasing reactive and planned maintenance requirements on the 
Highways Infrastructure.   
 

4.30 At the time of setting the budget in February 2023, substantial investment 
was made in all service areas to support anticipated inflationary and 
demand pressures.  However, despite this investment, inflation has 
continued to result in cost pressures in excess of budget across all 
service areas, and the anticipated pay offer for 2023-24 is higher than 
estimated.  
 

4.31 If the forecast overspend is not addressed, the Council’s General 
Reserve balance will be depleted.  Therefore, the Council continues to 
take a number of actions to mitigate the overspend.  This includes: 
 
• Finding alternative in year savings proposals.  
• Looking at high-cost placements to find more suitable and cost 

effective options. 
• Stopping or delaying projects until the next financial year to reduce 

planned expenditure in year. 
• Implementing a vacancy freeze to reduce in year expenditure. 
• Limiting expenditure on agency staffing to cover essential roles only. 
• Introducing expenditure controls across non staffing budgets. 
 

4.32 The forecast overspend has reduced considerably since Q1.  It is 
anticipated that further reductions can be achieved as the cost control 
measures, which were introduced in September 2023 and are identified 
above, continue to take effect.   The achievement of mitigating actions to 
reduce the overspend is being closely monitored by Chief Officers across 
the Council.  The following are some examples of where costs are already 
being reduced, or are forecast to be reduced, in 2023-24: 
 
• Reduction in grounds maintenance £0.220m. 
• Reduction in spend on tree strategy £0.050m. 
• Reduction in spend on conservation and heritage £0.070m . 
• Reduction in spend on Cultural Recovery Framework £0.560m. 
• Reduction in spend on Digital Derbyshire £0.500m. 
• Reduction in spend on Elvaston Masterplan £0.165m. 
• Change in Trading Standards laboratory testing £0.003m. 

Page 19



 

 
 

• Highways efficiency savings (tighter cost control, use of fleet, better 
procurement) £0.200m. 

• Reduction in spend on performance, governance and improvement 
£0.076m. 

• Pause on and reduction of project work relating to carbon reduction, 
including feasibility work. 

• Pause on any maintenance work to buildings, which is not directly 
related to a health and safety risk. Holding of vacancies in the 
maintenance team. 

• Change to the way in which the Council delivers the valuations of the 
estate for its accounts £0.050m (Ongoing) and £0.240m (One-off). 

• Pause in recruitment to vacancies in the facilities management team, 
and specifically the decision not to use overtime to fill the gaps in the 
commissionaires rota, resulting in reduced cover, slower response to 
building issues, reduced support for meetings, the building having to 
close at different times. 

• Pause on recruiting to vacancies in the tree work/grounds 
maintenance team, with an increased risk of not being able to clear 
highways and properties due to tree damage and fallen branches. 

• Reduction in utility costs £0.212m and reduction in debt charges 
£0.142m to date, due to disposal of surplus assets. Savings in 
business rates. 

• Rent reviews on industrial units leading to increased income. 
• Exploration of opportunities to find in-year savings (one-off) over and 

above the savings that have been previously identified for 2023-24 
and seek alternative savings for historical savings that have been 
brought forward into the current financial year - compensatory 
efficiencies of £2m identified in Adult Social Care.   

• Review of all high cost care packages in Adult Social Care. 
• Suspension of the use of overtime for non-business critical roles.  
• Suspension of increasing the hours of part-time staff for non-business 

critical roles.  
• Consideration of all areas of departmental budgets where spending 

can be temporarily reduced or ceased e.g. spend on travel, purchase 
of equipment including ICT equipment, training and conferences. 

 
4.33 The Council continues to work with partners, such as the Local 

Government Association and the Society of County Treasurers, to lobby 
Government for additional funding to support vital services and to 
highlight the continued financial pressures facing the Council.   Planning 
is in progress to develop budget proposals for 2024-25 but cost pressures 
and demand for services are expected to remain high.        

 
 

Page 20



 

 
 

Forecast Budget Variances 
 
4.34 Of the overall forecast £32.947m overspend, the significant variances 

(summarised in Table 1 earlier in this report) are set out below.  Further 
detail for all Portfolios is included in Appendices 4 to 11. 
 
Adult Care  

 
4.35 The forecast £5.721m overspend on the Adult Care portfolio relates 

mainly to Purchased Services costs (£10.9m overspend) and allocated 
savings targets which are not expected to be achieved this financial year 
(£9.7m shortfall reduced to £2.6m after using earmarked reserves of 
£7.1m).  There has been an increase in demand in relation to hospital 
discharges and because there is an insufficient supply of home care and 
reablement services, this has driven increased placements into 
residential homes rather than into care at home.  As a result, expenditure 
on independent sector placements has increased further in excess of 
budget. 
 

4.36 Pressures on residential care and reablement services budgets are being 
partially mitigated by underspends in other areas, including Direct Care 
(home care) staffing vacancies and reduced usage of Day Centres.  The 
forecast underspend on Direct Care is £7.2m. 
 

4.37 There are shortfalls in the delivery of the Best Life Derbyshire efficiencies 
for Working Age and Older People, which is being mitigated in part 
through the use of reserves. The forecast outturn for this portfolio includes 
the anticipated draw down of £7.091m of departmental earmarked 
reserves. 

 
Children’s Services and Safeguarding (£13.363m overspend) and 
Education  (£4.538m overspend) 
 

4.38 The forecast £17.901m overspend on the Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding and Education portfolios is mainly due to continued high 
demand for placements for children who are in care or unable to remain 
at home (£10.797m overspend).  There are also significant pressures on 
Education budgets relating to Home to School Transport (£2.669m 
overspend) and Education Support Services (£1.624m overspend). 
 

4.39 Expenditure on placements for children in care or alternatives to care is 
continuing to rise, primarily due to an increase in the cost of placements.  
Inflationary pressures have led to higher average costs whilst a shortage 
of foster care places has exacerbated the position by requiring the need 
to make more higher cost placements with independent providers. The 

Page 21



 

 
 

number of children requiring support is also growing and there are a 
greater number of children in arrangements which are alternatives to 
care, such as Special Guardianship Orders, many of which require long-
term financial support. With the best interests of the child at the heart of 
decision-making, on-going work is being undertaken to maximise the 
capacity of places and care packages available. This choice should 
ensure children are given the most appropriate placement and mitigate 
some of the rising cost pressures. 
 

4.40 Other factors contributing to the overspend include the costs of meeting 
the needs of Children with Disabilities (£1.290m overspend), where the 
cost of packages to support children with complex needs continues to 
rise.  Increasing numbers of children in care and children in need have 
also resulted in increased staffing costs for Child Protection teams 
(£2.420m overspend) to ensure caseloads are managed appropriately. 
 

4.41 There has been a significant increase in the projected overspend on 
Home to School Transport due to an increase in the number of children 
eligible for Council funded transport.  This is combined with an inflationary 
increase in costs with recent tenders showing an average increase of 
around 18% for three year contracts.   Increased eligibility relates 
primarily to SEND transport and is consistent with increases in the 
number of children with Education Health Care Plans (EHCPs), which 
has increased by 16% over the last 12 months.  Additional expenditure 
related to increased demand for EHCPs is also driving the forecast 
overspend on Education Support Services. 
 
Highways, Assets and Transport  

 
4.42 The forecast £7.327m overspend on the Highways Assets and Transport 

portfolio reflects a number of areas of pressure, including: 
 

• increased activity and costs on reactive highways maintenance 
work on the County’s roads and footpaths due to increased 
deterioration of the network causing more potholes (£2m 
overspend); 

• the implementation costs of the new Highways Network Planning 
software systems have exceeded available revenue budget and 
having to use the system for longer than planned has also 
contributed to the overspend (£0.5m overspend); 

• staff costs anticipated to be chargeable to capital budgets being 
lower than expected, resulting in additional revenue costs (£2m 
overspend); 

• winter maintenance costs are expected to exceed the allocated 
budget based on an average severity of winter.   This pressure will 

Page 22



 

 
 

reduce if there is a particularly mild winter, but may increase in 
event of cold weather being more prevalent than the last five years 
average (£0.8m overspend); and 

• prior year savings targets are not achievable (£2.2m overspend). 
  

4.43 The forecast outturn for this portfolio includes the anticipated draw down 
£2.725m of departmental earmarked reserves, including the Winter 
Maintenance reserve. 
 
Corporate Services and Budget  
 

4.44 The forecast £0.942m overspend on the Corporate Services and Budget 
portfolio is a net position, reflecting both under and overspends across 
different service areas. 
 

4.45 There is a forecast overspend of £2.5m on Property and Property 
Operations due to the costs of operating and maintaining the Council’s 
property portfolio being in excess of budget as a result of inflationary 
pressures and urgent maintenance requirements.  There are also delays 
and shortfalls on delivery of savings targets, and reductions in property 
operations income without a corresponding reduction in fixed costs. 
 

4.46 The overspend on Property of £2.5m, along with a Corporate overspend 
of £0.4m relating to an unachievable Channel Shift savings target, has 
been partially offset by the following:  
 

• Capitalisation of Azure Cloud costs as part of the SAP HANA 
project £1.5m, with an overall underspend impact on Finance & ICT 
of £0.672m. 

• Underspend on salaries as a result of vacancies in Organisational 
Resilience People and Communications (ORPC) of £0.251m. 

• Underspend on salaries as a result of vacancies in Transformation 
& Strategy of £0.915m   

 
Corporate Budgets  

 
4.47 There is a net forecast overspend of £1.592m on corporate budgets in 

2023-24, the corporate budgets being: 
 

• Risk Management  
• Debt Charges  
• Interest and Dividend Income 
• Levies and Precepts 
• Corporate Adjustments 

 

Page 23



 

 
 

Risk Management  
 

4.48 There is now a forecast underspend on the Risk Management budget due 
to a combination of additional grant income (£4.9m) and a refinement in 
the forecast estimated use of contingency budgets (£4.5m).  Further 
detail on the allocation of the risk management budget is set out in the 
table below.    

Table 3: Risk Management budget  Budget 
Forecast 

Expenditure 

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend 

 £m £m £m 
Pay Award 2023-24 10.746 16.386 5.640 

    
Departmental Specific Service Pressures  2.436 3.250 0.814 

    
General Contingency 3.557 0.000 (3.557) 

    
Savings Targets not achievable/duplicated (0.773) 0.000 0.773 

    
Total Contingency Funding 15.966 19.636 3.670 

    
Extended rights to home to school transport 0.171 0.000 (0.171) 
Services Grant 2023-24 0.181 0.000 (0.181) 
Business Rates Relief Grant Adjustment 4.937 0.000 (4.937) 
Additional Non-ringfenced Grants  5.289 0.000 (5.289) 

    
Total Risk Management Budget 21.255 19.636 (1.619) 

 
4.49 The Risk Management Budget has reduced since Q1 due to inflation 

contingency budgets being allocated to Departmental budget lines.  The 
remaining £21.255m of risk management budget includes: 
 

• £15.966m of remaining contingency funding set aside in the 2023-
24 Revenue Budget.  This includes a remaining pay award element 
of £10.746m, departmental specific service pressures of £2.436m 
(not yet allocated to Departments) and general contingency of 
£3.557m. 

• £5.289m of additional non-ring fenced grants that had not been 
announced when the 2023-24 Revenue Budget was approved by 
Council on 15 February 2023.  This comprises: 

o £0.171m Extended Rights to Home to School Transport 
Grant adjustment;  

o £0.181m Services Grant 2023-24 adjustment; and 
o £4.937m additional business rates relief grant. 

Page 24



 

 
 

 
4.50 The forecast expenditure of £19.636mm on the Risk Management Budget 

relates to: 
 

• £16.386m anticipated allocation of budget to fund pay increases, 
as set out in paragraph 4.51 below. 

• £3.250m remaining allocation of budget to support Departments 
with the rising cost of goods and services relating to transport and 
catering, and property running costs. 

 
4.51 The 2023-24 pay award for Local Government Service Employees 

(effective from 1 April 2023) was agreed on 1 November 2023.  The 
National Employers’ final one-year offer proposed to the unions 
representing the main local government workforce was as follows, with 
effect from 1 April 2023: 
 

• An increase of £1,925 on all pay points covered by the Council’s 
Pay Grades up to and including Grade 13, which is equivalent to a 
10.4% increase for employees on pay point 1 and 4.0% for 
employees on pay point 35. 

• An increase of 3.88% on all pay points covered by the Council’s 
Pay Grades on Grades 14 to 16. 

• An increase of 3.50% on all pay points covered by the Council’s 
Pay Grades on Grades 17 to 21. 

• An increase of 3.88% on all allowances, except for travel rates. 
 

The final 2023-24 pay offer equates to a total estimated ongoing cost to 
the Council of £15.933m.  For 2023-24 budget purposes a sum of 
£10.381m was set aside, based on a 4% flat pay award increase.   The 
agreed pay increase for 2023-24 leaves the Council with a shortfall of 
£5.552m in 2023-24 and an ongoing pressure of that amount in each 
subsequent year.   
 
Debt Charges (Cost of Borrowing) 
 

4.52 The Debt Charges budget is forecast to be overspent by £9.928m in 
2023-24 of which £6.1m relates to interest payable on short-term loans 
and £3.8m to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for the repayment 
of debt principal as a result of additional borrowing.   
 

4.53 Forecast interest payable on short-term loans has increased due to rising 
interest rates and the increased need to borrow to maintain working 
capital after the payment of the Derby and Derbyshire Waste Treatment 
Centre legal settlement (£2.3m of interest costs relating to the increased 
need to borrow because of the legal settlement).  MRP has increased as 

Page 25



 

 
 

the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) has risen following 
the trend of switching capital financing from Revenue Contributions to 
borrowing in recent years as part of its risk management strategy.   
 
Interest and Dividend Income 
 

4.54 A favourable variance of £8.242m is forecast on the Interest and 
Dividends budget.  The Council utilises a range of investments to 
maximise its income on cash balances.  As interest rates have risen, 
forecast income from short-term lending has increased, but this is offset 
by an increase in the interest the Council is expected to pay to meet its 
temporary borrowing needs.    

 
Corporate Adjustments 
 

4.55 There is a forecast overspend of £1.525m on Corporate Adjustments in 
2023-24.  This is due to an expected credit loss in respect of interest 
receivable on a loan advanced to an organisation which is now in doubt 
due to economic conditions (£0.9m), anticipated reserve movements 
attributable to the ring-fenced Dedicated Schools Grant (£0.8m), 
amortisation of premiums and interest on restructured loans (£0.3m), less 
£0.5m in respect of interest receivable on schools’ balances.  

 
General Reserve  

 
4.56 The General Reserve stands at £27.734m at 30 September 2023 (Q1 

report, £28.025m).  This is considered to be the minimum level of general 
reserve for an organisation the size of the Council.  The current forecast 
£32.947m overspend for 2023-24 would more than deplete the available 
General Reserve balance.  Further corrective action as outlined in this 
report needs to be undertaken to reduce this overspend. 
 

 
Earmarked Reserves 
 
4.57 Earmarked reserves are held to meet known or predicted liabilities and 

the funds should be used for the item for which they have been set aside.  
Any funds no longer required are returned to the General Reserve.  The 
Council reviews the level of Earmarked reserves at least annually.  The 
last review of earmarked reserves took place in December 2022 and was 
reported to Cabinet on 2 February 2023.  The next review is scheduled 
to be reported in January/February 2024. 
 

4.58 A summary of outstanding balances on the Council’s Earmarked reserves 
as at 30 September 2023 is set out in Appendix 13. 

Page 26



 

 
 

 
Budget Savings 
 
4.59 A summary of the achievement of budget savings targets for 2023-24 is 

provided at Appendix 14.  The budget savings target for 2023-24 is 
£16.190m, with a further £12.038m target brought forward from previous 
years.  Of the in-year savings target, £3.929m is forecast to be delivered 
in the current financial year, with delays in the delivery of Adult Care 
savings being mitigated through the use of earmarked reserves.  The 
Council is reviewing all of its savings initiatives and developing a 
programme of savings proposals to address the estimated funding gap 
over the medium term.  Where savings have not been achieved in 
previous years and brought forward into the current financial year, 
mitigations and alternative savings delivery is being considered.  Where 
there is non-achievement of savings brought forward, the resulting base 
budget overspend is offset to some extent by one-off underspends, one-
off funding from earmarked reserves and additional grant funding 
received.  If a savings initiative is not delivered this will also have ongoing 
financial implications, including for future financial years. 

  
Debt Age Profile 
 
4.60 The age profile of debts owed to the Council and the value of debts written 

off is disclosed in Appendix 15.  This information is collected on a 
departmental rather than on a portfolio basis. 
 

Traded Services 
 
4.61 A trading area is where the Council receives income in return for providing 

discretionary services to external organisations and/or individuals. 
 
 

4.62 ‘Fully traded’ trading areas are separately identifiable and have a net 
controllable budget of £0, i.e. there is an expectation that on average all 
the controllable expenditure within this area will be funded from external 
income and a contribution made to general overheads.  The latest 
forecast position on fully traded services is for a net deficit position of 
£0.767m due to income levels not meeting expected expenditure in 
several areas.   

 
4.63 ‘Partially traded’ trading areas do not have a net controllable budget of 

£0, but they do receive income from external entities which contributes to 
funding some of the discretionary services they provide.  An overall 
surplus of £0.292m compared to the budgeted income target is forecast 
for 2023-24 on partially traded areas across the Council as a whole. 

Page 27



 

 
 

 
4.64 Appendix 12 summarises the financial performance of the separate 

trading areas. 
 

5. Consultation 
 
5.1 At the Cabinet meeting on the 21 September 2023 a report on the 

Preparation of Budget 2024-25 was included as part of the agenda.  The 
report covered how during October and November the Council will 
consult residents and other stakeholders in relation to the Council’s 2024-
25 budget, including asking for views on the Council’s savings proposals 
Given the financial challenges the organisation faces, it is now proposed 
that the Council will consult residents on specific budget options for 2024-
25 as they are finalised over the coming months. This is to ensure the 
detail of each proposal is sufficient to enable full and appropriate  
Consultation.  The budget consultation commenced on 6 November 
2023. 

6. Alternative Options Considered 

6.1 N/A – the Council is required to outline its forecast revenue outturn 
position to ensure compliance with good financial management principles 
and to support the development of short and medium-term financial 
planning.  Not producing a budget monitoring report would be contra to 
the Council’s Financial Regulations which requires the reporting of 
variances of income and expenditure against budget allocation to be 
reported to Cabinet in line with the Budget Monitoring Policy.   

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 None identified. 
 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix 1-  Implications. 

 
9.2 Appendix 2 – Key to Performance Ratings 

 
9.3 Appendix 3 – Performance Report 2023-24 Council Overview 

 

Page 28



 

 
 

9.4 Appendix 4 – Adult Care - Portfolio Summary  
 

9.5 Appendix 5 – Children’s Services and Safeguarding and Education - 
Portfolios Summary 
 

9.6 Appendix 6 – Clean Growth and Regeneration - Portfolio Summary 
 

9.7 Appendix 7 – Corporate Services and Budget - Portfolio Summary  
 

9.8 Appendix 8 – Health and Communities - Portfolio Summary  
 

9.9 Appendix 9 – Highways Assets and Transport - Portfolio Summary  
 

9.10 Appendix 10 – Infrastructure and Environment - Portfolio Summary  
 

9.11 Appendix 11 – Strategic Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change - Portfolio Summary  
 

9.12 Appendix 12 – Traded Services  
 

9.13 Appendix 13 – Earmarked Reserves  
 

9.14 Appendix 14 – Budget Savings Monitoring 2023-24  
 

9.15 Appendix 15 – Aged Debt 
 
10. Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
10.1 Notes and agrees the update of Council Plan performance and the 

Revenue Budget position/forecast outturn for 2023-24 as at  
30 September 2023 (Quarter 2). 

 
10.2 Notes the position on General and Earmarked Reserves.  

 
10.3 Notes significant actions are required and will be undertaken across the 

Council to reduce the significant revenue overspend detailed in this 
report.  Cabinet will be kept informed on the implementation and progress 
of these actions. 
 

10.4 Approves the changed approach for consultation on specific budget 
options. 

 
11. Reasons for Recommendations 

Page 29



 

 
 

 
11.1 The forecast outturn report provides a summary of the expected overall 

financial performance and use of resources against the Council’s 
approved budget for the financial year 2023-24.  The outturn position 
supports the development of budgets in both the short and medium term.  
 

11.2 The balances of both the General and Earmarked Reserves support good 
financial planning. 

 
12. Is it necessary to waive the call in period? 
 
12.1 No 
 
 
 
Report Authors:    Contact details: 
Heather Green    Heather.Green@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Sam Holmes    Samuel.Holmes@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Eleanor Scriven    Eleanor.Scriven@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Simon Pape     Simon.Pape@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Matthew Walters    Matthew.Walters@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Esther Croll     Esther.Croll@derbyshire.gov.uk 
  

Page 30

mailto:Heather.Green@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:Samuel.Holmes@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:Eleanor.Scriven@derbyshire.gov.uk


 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1 An overall Council overspend of £32.947m is forecast.  This is an 

improvement on the forecast reported at Quarter 1 (£46.376m) but is 
already after substantial one-off support from the use of £33.523m of the 
Council’s Earmarked reserves.  The 2023-24 Budget approved by 
Council in February 2023 included the planned use of £23.707m from the 
Budget Management reserve for planned service pressures.  A further 
£9.816m of earmarked reserves is now expected to be drawn down from 
departmental reserves to support the Adult Care (£7.091m) and 
Highways Assets and Transport (£2.725m) portfolio outturn positions.   
 

1.2 The forecast overspend is in addition to the overspend reported for 2022-
23 which resulted in the Council utilising £55m of its reserves in order to 
balance the budget to meet inflationary, demand and pay award cost 
pressures.  This was an additional sum of £23m over and above that 
originally budgeted for at the time of setting the budget in February 2022.   
 

1.3 Paragraphs 4.34 to 4.59 describe the reasons for the overspend.  There 
continues to be inflationary and demand pressures, particularly for adults 
and children’s social care.  
 

1.4 At the time of setting the budget in February 2023, substantial investment 
was made in all service areas to support anticipated inflationary and 
demand pressures.  However, despite this investment, inflation has 
continued to provide cost pressures to all service areas and the pay offer 
for 2023-24 is higher than estimated.  
 

1.5 If the forecast overspend is not addressed, the Council’s General 
Reserve balance will be depleted.  Therefore, the Council is taking a 
number of actions to mitigate the overspend.  This includes: 
 
• Finding alternative in year savings proposals.  
• Looking at high-cost placements to find more suitable and cost 

effective options. 
• Stopping or delaying projects until the next financial year to reduce 

planned expenditure in year. 
• Implementing a vacancy freeze to reduce in year expenditure. 
• Limiting expenditure on agency staffing to cover essential roles only. 
• Introducing expenditure controls across non staffing budgets. 
 

Page 31



 

 
 

The forecast overspend has reduced considerably since Q1.  It is 
anticipated that further reductions can be achieved as the cost control 
measures identified above take effect.   The achievement of mitigating 
actions to reduce the overspend is being closely monitored by the 
Council’s Chief Officers. 
 

1.6 A number of local authorities are reporting substantial overspends, with 
some indicating that they may have to issue Section 114 Notices, this 
meaning that no new expenditure is permitted with the exception of 
funding to provide statutory services.   
 

1.7 The Council works with partners such as the Local Government 
Association and the Society of County Treasurers to lobby government 
for additional funding to support vital services and to highlight the 
continued financial pressures facing the Council.       

 
Legal 
 
2.1 By law the Council must set and deliver a balanced budget, which is a 

financial plan based on sound assumptions which shows how income will 
equal spend over the short- and medium-term. This can take into account 
deliverable cost savings and/or local income growth strategies as well as 
useable reserves. However, a budget will not be balanced where it 
reduces reserves to unacceptably low levels and regard must be had to 
any report of the Chief Finance Officer on the required level of reserves 
under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, which sets 
obligations of adequacy on controlled reserves. 

 
2.2 By virtue of section 114(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, 

the Chief Finance Officer is required to issue a report where he considers 
that the expenditure to be incurred by the Council during a financial year 
is likely to exceed the available resources. The issue of a section 114(3) 
report would trigger a short term statutory prohibition on entering into ‘any 
new agreement which may involve the incurring of expenditure’ without 
the permission of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 None. 
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None. 
 
  

Page 32



 

 
 

Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 None. 
 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 The Council Plan values commit to spending money wisely, making the 

best use of the resources that the Council has. 
 
6.2 High inflation and the delay in agreeing the pay award for 2023-24 has 

increased the financial uncertainty for all local authorities.  The Council is 
committed to ensuring that it sets a balanced budget over the medium-
term, therefore ensuring good financial management and use of 
reserves. 

 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, Property 
and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 None.  

Page 33



Appendix 2  
 

 
 

Key to Performance Ratings 
 

 Strong Good Review Action Not Updated 

Council Plan 
Deliverables 
 

On track or 
complete with 
outcomes 
exceeding 
expectations 
/requirements. 

On track or 
complete with 
outcomes in line 
with expectations/ 
requirements. 

Some risk to 
achieving 
timetable and/or 
outcomes. 

Unlikely to 
achieve timetable 
and/or not 
delivering 
required 
outcome. 

 

Council Plan 
Measures 
 

More than 5% 
better than target. 

Less than 5% 
better than target 
but not less than 
2% worse than 
target. 

Between 2% and 
10% worse than 
target. 

More than 10% 
worse than 
target. 

No data received 
or no target set 
for 2023-24. 

Service Lines 
Outturn 
 

 Outturn below 
budget. 

Outturn less than 
or equal to 2% 
over budget. 

Outturn more 
than 2% over 
budget. 

 

Portfolio Outturn 
 

 Outturn  
below budget. 

 Outturn over 
budget. 

 

Budget Savings 
 

 Forecast savings 
better than target. 

 Forecast savings 
worse than 
target. 

 

 
 

P
age 34



Appendix 3  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council Plan 2023-25 
 
Performance Report 
Quarter 2 2023-24 

Derbyshire 
County Council
Appendix 3

Page 35



Appendix 3  

 

Contents 
Introduction 3 

Summary 5 

Deliverable Overview 5 

Key Measure Overview 6 

Performance – Trend over Time 7 

Key areas of Success 7 

Key areas for Consideration 10 

Key Measures Updated for Quarter 2 2023-24 14 

Progress on Council Plan priorities 17 

Resilient, healthy and safe communities 18 

High performing, value for money and resident focused services 27 

Effective early help for individuals and communities 37 

A prosperous and green Derbyshire 41 

Overarching Measures 55 

Notes 56 

Key 56 

 

Page 36



Appendix 3  

 

Introduction 
Welcome to the Council’s performance report on the Council Plan 2023-25, for 
Quarter 2 2023-24. The Council Plan sets out the direction of the Council and 
what we are working to achieve on behalf of our residents. At the heart of our 
Plan is ensuring we provide maximum value for money for the council tax our 
residents pay, by delivering the most efficient and effective services we can. 
The Plan was refreshed in March 2023 to ensure it continues to address the 
key opportunities and challenges facing the Council. Our key priorities continue 
to be: 

• Resilient, healthy and safe communities; 
• High performing, value for money and resident focused services; 
• Effective early help for individuals and communities; 
• A prosperous and green Derbyshire. 

For each priority we have identified a set of key deliverables and performance 
measures which we will focus on to meet our priorities.  

The report describes performance up to the end of September 2023; any 
discussions regarding performance should take account of any additional 
information that may be available following production of this report. 

Page 37



Appendix 3  

 

Reporting Performance 
 

Progress on our Council Plan deliverables and key measures is set out on the 
following pages. To give a clear indication of performance, the following 
categories are used:  

Category Deliverables Measures Council Response 
 Strong On track or 

complete with 
outcomes 
exceeding 
expectations 

More than 5% 
better than target 
(2% better than 
target if the target is 
greater than 95%) 

Continue to 
monitor. Celebrate 
and learn from 
success 

 Good On track or 
complete with 
outcomes in line 
with expectations 

Between 5% better 
or 2% worse than 
target 

Continue to 
monitor. Celebrate 
and learn from 
success 

 Review Some risk to 
achieving 
timetable and/or 
outcomes   

More than 2% 
worse than target 

Keep under review 
to ensure 
performance is 
brought 
back/remains on 
track 

 Action Unlikely to achieve 
timetable and/or to 
deliver required 
outcome 

More than 10% 
worse than target 

Additional action 
will be/is being 
taken to bring 
performance back 
on track 

 

A graphical representation of the Council’s performance for Quarter 2 is set out 
below, against its priorities (inner wheel) and deliverables (outer wheel). The 
colours in each segment show the progress the Council is making during 
2023-24. The performance for each priority and deliverable is detailed within 
the report. 

 

We would welcome your feedback on the report as part of our commitment to 
continually improve what we do and how we serve the people of Derbyshire. 
Please tell us what you think at:  haveyoursay@Derbyshire.gov.uk 

Page 38

mailto:haveyoursay@derbyshire.gov.uk


Appendix 3  

 

Summary 
Deliverable Overview 
The Council is addressing significant in year budget pressures, however as at 
Quarter 2, good progress continues to be made in delivering the Council Plan. 
Of the 45 deliverables in the Plan, 35 have been rated as 'Good' or 'Strong'; 9 
have been rated as "Requiring Review" and 1 as "Requiring Action". Three of 
the 9 deliverables rated “Requiring Review” are due to uncertainties around 
funding in the current context or the impact of the Council’s cost control 
measures. It is likely that in future quarters greater impact will be seen on the 
delivery of the Council Plan as the Council further prioritises its resources. 

 

Page 39



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measure Overview 
A set of key measures have also been developed to enable the Council to 
further monitor the progress it is making by reporting performance against 
targets. The colours in each segment of the wheel below show the Council’s 
success in achieving its performance targets. Of the 29 key measures with data 
and targets at this point in the year, 10 have been rated as 'Strong', with a 
further 9 rated as 'Good'. There is 1 measure which has been rated as 
'Requiring Review' and 9 as 'Requiring Action'. Measures which are grey 
currently have no targets set for 2023-24. Measures where data is not yet 
available for 2023-24 are not displayed in the wheel. The key measures are 
detailed in the following tables. 

 

Page 40



Appendix 3  

 

Performance – Trend over Time  
 Deliverables Measures 

 

 

Key areas of Success  
Key areas of success during Quarter 2 are: 

Provide consistent, high quality early help and safeguarding services for children and families across Derbyshire 
(rated Good)  

 

A range of evidence from our quality assurance and performance framework continues to show consistency of approach and 
strong practice across the children's social care and early help workforce. This is in the context of increasing demand and 
activity throughout the social care system. (View Details) 

Deliver £1.5 million of grant awards to promote positive behaviours for young people and residents, improve local 
networks, help people to feel safer, and encourage sustainable and green activity (rated Strong)  

 

Since the implementation of the programme in February 2022, 250 grants to the value of £1,391,305 have been approved. 
(View Details) 

Jun 2023 Sep 2023 Dec 2023 Mar 2024
 Strong 2 2
 Good 33 33
 Review 10 9
 Action 0 1

Jun 2023 Sep 2023 Dec 2023 Mar 2024
 Strong 12 10
 Good 6 9
 Review 0 1
 Action 5 9

Jun 2023 Sep 2023 Dec 2023 Mar 2024
Improving 2 3
No Change 28 39
Declining 7 4
Completed 0 1

Jun 2023 Sep 2023 Dec 2023 Mar 2024
Improving 4 0
No Change 13 19
Declining 1 5

P
age 41



Appendix 3  

 

Implement the Asset Management Strategy and Property 2025 programme, reviewing and rationalising our land and 
building assets and ensuring an effective plan is in place for the management of those we retain (rated Strong)  

 

The supporting strategies required for implementation are now completed and have been approved by Cabinet. A total of 
£2.921m has been raised up to the end of September from the sale of 17 property assets; this also brings reduced 
maintenance, insurance and energy costs for the Council. (View Details) 

Work alongside people with a learning disability, those recovering from mental ill health and/ or who are autistic to 
develop Council services to ensure they are tailored to meet individuals needs and help people achieve their personal 
goals (rated Good)  

 

In this quarter, we have worked with 53 people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic, to have outcome focussed 
support plans. This exceeds the quarterly target. Cumulatively, since April 2021, 762 people have been supported to develop 
an outcome focused support plan. (View Details) 

Provide support to people and communities in need, including financial help from our Discretionary Fund and other 
activities that promote financial inclusion and tackle cost of living pressures (rated Good)  

 

Throughout Quarter 2 the Council has continued to provide support to people and communities in need, including financial 
wellbeing via the Derbyshire Discretionary Fund. Demand for these services continues to be high due to the rise in the cost of 
living. Demand for Emergency Cash Payments also continues to be very high. 
Demand for the Public Health Advisory Service continues to be high in both GP surgeries and community settings. (View 
Details) 

Work with partners to enable people to lead healthier lives by supporting people to take part in physical activity, to 
stop smoking and manage their weight (rated Good)  

 

In Quarter 2, demand for Live Life Better Derbyshire services to stop smoking, achieve a healthy weight and become more 
physically active remains strong and on track to achieve its annual targets. 
Physical activity transformation work is continuing to develop a partnership approach to physical activity services. The physical 
activity agreement and specification is written and being reviewed. 
Walk Derbyshire innovation programme is progressing well and work has started delivering the four neighbourhood pilots. 
(View Details) 

P
age 42



Appendix 3  

 

Embed the Council’s approved People Strategy to deliver the Council’s people ambition and the people priorities 
(rated Good)  

 

The figure of 4.7% for available hours lost to sickness for the year up to the end of September is below the 2023-24 target of 
5.1% and for comparison the 2022-23 Quarter 2 year to date figure was 5.4%. The measure shows total sickness hours as a 
percentage of total working hours available. (View Details) 

Work with schools so that the percentage of children and young people attending good or better schools improves at 
a faster rate than nationally (rated Good)  

 

Derbyshire has seen a faster rate of improvement so far this financial year than that seen nationally for secondary pupils. For 
primary pupils, the rate of improvement is just below the rate of improvement nationally. Although the gap with national has 
narrowed, proportions remain lower than comparators, particularly at secondary level, and the deliverable remains a priority for 
the 2023-24 academic year. (View Details) 

Embed the new Portfolio Management approach and framework across the Council to ensure that programmes and 
projects are coordinated and deliver improved outcomes and value for money (rated Good)  

 

The Portfolio Management Implementation Programme is preparing to move as scheduled into the Closure Stage. The 
Portfolio Management and Transformation Function sitting within Corporate Services and Transformation has achieved full 
operating capacity through the successful transition of the programme and project management resource which transferred to 
the corporate function in July 2023. (View Details) 

Work with partners to promote positive mental wellbeing and improve support for local people, with a particular focus 
on children and young people and suicide prevention (rated Good)  

 

The Director of Public Health annual report was published and focused on mental health and wellbeing. 
The Mental Health and Suicide Prevention team attended a number of events throughout Quarter 2 to promote awareness and 
have conversation about mental health and suicide prevention, including Y Not Festival, pride events, football matches and a 
Baton of Hope event in Glossop. (View Details) 

Deliver health and wellbeing advice and coaching to prevent, reduce and delay the need for adult social care services 
(rated Good)  

 

The team are actively supporting a total of 228 people and have received 97 new introductions in Quarter 2. 
The new website, online initial contact form and outcomes capture form introduced on 1 April 2023 are now fully operational. 
(View Details) 

P
age 43



Appendix 3  

 

Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from Council property, vehicles and street lighting to 12,310 tonnes CO2e by 2024 
and net zero by 2032 (rated Good)  

 

The Council has made good progress towards its net zero target of 2032, or sooner, with a provisional 71.3% reduction in 
Council emissions achieved between 2009-10 and 2022-23 (from 42,965 tonnes CO2e to 12,338 tonnes CO2e). However, the 
speed of reduction is at risk of slowing down, highlighting that further effort is required to reduce the Council's emissions. (View 
Details) 

Work with schools and other education providers to implement new strategies and support, to enable children and 
young people to achieve their educational potential and begin to catch up on learning they have missed due to 
COVID-19 restrictions (rated Good)  

 

Provisional 2022-23 data for the percentage of pupils reaching the required standard in Phonics suggest an improvement in our 
national rank position and a narrowing of the gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils. Latest figures on the 
percentage of Derbyshire 16 to 17 year olds in education, employment or training continue to track within the top quartile 
nationally. (View Details) 

Deliver a £47 million Bus Service Improvement Plan in partnership with Derbyshire bus operators and establish a 3-
year programme to develop and improve bus frequency, connectivity, usage and affordability (rated Good)  

 

Following receipt of year 2 funding, the partnership work to deliver the £47 million Bus Improvement Plan continued at pace 
during Quarter 2. This included enhancements to 17 bus services delivering greater frequency and extension into the evenings 
and weekends. (View Details) 

 

Key areas for Consideration  
The following areas have been rated as “Requiring Review” or “Requiring Action” during Quarter 2: 

Refresh and implement our Library Strategy to ensure a modern, efficient and improved service (requires Review)  
 

Issue: Further to the relaunch of the former Library Strategy in September 2021 there has been a no further response from 
community groups regarding Community Managed Libraries (CML). Response: The implementation focus of the Library 
Strategy is shifting from CML (although proposals will still be considered as and when they come forward) to sustaining the 
service through co-location/relocation. View details. 

P
age 44



Appendix 3  

 

Review how the Council delivers home to school transport for children with special educational needs ensuring the 
most effective use of resources (requires Review)  

 

Issue: This is a complex area with some significant risks particularly in terms of the required data and intelligence currently 
available to assess our statutory responsibilities and to support decisions to be able to deliver these in an efficient manner. 
Response: Work is now in place to start to implement and deliver the 12 month improvement plan. An independent lead for the 
implementation of the plan is in place and the improvement plan has been linked to both the Special Educational Need and 
Disabilities Executive Board and the Education Partnership. A decision-making team in now established and work is starting to 
move forward. View details. 

Work with partners to welcome refugee families into Derbyshire and developed a countywide response to the 
implementation of asylum dispersal (requires Review)  

 

Issue: The provision of accommodation and support for those seeking asylum is becoming a significant issue, the funding 
available for central government support is being passported to Districts and Borough Councils. Response: Whilst there is no 
funding available to upper tier authorities, the Council is providing support to partners and engaging in multi-agency meetings. 
Moving forward, consideration needs to be given to the role the Council can play in relation to the co-ordination of a countywide 
response to the roll out of asylum dispersal. View details. 

Support a resident-focused approach through a range of mechanisms to improve access to online services and 
customer service performance including implementing a complaints and feedback system (requires Review)  

 

Issue: In support of a resident focused approach, 153 services have been made available online, working towards an end of 
year target of 160 services. Progress on the Council's new Customer Service Portal, however, is delayed whilst priorities for 
ICT resources are reviewed. Response: Priorities are also being reviewed with each service area in terms of resource 
available to continue with the agreed roadmaps. View details. 

Finalise the new ways of working with older people and people with a disability to increase their independence so that 
they remain part of their local communities (requires Review)  

 

Issue: Progress is being delayed by a shortage of homecare to support people to be independent in their own homes. This is a 
national issue and not unique to Derbyshire. Response: We are currently finalising the redesign of the Short-Term Service with 
implementation commencing January 2024. This will increase the capacity available to older people requiring reablement 
intervention and help manage demand for Adult Social Care and Health services. View details. 

P
age 45



Appendix 3  

 

Complete the delivery of a £120 million 3-year Local Transport Programme (LTP) to provide well managed roads and 
highways and address road safety concerns (requires Review)  

 

Issue: Captured costs in the Council’s financial management system so far for the year to the end of Quarter 2 amounted to 
£16.4m, against a target of £22m, however delivered work on the ground was in excess of £19m. The repair of road defects on 
time has continued to decline and issues, accelerated by unseasonal adverse weather conditions, have impacted on the rate of 
repair. Response: A further £22.5m of work is programmed for the remainder of the current financial year and every effort is 
being made to increase this to achieve the 2023-24 target of £43m to deliver the programme within timescales. Any shortfall in 
this amount will be carried over to the start of the 2024-25 financial year. View details. 

Develop the Local Nature Recovery Strategy for Derbyshire in accordance with the Environment Act 2021, for the 
coordinated benefit of Derbyshire's natural environment (requires Review)  

 

Issue: The Council is the 'Responsible Authority' for the production of Derbyshire's Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) 
and has been awarded a grant of circa £400k from the the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. The timescale 
for delivery is tight as the deadline is March 2025 and ongoing budgetary pressures could have implications for delivery. 
Response: Progress will be kept under review. View details. 

Submit the planning application and continue to progress proposals for the Chesterfield to Staveley Regeneration 
Route, which will create new homes and jobs for the area (requires Action)  

 

Issue: The Council is awaiting a decision from Government about the Outline Business Case. It was reconsidered in August, 
however no decision has been communicated to date. Action: Officers, members, local MPs and partners have all contacted 
the Government to stress the importance of the project, and the need for certainty over its funding. View details. 

Deliver the Derbyshire Cultural Framework to support the creative and cultural sectors to become more resilient, grow 
and capitalise on new opportunities (requires Review)  

 

Issue: There is currently £1m in the cultural recovery framework reserve to support delivery of the cultural framework. This 
funding has been identified as potential to be used to support the Council's current budget situation. Response: This activity is 
obviously important to the council but it is not a statutory service. View details. 

P
age 46



Appendix 3  

 

Work with partners towards the production of a Development Framework that provides a positive unified vision for the 
Derwent Valley Mills World Heritage Site (DVMWHS), that highlights development possibilities, and identifies the 
infrastructure that is needed to release the site’s potential (requires Review)  

 

Issue: There is a high level of support for the production of a Development Framework, especially with the advent of the 
Levelling-up Bill, which specifically mentions WHSs, and the formation of the East Midlands Combined Authority. Unfortunately 
the Council's financial position is likely to impact on the Development Framework's production. Response: Progress will be 
kept under review. View details. 

Residents' survey measures (requires Action)  
 

Issue: The results from the Pulse Survey of residents carried out in June 2023 remain similar to those from the main survey 
carried out in Autumn 2022 and are below target. Action: In order to address some of the findings from the surveys a high-
level action plan is being implemented. The action plan sets out activity to increase the proportion of residents that positively 
view the Council and its services and widening and enabling participation across demographic groups. View details. 

Average days between a job vacancy shortlisting and contract offer (Council, not including schools) (requires Action)  
 

Issue: The year to date average Time to Hire figure of 64.1 days is above the target for the year end of 50 days.This measure 
reflects days between a vacancy being shortlisted and the contract being prepared. Action: It is anticipated that changes to the 
related onboarding processes and an anticipated reduction in Disclosure and Barring Service check delays should see the 
average time to hire figure reduce during Quarters 3 and 4. Towards the end of Quarter 2 a temporary recruitment freeze on all 
but essential posts was introduced and it is expected that this will also have a positive impact on time to hire figures during the 
remaining quarters of the year. View details. 

Projected achievement of in-year budget savings (requires Action)  
 

Issue: The combined departmental budget savings target for 2023-24 is £16.190m with a further £12.038m of unachieved 
savings brought forward from previous years. Of the in-year savings target, £3.929m is forecast to be achieved. The forecast at 
Quarter 1 was reported as £10.317m, however this has been revised at Quarter 2. This is mainly due to the lack of availability 
of short term home care for older people which has meant there has been no expenditure reductions in long term home care 
packages and in residential care home placements. Departmental reserves and other one-off compensatory efficiencies have 
been employed to mitigate the in-year impacts. Action: The Council continues to review planned savings initiatives and 
explore, and implement, opportunities for further or alternative in-year efficiency measures to offset the ongoing budgetary 
pressures. View details. 

 

P
age 47



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measures Updated for Quarter 2 2023-24  
The following measures have been updated during Quarter 2: 

Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Number of people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic 
with an outcome focused support plan 

Sep-2023 762 550  Strong 

Number of people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic 
supported to move from 24-hour residential care to more 
independent supported living setting 

Sep-2023 28 27  Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Total number of participants in weight management programmes Sep-2023 1,506 850  Strong 
Total number of participants in physical activity Sep-2023 1,176 650  Strong 
Health and Wellbeing MOT Sep-2023 5,413 3,750  Strong 
Employee sickness absence (Council, not including schools) Sep-2023 4.7% 5.1%  Strong 
Average days between a job vacancy shortlisting and contract 
offer (Council, not including schools) 

Sep-2023 64.1 50.0  Action 

Proportion of practice areas with reflective case reviews judged to 
be good or better 

Sep-2023 76.1% 70.0%  Strong 

Early help assessments completed within 45 days Aug-2023 93.8% 90.0%  Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Social work assessments completed within 45 days Aug-2023 88.4% 85.0%  Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Initial child protection conferences within 15 days Aug-2023 86.6% 83.0%  Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Percentage of Council run children’s homes rated as ‘Good’ or 
‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted 

Sep-2023 91.0% 91.0%  Good 

Number of services accessed via e-forms on the Council websites Sep-2023 153 153  Good 
Amount of money raised from the disposal of land and buildings Sep-2023 £2,921,500 £2,450,000  Strong 
Rate of improvement in the proportion of pupils in ‘Good’ or better 
primary schools 

Aug-2023 0.6 1.0  Review 

Rate of improvement in the proportion of pupils in ‘Good’ or better 
secondary schools 

Aug-2023 2.4 0.0  Good 

Number of older people and disabled people able to access short 
term assistance to regain or increase independence 

Sep-2023 1,588 1,794  Action 

Number of permanent admissions to residential and nursing 
homes 

Sep-2023 566 466  Action 

P
age 48



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Number of people with social care needs referred for Assistive 
Technology 

Sep-2023 543 300  Strong 

Total amount of expenditure on the delivery of the Local Transport 
Programme 

Sep-2023 £16.420m £22.000m  Action 
(Good in Q1) 

Percentage of defects completed within target timescales Sep-2023 54.4% 90.0%  Action 
Percentage of pupils achieving the expected level in Phonics Aug-2023 

(Annual Measure) 
79.0% 79.0%  Good 

Percentage point gap between disadvantaged pupils in Derbyshire 
and non-disadvantaged pupils achieving the expected standard in 
Phonics 

Aug-2023 
(Annual Measure) 

16.7 18.7  Strong 

Percentage of 16 to 17 year olds in education, employment or 
training (3 month avg) 

Aug-2023 95.0% 94.4%  Good 

Percentage of premises across the county that have access to 
Superfast broadband (>30Mbps) 

Sep-2023 97.5% Not set  No Target 

Amount of Apprenticeship Levy transferred to businesses Sep-2023 £172,117 Not set  No Target 
Projected achievement of in-year budget savings Sep-2023 £3.929m  £16.190m   Action 

 
 

Key Measures with new data for Quarter 1  
The following measures have been updated during Quarter 2: 

Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Number of participants in Council delivered stop smoking 
programmes who stop smoking 

Jun-2023 447 300  Strong 

Percentage of residents who are satisfied with Derbyshire County 
Council 

Jun-2023 43.2% 58.0%  Action 

Percentage of residents agreeing that they feel informed about 
Council decisions 

Jun-2023 37.2% 52.0%  Action 

Percentage of residents agreeing that the Council provides value 
for money 

Jun-2023 30.2% 43.0%  Action 
 

P
age 49



Appendix 3  

 

 

Key Measures with new data for Earlier Quarters  
The following measure has been updated during Quarter 2: 

Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Percentage reduction in CO2e from 2009-10 baseline Mar-2023 

(Annual Measure) 
71.3% 68.5% No data for 

2023-24 
 
 

Key Measures with no new data  
The following measures have not been updated during Quarter 2: 

Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Percentage of Principal roads where maintenance should be 
considered 

 Data due in Q3 13.0% No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of Non-principal classified roads where maintenance 
should be considered 

 Data due in Q3 23.0% No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of Unclassified road network where maintenance 
should be considered 

 Data due in Q3 31.0% No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of residents satisfied overall with Highways and 
Transportation services 

 Data due in Q3 60.0% No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of pupils achieving a standard pass or higher (grades 
4-9) in English and Maths at GCSE 

 Data due in Q3 Not set No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage point gap between disadvantaged pupils in Derbyshire 
and non-disadvantaged pupils achieving a standard pass or higher 
(grades 4 to 9) in English and Maths at GCSE 

 Data due in Q3 Not set No data for 
2023-24 

 
 

P
age 50



Appendix 3  

 

 

Progress on Council Plan priorities  
 

P
age 51



Appendix 3  

 

Resilient, healthy and safe communities  
Overview 
This priority shows overall “Good” progress for Council Plan deliverables, with 1 deliverable rated as “Strong”, 7 
deliverables rated as “Good” and 3 deliverables rated as “Requiring Review”. These are shown graphically in the left-
hand wheel below. Overall, the measures for this priority are rated as “Strong” based on 6 rated measures. These are 
shown graphically in the right hand wheel below and listed in the following table. 
 

Deliverable Progress Key Measures

P
age 52



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measure Summary 
Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Number of people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic 
with an outcome focused support plan 

Sep-2023 762 550   Strong 

Number of people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic 
supported to move from 24-hour residential care to more 
independent supported living setting 

Sep-2023 28 27   Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Number of participants in Council delivered stop smoking 
programmes who stop smoking 

Jun-2023 447 300   Strong 

Total number of participants in weight management programmes Sep-2023 1,506 850   Strong 
Total number of participants in physical activity Sep-2023 1,176 650   Strong 
Health and Wellbeing MOT Sep-2023 5,413 3,750   Strong 

 

Progress on our deliverables and key measures 
Implement key actions to reduce discrimination and tackle inequalities as set out in the Council’s Equality,Diversity 
and Inclusion Strategy 2022-25  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) Strategy refresh has commenced: 

• a workshop with the EDI board took place on 20th September 2023 to feedback workstream progress and to gain an understand of the board's 
vision for EDI; 

• the end of year report and strategy refresh proposal was presented at Improvement and Scrutiny committee on 28th September 2023. 

As a result of the motion to become a Diverse Council a cross party working group will be created and a plan to launch and support the working group 
has been developed. 

The following EDI events took place during Quarter 2: 

• Derbyshire Pride Events; 
• Antisemitism Webinar; 
• Men's Mental Health Webinar; 
• South Asian Heritage Webinar; 
• Unlocking New Possibilities Recruitment Event. 

P
age 53



Appendix 3  

 

Refresh and implement our Library Strategy to ensure a modern, efficient and improved service  
 

Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2026 
This action has been rated as review as no further interest in Community Managed Libraries (CML) has been received to date and in response to this a 
new approach is being developed moving forwards as part of the refresh of the Library Strategy. 

Work on implementing the refreshed Library Strategy is progressing well - particularly in relation to opportunities for co-location and relocation which will 
help ensure the library estate remains fit for purpose. 

The library continues to work with Tideswell community group to secure a Library transfer; this would make two CMLs in total (alongside Woodville). 
Further to the relaunch of the original Library Strategy in 2021, and the subsequent limited response from community groups, it's likely no further 
transfers will occur in the near future. Therefore, the implementation focus of the Library Strategy is shifting from CML (although proposals will still 
continue to be considered as and when they come forward) to sustaining the service through co-location/ relocation (via programmes such as town 
deals), digitisation/ self service, and a root and branch review of the mobile and home library service. A discussion with Cabinet members on progress to 
date is planned for Quarter 3 2023. Discussions will include proposals on optimum approach for addressing issues for the mobile library service. Return 
to summary. 

Review how the Council delivers home to school transport for children with special educational needs ensuring the 
most effective use of resources  

 
Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
Following the identification of a number of issues within the home to school transport process for children with special educational needs (SEND), a 12-
month improvement plan was developed. Work is now embedded to start to implement and deliver this plan. An independent lead for the implementation 
of the plan is in place and we have linked this improvement plan to both the SEND Executive Board and the Education Partnership. 

Activity carried out this quarter includes the establishment and embedding of a new decision-making transport team within SEND and Childrens 
Services. This team will have a focus on children with EHCP's (SEND Education Health and Care Plans), and children receiving alternative provision 
and/or who have been permanently excluded from school. An on-line transport form has been developed and is in the process of going live. Decision 
making via general school admissions and social care will be reviewed from December to February 2024. A review of commissioning and brokerage will 
also commence in January 2024. A number of risks remain in this area of work. These relate to the tracking and capture of finance data, finalisation and 
agreement of workflows for all teams and clarity on budget and savings proposal which is not likely until June 2024. Return to summary. 

P
age 54



Appendix 3  

 

Work alongside people with a learning disability, those recovering from mental ill health and/ or who are autistic to 
develop Council services to ensure they are tailored to meet individuals needs and help people achieve their personal 
goals  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
We have continued to work alongside people with a learning disability and/or who 
are autistic. The implementation of our redesigned day opportunities offer is 
underway and on track. Progress has continued to be made to support people with a 
learning disability and/or who are autistic in 2023-24. In Quarter 2 outcome focused 
support plans were put in place for 53 people against a quarterly target of 30. In total 
762 people have been provided with an outcome focused support plan since April 
2021 against the overall target of 550. During Quarter 2 we have successfully 
supported an additional 17 people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic to 
find suitable accommodation against a target of 18. This year we have supported a 
total of 28 people with a learning disability and/or who are autistic to find suitable 
accommodation. Return to summary.  

 

Ensure the Council’s strategic approach to community safety responds effectively to existing and emerging 
challenges such as Serious Violence and Violence Against Women and Girls  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Council has worked with partners to ensure there is a comprehensive approach in place to respond to the existing and emerging challenges. 
Governance is in place through the Derbyshire Safer Communities Board, and senior officers from across the partnership are chairing Thematic Boards 
to drive this work forward; three of these are chaired by the Council. Examples of activity over the last quarter include the agreement of a Neighbourhood 
Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy, a co-ordinated approach to anti-social behaviour awareness week, national recognition for the Councils work 
on on-line harm and support for the Derbyshire Violence Against Women and Girls Conference. 

Work with partners to welcome refugee families into Derbyshire and developed a countywide response to the 
implementation of asylum dispersal  

 
Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
There has been a continuation of resettlement support under a number of schemes, including the UK Resettlement, Afghan Resettlement and the 
Homes for Ukraine. Through these schemes we have welcomed over 1,500 refugees to Derbyshire. Whilst these each have different delivery models, a 
range of support is being provided to enable people to make Derbyshire their home. This includes support in relation to English language, employment, 
education and housing. 

People with a learning disability with a support plan

2021-2022 373
2022-2023 611
2023-2024 762
Target 550
Performance  Strong

People with a learning disability moving from 24-hour care

2021-2022 33
2022-2023 28
2023-2024 28
Target 27
Performance  Good

(Strong in Q1)
2023-24 data and targets are for the year to Sep-2023 P

age 55



Appendix 3  

 

The provision of accommodation and support for those seeking asylum is becoming a significant issue. There is a small amount of national funding 
being made available to Local Authorities for asylum dispersal, but this is not ringfenced and is going directly to District and Borough Councils. A new 
burdens assessment was expected to be completed by early 2023-24, but this has been delayed. Whilst there is no funding available to upper tier 
authorities, the Council is providing support to partners and engaging in multi-agency meetings. Moving forward consideration needs to be given to the 
role the Council can play in relation to the co-ordination of a countywide response to the roll out of asylum dispersal. Return to summary. 

Develop the Council’s Thriving Communities Strategy to support the embedding of the refreshed approach across the 
Council  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Work has continued during this period to draft a new Thriving Communities Strategy and refreshed approach, with a focus on the effective delivery of 
draft shared strategic objectives. Development work has taken place to align activity with other strategic programmes, ensuring the new strategy reflects 
both what the Council already does to support people, families and communities as well as its ambitions for greater collaboration and improvement. 

During this period, activity in local communities has continued to flourish, with action-learning from local areas informing the content of the emerging 
strategy and approach. Work has begun to develop a series of actions to deliver the proposed strategic objectives below. These will help the Council to: 

• better understand our diverse communities to shape long-term planning and ensure we respond to the changing needs of our people and places; 
• develop the Council's approach to place-based working, including our role in supporting volunteering and community-led activity; 
• strengthen the Council's strategic relationship with the voluntary and community sector; 
• work alongside people and communities to embed consistent co-design and co-production across the Council; 
• develop a Council-wide approach to early intervention and prevention; 
• continue to work innovatively within our communities to address specific complex challenges. 

Provide support to people and communities in need, including financial help from our Discretionary Fund and other 
activities that promote financial inclusion and tackle cost of living pressures  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Throughout Quarter 2 the Council has continued to provide support to people and communities in need, including financial wellbeing via the Derbyshire 
Discretionary Fund. Demand for these services continues to be high due to the rise in the cost of living. Demand for Emergency Cash Payments 
continues to be very high with 6,403 Emergency Cash Payment awards in Quarter 2 totalling £545,860. Processing times for Exceptional Pressure Grant 
applications are back within target times with a total of £165,705 being awarded. 18 awards were made for flooding hardship in Quarter 2. 

The Welfare Rights Service has seen a drop in the number of people supported to maximise benefit income from the previous quarter's extremes. 
During Quarter 2 the Welfare Rights Service has supported 6,288 people regarding benefit maximisation and supported 2,734 benefit claims and 
appeals. Quarter 2 is reflective of capacity trying to meet the demand, and while that number has decreased, this is still a high volume for the Service's 
capacity. The number of claims made is only slightly lower, although not in correlation with the drop in people supported. The number of appeals made 
has increased, whereas the number of appeals represented has decreased. This is reflected in HM Courts & Tribunals Service national data, which 

P
age 56



Appendix 3  

 

shows that backlogs have increased due to an increase in appeals made and limited listings over the period. There have been 4 Upper Tribunal appeals 
registered in this quarter, which is particularly high. 

Demand for the Public Health Advisory Service continues to be high in both GP surgeries and community settings. High number of clients are in 
negative budget each month and are unable to meet the basic costs of living (fuel, council tax and rent). It is proving challenging for staff to find solutions 
or options to the complex multilayer problems that individuals are presenting with. High numbers of clients are seeking foodbank, fuel and data 
vouchers. Return to summary. 

Deliver £1.5 million of grant awards to promote positive behaviours for young people and residents, improve local 
networks, help people to feel safer, and encourage sustainable and green activity  

 
Rating: Strong  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Application packs have continued to be sent to groups on a regular basis and as at 29 September 2023, 620 applications had been received across all 
of the priority funding areas. 

Assessments and determinations for the July 2023 application round have been made and 10 projects have been awarded funding totalling £117,919. 

Since the implementation of the programme in February 2022, 250 grants to the value of £1,391,305 have been approved. Of these: 

• 85 grants met criteria relating to feeling safe and included in their local community, to the value of £748,804; 
• 65 grants met criteria relating to promoting positive behaviours amongst young people, to the value of £511,381; 
• 26 grants met criteria relating to being green and sustainable, to the value of £361,779; 
• 70 grants met criteria relating to increasing civic participation and delivering community identified priorities, to the value of £442,106; 
• 81 grants met the criteria relating to being physically active and making positive lifestyle choices, to the value of £540,445; 
• 76 grants met criteria relating to more than one outcome and are included twice in the above numbers. 

The total benefit of grants made across all outcomes was £2,604,515 clearly demonstrating the added value of a outcomes based, corporate approach 
Return to summary. 

Further develop the Council’s approach to supporting the voluntary and community sector to ensure it can grow and 
thrive  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Work will take place in the coming months to explore how the Council can further develop its approach to the support of the voluntary and community 
sector (VCS) and how this priority will be taken forward. Many areas of the Council are working with, and through, the VCS and consideration is needed 
on the scope of this Council objective in the context of the wider strategic VCS agenda, alongside the development of a business strategy for Thriving 
Communities in which the VCS is a key stakeholder. 

Through the Council's new funding framework, the Council has approved 250 grants totalling over £1.3m to the sector since January 2022. Annual 
payments to VCS organisations have also been agreed over the 2023-24 period totalling over £480,000. 

P
age 57



Appendix 3  

 

The Council has continued to work closely with the VCS infrastructure support organisations and the Integrated Care Board (ICB) and has maintained its 
grant funding commitment to all providers until March 2024. The current combined investment between the Council and ICB is significant and currently 
totals just over £1m across 14 organisations. The Council alongside the ICB has drafted a series of options to support the future allocation of 
infrastructure provision towards previously agreed objectives. This can inform how the Council and partners should work with providers moving forward 
and support the continuous development of the allocation model. The Council and ICB have also worked together to produce a combined infrastructure 
monitoring form to be implemented from April 2023. 

P
age 58



Appendix 3  

 

Work with partners to enable people to lead healthier lives by supporting people to take part in physical activity, to 
stop smoking and manage their weight  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
In Quarter 2, demand for Live Life Better Derbyshire (LLBD) services to stop 
smoking, achieve a healthy weight and become more physically active remains 
strong and on track to achieve its annual targets. Over 2,700 people completed a 
Health and Wellbeing MOT to identify how they can improve their health. During 
Quarter 2, the Stop Smoking programme had 949 participants, which is above 
target. Because the service provides a 12-week programme, the number of people 
achieving a 4 week quit is reported a quarter behind, with 447 people achieving a 4 
week quit in Quarter 1. The programme is doing well and is on course to meet its 
annual target of 1,200 quits. The physical activity sessions had 519 participants in 
Quarter 2 against a target of 325. The weight management programme had 638 
participants in Quarter 2 against a target of 425. 

The physical activity partnership approach has progressed with Active Derbyshire 
and wider partners. A partnership agreement and specification between the Council 
and Active Derbyshire has been written and is with the Council's legal department 
for review. Regular meetings have taken place with all partners to develop the wider 
approach. A new funding formula has been developed and agreed. Partners have 
been informed of the new proposed allocations which will commence on 1 April 
2024. All relevant monitoring and evaluation frameworks are being developed and 
finalised to be in place by the start of the partnership. To facilitate this 
transformational approach, Active Derbyshire are providing current providers the 
opportunity to participate on the Transformational Leadership Programme aimed at 
upskilling staff to lead on change across organisational and sector boundaries. 

Walk Derbyshire work is progressing well and the four neighbourhood pilots have 
been agreed and work has started to implement them. There are also Walk 
Derbyshire consortiums in the other four districts and these are working to support 
and develop the promotion of everyday walking in those localities. There continues 
to be walk leader training courses being delivered and there has been joint working 
with Jog Derbyshire to train jog leaders in the county in walk leader skills. The Walk 
Derbyshire website continues to promote everyday walking across the county 
including a range of walking festivals and led groups. The county wide Walk 
Derbyshire coordinators group is continued to be supported through this work. 
Return to summary. 

Number participants who stop smoking for 4 weeks

2020-2021 1,554
2021-2022 1,757
2022-2023 1,483
2023-2024 447
Target 300
Performance  Strong
Number of 
Participants

1,874

2023-24 data and target are for the year to Jun-2023 
Total number of participants in weight management programmes

2020-2021 577
2021-2022 1,089
2022-2023 2,144
2023-2024 1,506
Target 850
Performance  Strong

Total number of participants in physical activity

2022-2023 2,081
2023-2024 1,176
Target 650
Performance  Strong

Health and Wellbeing MOT

2023-2024 5,413
Target 3,750
Performance  Strong

2023-24 data and targets are for the year to Sep-2023 

P
age 59



Appendix 3  

 

 

 

 

Number of participants who stop smoking

P
age 60



Appendix 3  

 

High performing, value for money and resident focused services  
Overview 
This priority shows overall “Good” progress for Council Plan deliverables, with 1 deliverable rated as “Strong”, 11 
deliverables rated as “Good” and 1 deliverable rated as “Requiring Review”. These are shown graphically in the left-hand 
wheel below. Overall, the measures for this priority are rated as “Good” based on 11 rated measures. These are shown 
graphically in the right hand wheel below and listed in the following table. 
 

Deliverable Progress Key Measures

P
age 61



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measure Summary  
Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Employee sickness absence (Council, not including schools) Sep-2023 4.7% 5.1%   Strong 
Average days between a job vacancy shortlisting and contract 
offer (Council, not including schools) 

Sep-2023 64.1 50.0   Action 

Proportion of practice areas with reflective case reviews judged to 
be good or better 

Sep-2023 76.1% 70.0%   Strong 

Early help assessments completed within 45 days Aug-2023 93.8% 90.0%   Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Social work assessments completed within 45 days Aug-2023 88.4% 85.0%   Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Initial child protection conferences within 15 days Aug-2023 86.6% 83.0%   Good 
(Strong in Q1) 

Percentage of Council run children’s homes rated as ‘Good’ or 
‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted 

Sep-2023 91.0% 91.0%   Good 

Number of services accessed via e-forms on the Council websites Sep-2023 153 153   Good 
Amount of money raised from the disposal of land and buildings Sep-2023 £2,921,500 £2,450,000   Strong 
Rate of improvement in the proportion of pupils in ‘Good’ or better 
primary schools 

Aug-2023 0.6 1.0   Review 

Rate of improvement in the proportion of pupils in ‘Good’ or better 
secondary schools 

Aug-2023 2.4 0.0   Good 

 

P
age 62



Appendix 3  

 

Progress on our deliverables and key measures 
Embed the Council’s approved People Strategy to deliver the Council’s people ambition and the people priorities  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Policy development has now concluded with a review of the Induction, Holiday Pay 
Framework / payment days for 38 week workers and Pay Principles Framework for 
non-Single Status roles progressing to the Council's Appointments and Conditions of 
Service Committee in October. A forward look for policy development is in place for 
the next 3 to 6 months (Quarter 3 and Quarter 4) with a focus on Performance 
Capability and Bullying and Harassment policies. 

The Menopause Policy was agreed at Cabinet on 27 July 2023 and work will 
commence in Quarter 3 on obtaining Menopause Friendly Employer Accreditation. 

There have been 2,252 separate bookings from employees on the Wellbeing 
Activities programme to date and an additional 424 employees have attended 27 
specific bespoke team or network wellbeing sessions in the year to date. 

All departmental people plans have been reviewed aligned to service planning for 
2023-24 and the HR deliverable plan for 2023-24 is progressing around 7 core 
priorities. 

Focus continues on the core workforce metrics of reducing time to hire, agency 
spend, employee engagement, sickness absence and incident and accident rates. 

The sickness absence measure shows total sickness hours as a percentage ot total 
working hours available.The figure of 4.7% for total working hours available lost to 
sickness for the year up to the end of September is below the 2023-24 target of 
5.1% and for comparison the 2022-23 Quarter 2 year to date figure was 5.4%.  

The Time to Hire measure reflects days between a vacancy being shortlisted and 
the contract being prepared. Quarter 2 has seen a slight increase in the year to date 
figure to 64.1 from the Quarter 1 figure of 62.5 days. The target is 50 days. However 
during September there has been a reduction from previous months as a result of 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check delays easing. Changes to onboarding 
processes and an anticipated reduction in DBS check delays should see an 
improvement during Quarters 3 and 4. Towards the end of Quarter 2 a temporary 
recruitment freeze on all but essential posts was introduced and it is expected that 
this will also have a positive impact on time to hire figures during the remaining 
quarters of the year. Return to summary.  
 

 

Employee sickness absence (Council, not including schools)

2021-2022 5.1%
2022-2023 5.5%
2023-2024 4.7%
Target 5.1%
Performance  Strong

Average time to hire - days (Council, not including schools)

2022-2023 58.9
2023-2024 64.1
Target 50.0
Performance  Action

2023-24 data and targets are for the year to Sep-2023 

Employee sickness absence by month

P
age 63



Appendix 3  

 

Provide consistent, high quality early help and safeguarding services for children and families across Derbyshire  
  

Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
A stable, motivated and high performing workforce is essential to providing 
consistently good services for our children and young people. As highlighted by the 
Government's Independent Review of Children's Social Care, the recruitment of 
experienced qualified social workers is a national challenge. In this context we have 
continued to strengthen our recruitment and retention activity, including increased 
engagement with the social work training programme Frontline, Apprentice Social 
Work training and providing student social work placements. We also extended the 
Market Supplement payment for frontline social workers for a further 2 year period 
as well as introducing a Welcome Payment which is paid to new recruits to our 
children's social work teams for a 6 month trial period from June 2023. During 
Quarter 2, we have seen an improvement in our social worker vacancy rate and an 
increasing number of social workers which has had a positive impact on reducing 
high worker caseloads. We continue to progress work to consider how alternatively 
qualified workers can support frontline social work teams which could also further 
support a reduction in overall caseloads. 

The Ofsted focused visit in late 2022 stated: 'Children in need or subject to a 
protection plan in Derbyshire now benefit from a stronger and more consistent 
service response. Children and their families are well supported by committed social 
workers and managers who know them well, have a sound understanding of their 
needs and what should happen to improve their lives. They work tirelessly with 
families alongside partner agencies to ensure that the right support and services are 
made available for children in their families and network. As a result, many families 
have been empowered to make positive changes and adjustments, enabling their 
children to make good progress'. 

Since the focused visit our quality assurance framework continues to provide a 
robust understanding about the strength of practice. We are consistently seeing 
practice outcomes across a range of areas reviewed with grading judged as good or 
better (76.1% for the rolling 6 months to the end of September 2023). This 
evidences consistency of approach and practice standards across the social care 
and early help workforce. Similarly Practice Learning Days undertaken during this 
quarter have provided evidence of good practice. All but one of Derbyshire's 11 
currently registered children's homes are judged good or better at the end of 
September 2023. One of our homes is currently unregistered for renovation. 
Performance focused on the timeliness of key processes that keep children safe 
continues to be solid with 88.4% of social work assessments completed in timescale 
(August 2023), 93.8% of early help assessments completed within timescale 
(August 2023) and 86.6% of initial child protection conferences held within timescale 

Children’s care reflective case reviews good or better

2021-2022 77.4%
2022-2023 79.7%
2023-2024 76.1%
Target 70.0%
Performance  Strong

2023-24 data and target are a six month average to Sep-2023
Early help assessments completed within 45 days

2021-2022 97.0%
2022-2023 95.1%
2023-2024 93.8%
Target 90.0%
Performance  Good

(Strong in Q1)
Social work assessments completed within 45 days

2021-2022 90.5%
2022-2023 90.0%
2023-2024 88.4%
Target 85.0%
Performance  Good

(Strong in Q1)
National 
Benchmark

84.5%

Initial child protection conferences within 15 days

2021-2022 88.5%
2022-2023 86.0%
2023-2024 86.6%
Target 83.0%
Performance  Good

(Strong in Q1)
National 
Benchmark

79.2%

2023-24 data and targets are for Aug-2023 

P
age 64



Appendix 3  

 

(August 2023). This strong performance is in the context of increasing demand and 
activity throughout the social care system. Return to summary.  

 

  

Support a resident-focused approach through a range of mechanisms to improve access to online services and 
customer service performance including implementing a complaints and feedback system  

 
Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
We continue to review the overall timescales. In order to move forward we require 
support from ICT for a key piece of work within the Council's customer service 
portal. This is subject to the ongoing ICT prioritisation work. This will enable the 
reporting functions to be engaged and allow us to move forward with data capture 
and analysis. The team are also reviewing priorities with each service area in terms 
of resource available to continue with the agreed roadmaps. 

The number of services available on line remains at 153 with timescales being 
considered to meet the year end target of 160 planned for later in the year. Resident accounts opened have further increased during Quarter 2 with a 
total of 10,034 now active and in use. Return to summary.  
 

Implement the Asset Management Strategy and Property 2025 programme, reviewing and rationalising our land and 
building assets and ensuring an effective plan is in place for the management of those we retain  

 
Rating: Strong (Good in Q1)  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
Progress is strong with the supporting strategies required for implementation now 
completed and approved by Cabinet. 

A review of County Hall is underway and the Facilities Management team are 
looking at the interim vision for the building. A draft business case will be presented 
to Cabinet in December. 

A total of £2.921m has been raised up to the end of September from the sale of 17 
property assets above the Quarter 2 target of £2.450m, this is strong progress towards the end of the year target of £4m. The implementation of the 
Asset Management strategy and the ongoing disposal programme support the achievement of the Council’s finance savings with reduced maintenance, 
insurance and energy costs. The provisional figures for 2022-23 show a 13.7% reduction in energy usage at the Council’s property assets from the 

Services available through the Councils Websites

2021-2022 140
2022-2023 153
2023-2024 153
Target 153
Performance  Good

2023-24 data and target are for Sep-2023 

Money raised from the disposal of land and buildings

2021-2022 £2,783,000
2022-2023 £3,936,262
2023-2024 £2,921,500
Target £2,450,000
Performance  Strong

2023-24 data and target are for the year to Sep-2023 

Children’s homes rated as ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’

2021-2022 100.0%
2022-2023 90.9%
2023-2024 91.0%
Target 91.0%
Performance  Good

2023-24 data and target are for Sep-2023 

P
age 65



Appendix 3  

 

previous year which reduces the impact of rising energy costs. Return to summary.  
 

Centralise all land and property assets, to ensure a consistent strategic approach to property decisions and building 
management and a single point of accountability for budgets and costs  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
The centralisation of assets within Property Services is progressing with the annual budgets for the current year due to be transferred for individual 
buildings during October. Arrangements for the transfer have been communicated to relevant Directors. 

The benefits of the centralisation will start to be realised imminently following an interim phase where an understanding of the Service Level Agreements 
for each building is developed. 

Work in partnership with the NHS to implement the Integrated Care Strategy to benefit the health and wellbeing of the 
people of Derbyshire, tackle health inequalities and demonstrate a move towards more preventative interventions and 
investment  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
In Quarter 2, the interim Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) has been published and is supporting various system strategies. The transformation 
of our JSNA approach is underway with a second round of testing and delivery of a new web based tool. Phase 2 for 2023-24 of the JSNA 
transformation is on track for delivery. The Integrated Care Strategy work is completed and public health are supporting each Key Area of Focus. Public 
health will support 'sprints' with the Stay Well group and will start with tobacco and smoking in Quarter 3. 

The Council is continuing to work alongside partners to develop the County Place Partnership Board which is a key element of the place based 
approach to integrated care and support. A further development workshop is planned for early October to further clarify the purpose of the Board and 
identify key priorities for this group to drive forward. In addition, work to develop a new joint local health and wellbeing strategy for Derbyshire is ongoing. 
This strategy will reflect the Integrated Care Strategy which sits at a system level for Derby and Derbyshire and reflect locally how partners can support 
local delivery and wider health and wellbeing challenges. A number of workshops and one to one meetings have taken place with elected members and 
Health and Wellbeing Board members to consider the priorities which were presented at the October Health and Wellbeing Board. 

P
age 66



Appendix 3  

 

Work with schools so that the percentage of children and young people attending good or better schools improves at 
a faster rate than nationally  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
The target set for this deliverable is for Derbyshire to improve the proportion of 
pupils attending good or better schools at a faster rate than that seen nationally. 
This target has been achieved for secondary pupils. The improvement for primary 
pupils in Derbyshire has fallen just short of the national increase over the same 
period. 

The proportion of Derbyshire pupils attending good or better primary schools 
increased by 0.6 percentage points from 84.7% at the end of March 2023 to 85.3% 
at the end of August 2023. Nationally there was a 1.0 percentage point increase 
from 90.1% in March 2023 to 91.1at the end of August 2023. The percentage of 
Derbyshire pupils in good or better primary schools was 5.8 percentage points below 
the national average and 5.6 percentage points below the average of our statistical 
neighbour benchmarking group (90.9%). 

The proportion of Derbyshire pupils attending good or better secondary schools 
was 65.4% at the end of August 2023, an increase of 2.4 percentage points from 
63.0% at the end of March 2023. Nationally, the national average remained at 
83.1% over the same period. At the end of August 2023, the overall percentage of 
Derbyshire pupils in good or better secondary schools was 17.7 percentage 
points below the national average and 17.3 percentage points below the average 
of our statistical neighbour benchmarking group. The gaps have narrowed 
however, from a high in December 2022 when the gap to national was 26 
percentage points and the gap to the average of our statistical neighbour 
benchmarking group was 25.8 percentage points. 

Although the rate of improvement was higher than that seen nationally with the 
gap narrowing for secondary pupils, the overall percentage of pupils attending 
good or better schools is still too low in both phases and the deliverable remains a 
priority for 2023-24. 

Findings and learning from recent Ofsted inspections continue to be routinely 
disseminated at briefings with headteachers and governors. All maintained 
schools have been sent a pre-populated School Improvement Priorities 
Document. This has pupil performance data from the end of Key Stage 
assessments and flow-charts which support the leadership team to identify its 
priorities for improvement. These will be triangulated against all the data by the link advisers and senior advisers for each school to ensure that the 
correct support can be provided in advance of an Ofsted inspection. Return to summary.  
 

% point change in pupils in ‘Good’ or better primary schools

2021-2022 2.4
2022-2023 1.1
2023-2024 0.6
Performance  Review
National 
Benchmark

1.0

% point change in pupils in ‘Good’ or better secondary schools

2021-2022 1.9
2022-2023 6.1
2023-2024 2.4
Performance  Good
National 
Benchmark

0.0

2023-24 data and target are for the year to Aug-2023 

Additional Data as at August 2023
Number of schools Percentage of pupils

Primary Secondary Primary Secondary
Outstanding 25 3 6.4% 9.9%
Good 271 25 79.4% 55.4%
Requires 
Improvement

46 12 12.2% 22.8%

Inadequate 8 5 2.0% 11.9%

Good or 
better - 
Derbyshire

84.6% 62.2% 85.3% 65.4%

Good or 
better - 
National

90.0% 81.4% 91.8% 83.1%

P
age 67



Appendix 3  

 

Work with partners and central government to deliver an East Midlands Combined County Authority (EMCCA) and 
devolution deal to create jobs opportunities for training, improve the local economy, transport, and housing, and 
accelerate our route to reduce emissions to net zero  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 30 Jun 2024 
Work continues on the new combined county authority's operating model, transition planning and future East Midlands County Combined Authority 
(EMCCA) investment priorities in anticipation of the Bill receiving Royal Assent. Work to support the development of the EMCCA Assurance Framework 
is underway, led by the Governance Group and recruitment into key regional roles has been completed with much needed additional capacity in place. 
Funding secured during negotiations has now been drawn down for identified projects, many of which provide benefits to Derbyshire communities. 
Engagement with key partners and staff involved in the development of proposals to date has taken place through Senior Stakeholder and staff events. 

Further develop the Vision Derbyshire governance arrangements and align the programme to the emerging East 
Midlands Combined County Authority to deliver agreed priorities and take forward opportunities for broader public 
sector reform  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Vision Derbyshire has continued to drive the Council's approach to working in collaboration with partners. Following the light touch review of the Vision 
Derbyshire approach completed by East Midlands Councils in 2023, work has taken place to develop a series of both governance and resourcing 
options which were discussed and subsequently agreed by the Vision Derbyshire Joint Committees in July and October 2023. Work is now underway on 
the alignment of the Vision Derbyshire Joint Committee, the Derby and Derbyshire Joint Economic Prosperity Committee and Derbyshire Economic 
Partnership with work taking place to develop revised governance arrangements for the creation of a new Derby and Derbyshire Strategic Leadership 
Board with new arrangements likely to be in place by January 2024. 

Establish and implement a new programme to deliver the updated Enterprising Council Business Strategy, continuing 
our focus on transforming and modernising the Council  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Dec 2023 
The review of the Enterprising Council has commenced as part of a wider initial review of the Council's three pillar strategic approach (Enterprising 
Council, Vision Derbyshire & Thriving Communities), primarily to ensure that the approach continues to be fit for purpose in the changing environment. 
The review will result in the development of new business strategies for the three pillars which will need to align with work on the development of the 
Council's new strategic planning framework which will also take place during the 2023-24 financial year. 

P
age 68



Appendix 3  

 

Implement actions from the review of Modern Ways of Working with a focus on the workstream exploring the future 
development of County Hall  

 
Rating: Good  Completed: 30 Sep 2023 
An update report on Phase 2 of Modern Ways of Working was considered and approved by Cabinet on 21 September 2023, the programme is now 
formally closed, with no further activity scheduled. Options in relation to County Hall are being managed as part of the corporate Property Services 
rationalisation and centralisation deliverables. 

Please note key achievements during the life of the programme are, a significant improvement in collaborative working across the Council, improved 
working across Departments, joined up thinking and staff morale. Eighteen buildings have gone through a clearance process, with John Hadfield House 
and Chatsworth Hall now decommissioned. Through this clearance over 600 items of furniture were repurposed across the Council, Schools and 
Community Groups, with an additional 650 items sold and 72 pedestals distributed to staff for home use. Alongside furniture, ICT equipment has also 
been collected and repurposed to support the development of 250 work space stations throughout the Council. 

Embed the new Portfolio Management approach and framework across the Council to ensure that programmes and 
projects are coordinated and deliver improved outcomes and value for money  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Portfolio Management Implementation Programme is preparing to move as scheduled into the Closure Stage. The Portfolio Management and 
Transformation Function sitting within Corporate Services and Transformation has achieved full operating capacity through the successful transition of 
the programme and project management resource which transferred to the corporate function in July 2023. In addition, the key Programme Management 
Office (PMO) roles that were recruited to in May 2023 have commenced and the agreed PMO support roles successfully recruited to. 

Quarter 2 has seen the adoption of new tools and templates that were launched in Quarter 1. Specifically, the use of the Programme and Project 
Mandate which is now being used by the Portfolio Direction Group to actively manage the introduction of new projects and programmes onto the 
Portfolio. The Project Mandate and the Prioritisation Matrix will be used, to refine the existing Portfolio of Projects and Programmes during Quarter 3 in 
order to align with the new Strategic Integrated Planning Framework and to reflect the current financial challenges. 

As part of the programme the completion of the P3M3 maturity assessment, a tool for assessing the maturity levels of an organisation in regards to its 
portfolio, programme and project management approach has also taken place in Quarter 2. The results of which will form the ongoing focus of 
improvement activity for the Portfolio Management and Transformation function as it moves into Business As Usual, following the Portfolio Management 
Implementation Programme closure. 

The implementation of the Learning and Development Strategy continues, following the successful roll out of the role of the Sponsor training, Quarter 3 
will see the focus moved to the roles of the Programme and Project Managers. Return to summary. 

P
age 69



Appendix 3  

 

Kept Council Tax within the lowest 25% of County Council areas and lobbied government to secure a better funding 
settlement  

 
Rating: Good (Strong in Q1)  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Council set its 2023-24 Band D Council Tax at £1,477.98, this being one of the lowest Band D amounts compared to other similar county 
authorities. The 2023-24 Council Tax increase of 3.75% was amongst the lowest increases compared to other similar authorities. The Council continues 
to support the County Council Network (CCN) and the Local Government Association with lobbying government and will respond to the recent CCN 
survey in respect of the fair funding review. 

P
age 70



Appendix 3  

 

Effective early help for individuals and communities  
Overview 
This priority shows overall “Good” progress for Council Plan deliverables, with 5 deliverables rated as “Good” and 1 
deliverable rated as “Requiring Review”. These are shown graphically in the left-hand wheel below. Overall, the 
measures for this priority are rated as “Review” based on 3 rated measures. These are shown graphically in the right 
hand wheel below and listed in the following table. 
 

Deliverable Progress Key Measures

P
age 71



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measure Summary 
Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Number of older people and disabled people able to access short 
term assistance to regain or increase independence 

Sep-2023 1,588 1,794 .  Action 

Number of permanent admissions to residential and nursing 
homes 

Sep-2023 566 466   Action 

Number of people with social care needs referred for Assistive 
Technology 

Sep-2023 543 300   Strong 

 

Progress on our deliverables and key measures 
Improve outcomes for victims of domestic abuse and their families by focusing on prevention, early intervention, 
work with perpetrators and commissioning specialist support  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Domestic and Sexual Abuse Partnership Board is well established, and work is being delivered against all priorities. The specialist services relating 
to accommodation, children's services and outreach support are being re-commissioned for mobilisation from April 2024. 

Work with partners to promote positive mental wellbeing and improve support for local people, with a particular focus 
on children and young people and suicide prevention  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 30 Sep 2023 
During Quarter 2, the Derbyshire Director of Public Health's annual report was published. The report builds on the Let's Chat campaign, with mental 
health and wellbeing being a priority for Public Health in Derbyshire and provides a snapshot of how the Public Health team, partners, and communities 
have worked together to support people with their mental health and wellbeing. 

World Suicide Prevention Day was marked on 10 September 2023. To support the day, several football clubs held awareness raising activities at football 
matches across Derbyshire; this included two new clubs, Glossop North End and Buxton Town. Staff and volunteers engaged with fans by handing out 
leaflets, raising awareness and having conversations. During the games, 7,000 suicide prevention Z-cards were handed out. 

Throughout Quarter 2, the Mental Health and Suicide Prevention team have attended various festivals, including Chesterfield Pride, Langwith Show, 
Ashover Show and Y Not Festival, to raise awareness of mental health and suicide prevention. 

From the events and promotion of world suicide prevention day, 600 people who engaged also completed the national zero suicide alliance e-learning 
course. Additionally, the social media presence resulted in 50,000 views and impressions on posts related to mental health and suicide prevention. 

The Mental Health and Suicide Prevention team also organised a Glossop suicide prevention day alongside colleagues from the localities team and 
partner organisations. There were around 10-12 stalls where staff handed out information and had conversations about mental health. 

P
age 72



Appendix 3  

 

Quarter 2 also saw the launch of a new Suicide awareness and managing mental health conversations training sessions. So far, around 3 sessions have 
been delivered, all with good uptake. Return to summary. 

Deliver health and wellbeing advice and coaching to prevent, reduce and delay the need for adult social care services  
 

Rating: Good (Review in Q1)  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The team are currently actively supporting a total of 228 people and have received 87 new introductions in Quarter 2. With a total of 141 new 
introductions and 76 shared agreements since April 2023, this equates to 54% of people being supported have a shared agreement. 

The new website, online initial contact form and outcomes capture form introduced on 1 April 2023 are now fully operational. Regular output and 
outcome performance reports are now in place. The thematic surveys and analysis with Nottingham University is continuing, surveys have now been 
completed and analysis is underway. The team continue to meet on a regular basis to deliver the development plan, challenge topics completed to date 
include prototyping reflection; operating framework introduction; team wellbeing; definition of complex; outcome measures; ending an introduction 
effectively, and mini teams. 10 staff members are continuing with the diploma in Health and Wellbeing Coaching and have passed the first two modules. 
The final module has started, and the course is due to end December 2023. Demand is high and incoming introductions are being carefully managed on 
a weekly basis with district/borough area teams being paused and un-paused as and when required, i.e. when demand exceeds available staff 
resources. Return to summary. 

Finalise the new ways of working with older people and people with a disability to increase their independence so that 
they remain part of their local communities  

 
Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
Whilst there is an improving position, the lack of available home care continues to 
impact on the Adult Social Care offer for older people. The Short Term Service 
(Reablement) is undergoing a redesign to improve capacity and efficiency. This will 
increase the capacity available to older people requiring reablement intervention. 
Implementation commences in January 2024. So far this year, the service have 
supported 1,588 people against a target of 1,794. People admitted to long term 
permanent residential care is 566 against a target of 466. Return to summary.  

 

Helping older & disabled people to regain independence

2021-2022 2,911
2022-2023 2,820
2023-2024 1,588
Target 1,794
Performance  Action

Admissions to residential care (provisional)

2021-2022 711
2022-2023 990
2023-2024 566
Target 466
Performance  Action

2023-24 data and targets are for the year to Sep-2023 

P
age 73



Appendix 3  

 

Provide local people with access to a wider choice of digital aids and technologies, to enable them to feel safe and 
independent in their own home  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
During Quarter 2, a report was taken to Cabinet detailing consultation results 
relating to changes to eligibility and funding arrangements for community alarm only 
clients. On 27 July 2023, the proposals were agreed, meaning that the service will 
now concentrate solely on those with an identified care and support need and that 
those that have no wider package of care will now be responsible for the ongoing 
monitoring charges. A period of assessment will now need to be undertaken to 
ensure that all current clients can be reviewed against the new criteria and 
alternative charging arrangements can be implemented. It is expected that these may take 12 to 18 months and should commence in the next few 
weeks, alongside the implementation of changes for new clients. 

Procurement of a new countywide Assistive Technology service is underway, and it is expected that the successful bidder will be announced in the 
coming weeks, allowing sufficient time to undertake the complex task of transition. The new service will commence on 1 April 2024. The use of digital 
technology continues to grow and new referrals for Assistive Technology remain high, supporting people to stay at home for longer and reducing the 
need for greater formal support. This year to date, we have supported 543 people with Social Care needs referred for Assistive Technology against a 
target of 300. 

Work with District and Borough Council and other partners to identify an average of 3 new sites each year that will 
increase the amount of age-appropriate accommodation and support for older people  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2035 
The new All-Age Housing, Accommodation and Support Strategy - 'A Place we Call Home' has now been approved and is publicly available on our 
website (Strategies and market shaping - Derbyshire County Council). Partnership meetings have been held with key stakeholders including our District 
& Borough Housing Partners to start the process of developing and formalising our Delivery Plans. The Strategy will be presented to each Place Alliance 
in partnership with District & Borough Housing Leads and local Delivery Plans will be co-produced, agreed and formalised. 

We continue to identify any opportunities to meet our housing with care and support needs against assets that have been identified for disposal. 

The Options Appraisal for the closed Homes for Older People has been completed. 

We have been continuing our dialogue with an investor and Chesterfield Borough Council about the potential development of an extra care facility in 
Chesterfield and the developers are currently preparing for the pre-application stage of the planning process. 

We are in positive ongoing dialogue with a developer and North East Derbyshire District Council Housing in relation to a potential extra care facility in 
Eckington. 

We have had early discussions with a land owner in South Derbyshire and a developer/care provider in Buxton in relation to the development of 
specialist dementia nursing care provision. 

People with social care needs referred for Assistive Technology

2021-2022 900
2022-2023 1,048
2023-2024 543
Target 300
Performance  Strong

2023-24 data and target are for the year to Sep-2023 

P
age 74

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/care-and-health-service-providers/commissioning-services/strategies-and-market-shaping/strategies-and-market-shaping.aspx


Appendix 3  

 

A prosperous and green Derbyshire  
Overview 
This priority shows overall “Requiring Review” progress for Council Plan deliverables, with 10 deliverables rated as 
“Good”, 4 deliverables rated as “Requiring Review” and 1 deliverable rated as “Requiring Action”. These are shown 
graphically in the left-hand wheel below. Overall, the measures for this priority are rated as “Review” based on 5 rated 
measures. These are shown graphically in the right hand wheel below and listed in the following table. 
 

Deliverable Progress Key Measures

P
age 75



Appendix 3  

 

Key Measure Summary 
Key Measure Date Actual Target Performance 
Percentage reduction in CO2e from 2009-10 baseline Mar-2023 71.3% 68.5%  No data for 

2023-24 
Total amount of expenditure on the delivery of the Local Transport 
Programme 

Sep-2023 £16.420m £22.000m   Action 
(Good in Q1) 

Percentage of defects completed within target timescales Sep-2023 54.4% 90.0%   Action 
Percentage of Principal roads where maintenance should be 
considered 

Dec-2022 15.4% 23.0%  No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of Non-principal classified roads where maintenance 
should be considered 

Dec-2022 22.1% 13.0%  No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of Unclassified road network where maintenance 
should be considered 

Dec-2022 30.2% 31.0%  No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of residents satisfied overall with Highways and 
Transportation services 

Dec-2022 51.0% 60.0%  No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of pupils achieving the expected level in Phonics Aug-2023 79.0% 79.0%   Good 
Percentage point gap between disadvantaged pupils in Derbyshire 
and non-disadvantaged pupils achieving the expected standard in 
Phonics 

Aug-2023 16.7 18.7   Strong 

Percentage of pupils achieving a standard pass or higher (grades 
4-9) in English and Maths at GCSE 

Aug-2022 67.8% Not set  No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage point gap between disadvantaged pupils in Derbyshire 
and non-disadvantaged pupils achieving a standard pass or higher 
(grades 4 to 9) in English and Maths at GCSE 

Aug-2022 31.6 Not set  No data for 
2023-24 

Percentage of 16 to 17 year olds in education, employment or 
training (3 month avg) 

Aug-2023 95.0% 94.4%   Good 

Percentage of premises across the county that have access to 
Superfast broadband (>30Mbps) 

Sep-2023 97.5% Not set   No Target 

Amount of Apprenticeship Levy transferred to businesses Sep-2023 £172,117 Not set   No Target 
 

P
age 76



Appendix 3  

 

Progress on our deliverables and key measures 
Continue to deliver the Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan which sets out priorities to reduce the county’s 
greenhouse gas emissions  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
The Derbyshire County Council Climate Change Strategy: Achieving Net Zero (2021-2025) was approved by Cabinet on 14 October 2021. The Strategy 
sets out the Council's role and priority areas of work on reducing the Council's and the county's emissions. The first annual review of progress was 
presented to Cabinet in January 2023. The review showed that delivery of the Strategy had a strong first year, with the majority of actions being on track 
to meet or exceed the desired outcomes, and action being taken to address any risks to delivery of any targets and actions currently not on track. At the 
end of 2022-23 all of the 32 priority actions were deemed likely to achieve their timetable and/or to deliver the required outcome. The next annual review 
of progress has commenced and will be reported to Cabinet in January 2024. 

The Council has a target for county-wide emissions to reach net zero by 2050. Data is provided by the UK Government, which reports annually on 
emissions arising within each Council's geographic area. This government data groups emissions by source, including industrial and business users, the 
public sector, homes, transport and agriculture, and around 98% of emissions are outside the Council's direct control. 

The latest data relates to 2021 and shows there was a 9% increase in Derbyshire's emissions between 2020 and 2021. Since the baseline year of 2005 
Derbyshire's emissions have reduced by 22%. Emissions data for 2022 is expected to be available in Summer 2024. 

The Vision Derbyshire Climate Change Strategy (2022-25) and accompanying Action Plan are being delivered through collaboration between the 
Council and all eight of Derbyshire's district and borough councils. These documents set out a series of collaborative priority projects and initiatives to 
help reduce the county's emissions. The first annual review of progress against delivery of the Vision Derbyshire Strategy and Action Plan will be 
finalised in Quarter 3 of 2023-24. 

P
age 77



Appendix 3  

 

Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from Council property, vehicles and street lighting to 12,310 tonnes CO2e by 2024 
and net zero by 2032  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2032 
The Council has a target to be a net zero organisation by 2032, or sooner. 
Emissions from four sources are included within the Council's net zero target: 
Corporate Property; streetlighting; core fleet; and officers using their own vehicles 
(Grey Fleet). 

The provisional data for these four sources for 2022-23 indicates that: 

• Emissions from energy used in corporate property reduced by 20% between 
2021-22 and 2022-23. There has been a 54% reduction in emissions from 
corporate property since the 2009-10 baseline year. 

• Emissions from energy used in streetlighting reduced by 23% between 2021-
22and 2022-23. There has been an 87% reduction in emissions from 
streetlighting since the 2009-10 baseline year. 

• Emissions from core fleet since 2021-22 are currently being updated to reflect 
more detailed vehicle data . The provisional figure does indicate a 53% 
reduction in emissions from core fleet since the 2009-10 baseline year. 

• Emissions from grey fleet increased by 5% between 2021-22 and 2022-23, 
thought to be due to Covid recovery. There has been a 70% reduction in 
emissions from grey fleet since the 2009-10 baseline year. 

To date, the Council has made good progress towards its net zero target of 2032, or 
sooner, with a provisional 71.3% reduction in Council emissions achieved between 
2009-10 and 2022-23 (from 42,965 tonnes CO2e to 12,338 tonnes CO2e). However, 
the speed of reduction is at risk of slowing down, highlighting that further effort is 
required to reduce the Council's emissions. Supplemental work is now underway to 
explore how the further reductions necessary might be achieved, and to understand 
the resource implications of doing so. 

Council and departmental annual emission reduction targets to 2032 have been developed and agreed and are being embedded within Departmental 
Service Plans. 

The Council is on track to baseline and set a net zero target for its Scope 3 emissions by the end of 2023, as set out as a target in the Climate Change 
Strategy. These emissions are indirect emissions outside of the Council's direct control, for example from purchased goods and services. The 
Sustainable Procurement Policy was approved by Cabinet in July 2022 and implementation begun during 2022-23 through a number of initial pilot 
contracts. Wider implementation of the Sustainable Procurement Policy, as well as staff communications and training, is being conducted during 2023-
24. Return to summary.  
 

Reduction in CO2e from 2009-10 baseline

2020-2021 62.2%
2021-2022 64.2%
2022-2023 71.3%
Target 22-23 68.5%
Performance  Good

Data for 2023-24 will be available by September 2024 

Breakdown of CO2e emissions by main sources

P
age 78



Appendix 3  

 

Develop and deliver a strategic approach to sustainable travel and transport across the county, including the 
promotion of cycling and walking  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Walking, Wheeling and Cycling 
With recent Active Travel England Capability fund grant awards, the Council has now begun to develop a series of local active travel (walking and 
cycling) plans for market towns. This exciting workstream will be the primary focus of the next 12 months and will explore the opportunities, barriers and 
interventions required to ensure increases in walking, wheeling and cycling in daily movements of Derbyshire's residents and visitors. 

Continued development of the Key Cycle Network 
The Public/Stakeholder Engagement Report for the joint Derby, Derbyshire, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Draft Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) is being finalised for publication to inform the final Plan for Cabinet Member endorsement. The LCWIP provides the strategic 
direction for the continued development of the Key Cycle Network. 

Recent highlights include: 

• Little Eaton Branch Line - Forms part of Derby City to Ripley Active Travel Route. A successful funding bid to Active Travel England (Tranche 4) has 
secured £2.73m for construction of multi-user Greenway along the former railway branch line between Duffield Road, Little Eaton and Rawson 
Green. Detailed designs and further surveys are underway in advance of a planning application being submitted in the autumn. Negotiations have 
been initiated about the possibility of acquiring the onward section beyond Rawson Green to Street Lane at Denby Bottles. 

• White Peak Loop (WPL) - A successful funding bid to Active Travel England (Tranche 4) has secured £275,000 for further development work, 
leading to submission of planning applications for preferred route options identified in recently completed studies for WPL from the end of the 
Monsal Trail at Topley Pike into and through Buxton to Harpur Hill. 

• Pennine Bridleway National Trail - Grant offers have been received from Natural England through the Pennine National Trails Partnership for 
ongoing maintenance of the route, including funding for a Project Officer, as well as continued development of missing sections of the Trail around 
Glossop. 

• Derwent Valley Trail - The Shardlow to Hathersage Feasibility Study is nearing completion, with all draft reports expected by end of July 2023. 

Low Emission Vehicles Infrastructure (LEVI) Programme 
The implementation of the LEVI Strategy is gaining pace with three key workstreams identified: On Street Residential, Destination Charging and Private 
Charging. Recent highlights include: 

• On Street Residential Charging: the proposal to undertake a small procurement activity has been endorsed by Cabinet and a residential 
engagement exercise has been launched to help identify the most in demand and suitable sites. Tender specifications are being developed with a 
view to appointing a commercial partner by autumn 2023. 

• Destination Charging: following soft market testing with commercial suppliers and engagement with district officers, a number of sites have been 
identified as suitable locations for electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure. The next phase of work is primarily focused on the development of 
procurement models that will accelerate the infrastructure deployment and create an environment to facilitate both public and private transition to 
electric vehicles where appropriate. 

P
age 79



Appendix 3  

 

A pilot project is underway for increasing the use of the Council owned electric fleet by providing suitable infrastructure (charge points) to facilitate pool 
EV vehicles. Suitable suppliers have been identified and several pilot sites have been prioritised. Electrical capacity assessments have been undertaken 
and quotes for enabling works sought. The next step will be to procure and install suitable infrastructure. 

Rural Mobility Fund - Moving Together 
The project, which enables people to share vehicles and chargepoints, is currently underway with Cenex appointed to deliver on behalf of the Council. A 
significant milestone has been achieved with the successful launch of the online platform, known as Moving Together, in July 2023. Following a series of 
community engagement events and activities throughout the summer, the next steps involve evaluating the impact of community engagement on both 
traffic to the Moving Together platform and the uptake of operator offers. This assessment will provide valuable insights into the effectiveness and 
utilisation of the platform, contributing to the project's overall objectives. 

Rail Travel 
Despite the ongoing round of industrial action, which has seriously impacted services during 2022-23, work has continued to improve facilities at stations 
across Derbyshire. This includes new electronic travel planning and real time information signage at a number of stations along the Derwent Valley and 
Hope Valley lines. Following significant lobbying by the Council and other stakeholders, East Midlands Railway has reintroduced hourly direct rail 
services along the Derwent Valley line from Matlock to Nottingham. 

P
age 80



Appendix 3  

 

Complete the delivery of a £120 million 3-year Local Transport Programme (LTP) to provide well managed roads and 
highways and address road safety concerns  

 
Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Captured costs in the Council’s financial management system so far for the end of 
Quarter 2 amounted to £16.4m, however delivered work on the ground was in 
excess of £19m. A further £22.5m of work is programmed for the remainder of the 
current financial year and every effort is being made to increase this to achieve the 
2023-24 target of £43m. Any shortfall of this amount will be carried forward to the 
start of the 2024-25 financial year. Spend this quarter reflects our Surface Dressing 
Programme and Carriageway Surfacing programmes that are currently being 
delivered. Other major works such as the Harrington Bridge refurbishment are also 
on site in this period. 

It is acknowledged that whilst we are still repairing a significant number of defects 
the number of incoming defects, as a consequence of the adverse and 
unpredictable weather conditions, has impacted our ability to repair all the defects 
within the requisite time frames. Consequently, only 54.4% of defects have been 
completed within the target timescales, compared to a target of 90%. The treatments 
required exceed the budget available. To address this, a programme is planned to 
utilise the £4.2m pothole grant received from the Department for Transport. It is 
recognised that many of the pothole repairs required are on roads that often receive 
an annual inspection during the winter months. Due to the more severe weather 
conditions experienced during this season, lasting repairs to potholes are more 
difficult to achieve. Therefore, a proactive programme of repairs has been 
implemented utilising Jetpatchers targeting these mainly rural areas to treat any 
defects present before they develop into larger or more hazardous issues later in the 
year. This programme was undertaken throughout the warmer months with the aim 
being to repair the roads before the weather conditions worsen, giving longevity to 
the repair. The Jetpatcher vehicles are an innovative approach for tackling a high 
volume of road defects quickly, delivering permanent repairs without causing further 
damage to the road, at a fraction of the cost. They are contracted until the end of 
October to coincide with the changing weather conditions as they cannot operate 
during the winter period. 

The current change over in management systems relating to Highways work has 
provided an opportunity to review in detail the underlying data for defects to ensure 
all categories are included in the figures. This work is ongoing and will be reflected 
in future reporting. 

£m Expenditure on the Local Transport Programme

2021-2022 £39.674m
2022-2023 £37.000m
2023-2024 £16.420m
Target £22.000m
Performance  Action

(Good in Q1)
Defects completed within target in the year to date

2021-2022 75.0%
2022-2023 76.6%
2023-2024 54.4%
Target 90.0%
Performance  Action

2023-24 data and targets are for the year to Sep-2023 

Percentage of defects responded to within target 
timescales during Quarter 2

Quarter 2 Target Performance
Started within 
2 hrs (Urgent)

86.2% 100.0%  Action

Completed 
within 32 hrs

81.3% 90.0%  Review

Completed 
within 9 days

35.6% 80.0%  Action

Completed 
within 28 days

21.7% 80.0%  Action

P
age 81



Appendix 3  

 

The percentage of Principal, Classified and Unclassified roads where maintenance 
should be considered details the percentage of roads that fall into the 'Poor' and 
'Very Poor' condition banding and is derived from the Annual Engineers Inspection 
survey. Areas of the network that fall below a condition level are calculated to form 
the percentage result. The Annual Engineers Inspection is then factored into the 
Value Management Process to enable development of Forward Programmes. The 
annual survey is undertaken between April and June and the outcome of the survey 
will support the preparation of the following year's delivery programme and 
information regarding this which will be provided in Quarter 3. Return to summary. 

 
 

 

Defects completed within target

Principal roads needing maintenance

2020-2021 17.0%
2021-2022 15.2%
2022-2023 15.4%
2023-2024 Due in Q3
Target 13.0%

Classified roads needing maintenance

2020-2021 17.0%
2021-2022 19.6%
2022-2023 22.1%
2023-2024 Due in Q3
Target 23.0%

Unclassified roads needing maintenance

2020-2021 27.0%
2021-2022 29.9%
2022-2023 30.2%
2023-2024 Due in Q3
Target 31.0%

Residents satisfied with Highways and Transport services

2020-2021 54.0%
2021-2022 52.0%
2022-2023 51.0%
2023-2024 Due in Q3
Target 60.0%

Targets are for the full year 2023-24 

P
age 82



Appendix 3  

 

Reduce the level of Flood Risk to the residents and businesses of Derbyshire through our planning role, the delivery 
of flood mitigation schemes and working with communities to support and develop flood resilience measures  

 
Rating: Good (Review in Q1)  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The delivery of the Highway Drainage Capital programme 2023-24 is ongoing. 

The Flood Team attended the Parish and Town Councils engagement event at County Hall, providing advice to attendees. 

Breadsall Natural Flood Management scheme design is complete and grant funding secured, and it is intended this will be delivered by March 2024. 

The last Technician vacancy in the Flood Team has been filled, bringing the team back up to full strength. Agency Engineers continue to support the 
team, albeit the Council's current financial controls may impact on their continued use. 

Responding to planning consultations within the required time continues to be a challenge due to the current backlog, following the difficulties in 
recruiting to the team that have recently been resolved. This will likely continue for the remainder of the year. 

P
age 83



Appendix 3  

 

Work with schools and other education providers to implement new strategies and support, to enable children and 
young people to achieve their educational potential and begin to catch up on learning they have missed due to 
COVID-19 restrictions  

  
Rating: Good  Original completion date: 30 Jun 2023 
   Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Education Improvement Service (EIS) has continued to work robustly with 
schools and other partners throughout Quarter 2 to improve outcomes for children 
and young people and support catch-up on learning. Derbyshire's successful 'Learn 
to Read, Read to Learn' partnership, exploring evidence-informed approaches for 
improving pupils' reading skills at key transition points, is continuing with the 
recruitment for the next cohort of schools taking place during October 2023. Last 
year over 150 schools from key stage 1 to key stage 3 were involved in this 
partnership working with the Derby Research School as well as other partners such 
as the English and Maths Hubs and increasing school-to-school capacity for 
improvement within Derbyshire. We will continue to build on this through the 2023-
24 academic year. 

Key stage attainment outcomes for 2023 will be available at various points 
throughout the year. Targets predominantly relate to comparator performance and 
therefore will not be confirmed until comparator outcomes are published. 

Provisional 2022-23 data for the percentage of pupils reaching the required standard 
in Phonics (79%) suggest that Derbyshire's performance is again in line with the 
national average maintaining performance within the lower middle national quartile. 
This continues improvement from bottom quartile performance in 2019 and we have 
improved our national ranking by 10 places compared to last year. Provisional data 
also suggests that the gap between disadvantaged Derbyshire pupils achieving the 
expected standard in phonics and non-disadvantaged pupils nationally (16.7%) has 
narrowed compared to 2021-22 when the gap was 18.7 percentage points. 

Percentage of pupils achieving the required standard in phonics

2021-2022 79.0%
2022-2023 79.0%
Target 79.0%
Performance  Good
Number of 
Participants

79.0%

%pt. gap between disadvantaged & non-disadvantaged in Phonics

2021-2022 16.7
2022-2023 16.7
Target 18.7
Performance  Strong

2022-23 data and targets are for the academic year to Aug-2023 
Pupils achieving grades 4-9 in English and Maths at GCSE

2019-2020 72.2%
2020-2021 67.8%
2021-2022 67.8%
2022-2023 Due in Q3
Target Not set
National 
Benchmark

64.4%

%pt. gap between disadvantaged & non-disadvantaged at GCSE

2020-2021 31.6
2021-2022 31.6
2022-2023 Due in Q3
Target Not set

Targets for these measures will be set when the national data is 
available in Quarter 3. 

P
age 84



Appendix 3  

 

The percentage of 16 to 17 year olds in education, employment or training for the 3 
months of June, July and August 2023 is 95.0%. This is below the same time last 
year (96.4%) but is higher than both the national figure (91.1%) and the outcome for 
East Midlands (93.4%). Current performance maintains Derbyshire within the top 
quartile nationally which is the target for this year. 

This deliverable had an expected completion date of 30th June 2023. It is clear now 
that pupils could be catching up on learning for a considerable period of time. We 
will continue to report outcomes for this deliverable until the end of this financial 
year. Activity and outcomes will subsequently be tracked under business as usual 
education improvement support. Return to summary. 

 
 

 
  

Develop the Local Nature Recovery Strategy for Derbyshire in accordance with the Environment Act 2021, for the 
coordinated benefit of Derbyshire's natural environment  

 
Rating: Review (Good in Q1)  Expected completion date: 21 Dec 2023 
The Council is the 'Responsible Authority' for the production of Derbyshire's Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS). The Council has been awarded a 
grant of circa £400k from the the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. The deadline for the production of the LNRS is the end of March 
2025. The Council has procured, in partnership with Derby City Council and the Peak District National Park Authority, the Derbyshire Natural Capital 
Strategy which will provide much of the baseline evidence for the LNRS. However, the the timescale for the production of the LNRS is relatively tight, 

16-17 year olds in education, employment or 
training

16-17 year olds in education, employment or training

2020-2021 95.5%
2021-2022 96.5%
2022-2023 95.1%
2023-2024 95.0%
Target 94.4%
Performance  Good
County-wide 
Benchmark

91.1%

2023-24 data and target are for a 3 month average to Aug-2023 

P
age 85



Appendix 3  

 

especially when statutory consultation and notification periods are taken in to account. To this end, the Council's current financial controls do have 
implications for the timely delivery of the LNRS. Return to summary. 

Deliver a £47 million Bus Service Improvement Plan in partnership with Derbyshire bus operators and establish a 3-
year programme to develop and improve bus frequency, connectivity, usage and affordability  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
Following receipt of year 2 funding, work continues at pace and key areas of progress to note this quarter include: 

Traffic Signalling Priority: infrastructure works commenced in Chesterfield. 

Ticketing Offers: Wayfarer introductory discount offer on weekly ticket prices for Adults £21 and young person B-line card holder £16. Implementation 
of £1.50 flat rate fare for B-line card holders from age 11 valid until their 19th Birthday. 

Transport Hubs: site development work continues for the identified sites, working collaboratively with local schemes in districts and boroughs. 

Additional bus services: commenced enhancements and improvements to 17 bus services all with greater frequency and extension to evenings and 
weekends in many communities in Derbyshire. 

Demand Responsive Travel pilot service to commence in November 2023. 

Marketing campaign: the first behaviour change campaign in November will focus on young people and independence for leisure purposes afforded by 
bus travel and linked to the new fare offer for B-Line card holders. An informational campaign will be aimed at parents of 11-18 year olds regarding B-
Line. Marketing is ongoing of new service enhancements through press releases and social media campaigns. 

Community Bus Champions have commenced work with businesses and employers and are actively engaging with the public at events around the 
County. 

Department for Transport Bus Service Improvement Plan Relationship Manager visited Derbyshire. Return to summary. 

Refresh and implement our approach to increasing levels of inward investment into the county  
 

Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Following the closure of the European Regional Development Fund's "Invest in D2N2" Programme, Derbyshire's investment opportunities and key 
development sites have continued to be promoted via the Invest in Derbyshire website and other online outlets. 

Eight new enquiries have been received during Quarter 2 from domestic and foreign investors, mainly in the residential & development, manufacturing 
and distribution sectors. An increased demand for freehold land and sites with mid-size industrial units has been recorded. Ongoing support has been 
provided to some large investment and business expansion projects in the pipeline. 

Both existing and the most recent enquiries carry a great potential to increase levels of inward investment and create a significant number of new jobs in 
the county within the next 3 years. 

P
age 86



Appendix 3  

 

Submit the planning application and continue to progress proposals for the Chesterfield to Staveley Regeneration 
Route, which will create new homes and jobs for the area  

 
Rating: Action (Review in Q1)  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
The Outline Business Case (OBC) was reconsidered by government in August 2023 and to date the Council has not been advised of the outcome, and 
therefore all work has been paused to minimise financial risk. In the event of OBC approval a report will be brought to Cabinet recommending next steps. 
Return to summary. 

Finalise and implement a new Digital Strategy for Derbyshire, including support for the roll out of gigabit technology  
 

Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Digital Strategy and Action Plan have now been finalised. We are expecting it to 
be approved by Cabinet by early November. The Project Gigabit regional supplier 
(Type B) contract is due to be awarded by November, with the local supplier (Type 
A) in January. Following both contract awards, we will then be given a list from 
Building Digital UK of all properties where the chosen supplier will intervene to 
improve access and areas that will be de-scoped. This then leaves us with a clear 
indication of where we can intervene and implement the Action Plan. 

Currently 97.5% of properties have access to superfast broadband.  
 

Continue to work with Derbyshire businesses to support the creation of apprenticeship opportunities in key economic 
sectors, connecting people to local job opportunities  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
Four apprenticeships with three Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) have been 
formally supported by the Council's Apprenticeship Levy in Quarter 2. The 
apprenticeships supported this quarter have been in the Engineering, Automotive, 
Early Years and Digital sectors. This is slightly behind forecast, this is due to 
seventeen apprenticeships across seven SMEs being in the final stages of 
negotiations, and until formal confirmation of the apprenticeship going ahead it is not 
appropriate to include these in Quarter 2 figures. At the end of Quarter 2 £172,117 
of the Council's Apprenticeship Levy has been transferred to businesses. The cost of each apprenticeship differs in terms of type of course and the age 
of the apprentice and so no target has been set for this under-pinning performance measure.  
 

Premises with superfast broadband

2021-2022 96.9%
2022-2023 97.3%
2023-2024 97.5%
Target Not set

Targets will be set when the programme of gigabit support is 
confirmed. 2023-24 data is for the year to Sep-2023 

Apprenticeship Levy transferred to businesses

2022-2023 £428,630
2023-2024 £172,117
Target Not set

2023-24 data is for the year to Sep-2023 

P
age 87



Appendix 3  

 

Work with partners to finalise the regional response to the Integrated Rail Plan, including a refreshed HS2 Growth 
Strategy, an action plan to prepare for Midland Mainline electrification and implementation of Restoring Your Railways 
programme  

 
Rating: Good  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2025 
The Barrow Hill Line has passed another important milestone with the Department for Transport's Restoring Your Railways (RYR) Programme Board 
finalising the project scope by confirming rail stations at Barrow Hill and Killamarsh for further development during the Outline Business Case (OBC) 
Stage. Network Rail has commenced OBC preparation during this period and is on track for completion by end March 2024. RYR Ivanhoe Line project 
remains on track for meeting a milestone of OBC submission in December 2023. High Speed 2 (HS2) Ltd and Network Rail are progressing HS2 
Eastern leg workstreams, which are programmed to complete March 2025, to de-risk Integrated Rail Plan proposals and minimise future late changes to 
the project by considering cost and carbon emission opportunities. The Council has held ongoing liaison with Network Rail about the future Midland 
Mainline Electrification work programme in Derbyshire, but there is no further progress to report for Quarter 2. 

Deliver the Derbyshire Cultural Framework to support the creative and cultural sectors to become more resilient, grow 
and capitalise on new opportunities  

 
Rating: Review  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Derbyshire Makes project is currently paused whilst a decision is made on the funding associated with the activity. There is currently £1m in the 
cultural recovery framework reserve to support delivery of the cultural framework. This funding has been identified as potential to be used to support the 
Council's current budget situation. This activity is obviously important to the council but it is not a statutory service. Return to summary. 

Work with partners towards the production of a Development Framework that provides a positive unified vision for the 
Derwent Valley Mills World Heritage Site (DVMWHS), that highlights development possibilities, and identifies the 
infrastructure that is needed to release the site’s potential  

 
Rating: Review (Good in Q1)  Expected completion date: 31 Mar 2024 
The Council's Executive Director for Place and the Head of Conservation, Heritage and Design have met with 3 of the other 4 Local Planning Authorities 
(LPA) that the World Heritage Site covers, to discuss and investigate the desire for the production of a DVMWHS Development Framework. A meeting 
with the remaining LPA is scheduled for October 2023. There is a high level of support for the production of a Development Framework, especially with 
the advent of the Levelling-up Bill, which specifically mentions World Heritage Sites, and the formation of the East Midlands Combined County Authority. 
Unfortunately the Council's financial position is likely to impact on the the Development Framework's production. Return to summary. 

P
age 88



Appendix 3  

 

Overarching Measures  
 

The combined departmental budget savings target for 2023-24 is £16.190m with a 
further £12.038m of unachieved savings brought forward from previous years. Of the 
in-year savings target, £3.929m is forecast to be achieved. The forecast at Quarter 1 
was reported as £10.317m, however this has been revised at Quarter 2. This is 
mainly due to the lack of availability of short term home care for older people which 
has meant there has been no expenditure reductions in long term home care 
packages and in residential care home placements. Departmental reserves and 
other one-off compensatory efficiencies have been employed to mitigate the in-year 
impacts. 

The Council continues to review planned savings initiatives and explore, and implement, opportunities for further or alternative in-year efficiency 
measures to offset the ongoing budgetary pressures. Return to summary.  

 
 

Projected achievement of in-year budget savings

2022-2023 £7.557m 
2023-2024 £3.929m 
Target £16.190m 
Performance  Action

2023-24 data and target are the year end projections as at 
Sep-2023 

P
age 89



Appendix 3  

 

 
A short 'Pulse Survey' of residents was carried out in Summer 2023. The Pulse 
Survey asked key questions from the Council's main annual Your Council Your 
Voice (YCYV) residents survey, to enable better understanding of residents' 
perceptions and comparison with the Local Government Association (LGA) 
Residents Survey carried out during June 2023. 

The results from the Pulse Survey for the overarching measures contained in the 
Council Plan remain similar to those from the main YCYV survey carried out in 
Autumn 2022. The survey received just over 3,100 responses, compared to the 
previous YCYV response figure of 2,400, with results as follows: 

• Residents who are satisfied with the council, 43.2% compared to 43.6% in the 
YCYV survey and below the target of 58%; 

• Residents informed about Council decisions, 37.2% compared to 41.5% in the 
YCYV survey and below the target of 52%; 

• Residents agreeing the Council gives value for money, 30.2% compared to 
30.3% in the YCYV survey and below the target of 43%. 

In order to address some of the findings from the surveys a high-level action plan is 
being implemented. The action plan sets out activity to increase the proportion of 
residents that positively view the Council and its services and widening and enabling 
participation across demographic groups. In addition, the actions will enable the 
Council to review its approach to the YCYV Survey moving forward to ensure that it 
remains relevant and provides the Council with the key information it needs to 
support strategic planning, budget setting and the development of Council services.  
Return to summary.  

 

Residents who are satisfied with the Council

2021-2022 42.3%
2022-2023 43.6%
2023-2024 43.2%
Target 58.0%
Performance  Action
National 
Benchmark

62.0%

Residents informed about Council decisions

2021-2022 42.7%
2022-2023 41.5%
2023-2024 37.2%
Target 52.0%
Performance  Action

Residents agree Council gives value for money

2021-2022 29.3%
2022-2023 30.3%
2023-2024 30.2%
Target 43.0%
Performance  Action
National 
Benchmark

46.0%

2023-24 data is for the latest survey in Jun-2023; targets are for 
the full year 2023-24 

P
age 90



Appendix 3  

 

Notes 
This report set out progress on deliverables and key measures as outlined in the Council Plan 2023-25. The following 
table lists the deliverables and measures not included in this report, or where changes have been made: 

Occasionally key measures data reported in a previous quarterly report may be updated. Data may be updated for a 
variety of reasons, for instance updates to provisional data, where additional data is submitted after the report has been 
produced, or identification and resolution of data issues. Significant changes to data will be highlighted in the 
commentary.

Key 
 Deliverables Measures 

 
Strong Strong – performing strongly Strong – more than 5% better than target (2% better than target if the 

target is greater than 95%). 

 
Good Good – performing well Good 

 
Review 

Review – will be kept under review to ensure performance is brought 
back on track 

Review – more than 2% worse than target. 

 
Action Action – additional action will be/is being taken to bring performance 

back on track 
Action – more than 10% worse than target. 

 
Unknown No commentary has been received Data not available/Target not set. 

 
 

Measures Reporting 
Measures indicating the effectiveness of the Council’s new 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 

Measures to indicate the impact and progress of the strategy 
are currently being identified and will be included in future 
reporting. 

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4   

 
 

Adult Care - Portfolio Summary 

 Deliverable Progress Key Measures Against Target 

   
 

Progress is "good" for the majority of the Council Plan deliverables led by the 
portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Work alongside people with a learning disability, those recovering 
from mental ill health and/ or who are autistic to develop Council 
services to ensure they are tailored to meet individuals needs and 
help people achieve their personal goals (rated Good)  
In this quarter, we have worked with 53 people with a learning disability 
and/or who are autistic, to have outcome focussed support plans. This 
exceeds the quarterly target. Cumulatively, since April 2021, 762 people 
have been supported to develop an outcome focused support plan. 
 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Finalise the new ways of working with older people and people with a 
disability to increase their independence so that they remain part of 
their local communities (requires Review)  
Issue: Progress is being delayed by a shortage of homecare to support 
people to be independent in their own homes. This is a national issue and 
not unique to Derbyshire. Response: We are currently finalising the 
redesign of the Short-Term Service with implementation commencing 
January 2024. This will increase the capacity available to older people 

Page 93



Appendix 4   

 
 

requiring reablement intervention and help manage demand for Adult 
Social Care and Health services. 

 
 
 

There is a forecast overspend of £5.721m on 
the portfolio (after the use of £7.091m from 
earmarked reserves).  The main variances are: 
 

Purchased Services, £17.897m overspend - 
There has been an increase in hospital 
discharges and because there is an 
insufficient supply of home care and 
reablement services, this has driven 
increased placements into residential 
homes rather than into care at home. As a 
result, expenditure on independent sector 
placements has increased.Pressure on 
independent sector care home spend - hospital discharge into residential 
homes rather than care at home, insufficient supply of home care and 
reablement. 
Social Care Activity, £0.121m underspend - Underspend on staff pay and 
travel due to vacancies in the social work team.Various underspends 
across social work teams in localities, hospitals and in specialist teams . 
Information and Early Intervention, £0.425m underspend - Reduced 
activity and costs for alarm monitoring, housing related support and for 
some voluntary sector contracts.Reflects reduced activity/costs for alarm 
monitoring, housing related support and for some voluntary sector 
contracts. 
Direct Care, £7.375m underspend - provision, £1.9m overspend on care 
homes for older people and Community Care Centres stemming from the 
increased care needs of residents and £0.9m underspend across other 
Direct Care units.£4.7m underspend on Direct Care home care (high level 
of vacancies), £3.4m underspend on Direct Care day centres (reduced 
usage and re-provision), £0.9m underspend on Learning Disability 
residential units, £1.7m overspend on care homes for older people 
(increased care needs of residents). 
Commissioning and Service Delivery, £2.173m underspend - £0.6m 
underspend in respect of vacancies in the Business Services team and 
£0.5m underspend in respect of vacanices in the Commissioning, 
Contracts Team and Transformation Teams. Also, £4.5m of grant income 
received funding for Market Sustainability, which is offsetting increased 
fees paid out through Purchased Services. £0.7m underspend for 
Business Services (vacancies), £0.15m pay underspend on the 
Commissioning, Contracts Team and Transformation Teams (vacancies) . 
Underspend on BCF schemes (to be reallocated). 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Page 94



Appendix 4   

 
 

Unallocated budgets, £4.266m overspend - Includes £8m of budget 
savings targets which have not yet been allocated to service lines and 
£5m of estimated additional demand driven costs expected to arise based 
on current trends. These are offset by £2m of budget allocated to the 
portfolio for service pressures which is not anticipated to be 
required.Unachieved efficiencies of £6.8m . Projected underspend on 
23/24 budget pressures of £2.1m. Underspend on Exec Director's budget 
£0.1m (vacancy). 
Assistive Technology, £0.743m overspend - Projected overspend on 
disability equipment and telecare.Projected overspends on disability 
equipment (Pooled Budget with health) £0.583m and on Telecare 
£0.150m (increased uptake). 

 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £12.139m, with a further £3.009m 
target brought forward from previous years.  £2.157m of the in-year savings 
target of £12.139 will be achieved.  Action is being taken to ensure that the 
savings brought forward from previous years will be achieved before the end 
of the financial year. 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Demographic Growth - £5.711m ongoing - Reflects expected increases 
in customer numbers and impact on package spend and social work 
team time. Also included is base budget to replace the LD and Autism 
Grant. 

• Hospital Discharge pressure - £5.000m ongoing - Additional out of 
hospital spend, new hospital discharge protocol. 

• Former Independent Living Fund (ILF) Grant - £2.534m ongoing - Grant 
now included in base budget. 

• Invest to Save - £1.175m ongoing - Reducing pressure to provide 
resources to support transformation projects and efficiencies. 

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 95



Appendix 4   

 
 

• Mosaic hosting costs - £0.125m ongoing - Cost of external hosting of 
Mosaic system. 

• Social Care Reform - £0.300m one-off - Funding to support preparation 
for external inspection. 

• Inflation on PVI Contract Fees - £22.830m ongoing - Additional budget 
reflecting the April 2023 National Living Wage uplift and CPI. 

• Inflation on transport and catering supplies - £0.673m one-off -  
Other significant additional items of funding that the portfolio is expected to 
receive or has received since the budget was set are: 

• Former Independent Living Fund Grant (ILF) - £2.534m one-off - On 8 
March 2022, the Government confirmed that the former ILF recipient 
grant will continue to be paid to local authorities in 2022-23. 

 
• Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) - £5.000m one-off – grant 

used to support new hospital discharge protocol. 
 

• Additional Direct Payment claw back - £2.500m one-off – return of 
unused funds. 

 

Page 96



Appendix 5   
 

 
 

Children's Services and Safeguarding and Education - Portfolio 
Summary 

 Deliverable Progress Key Measures Against Target 

   

 

Progress is "good" for the majority of the Council Plan deliverables led by the 
portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Provide consistent, high quality early help and safeguarding services 
for children and families across Derbyshire (rated Good)  
A range of evidence from our quality assurance and performance 
framework continues to show consistency of approach and strong practice 
across the children's social care and early help workforce. This is in the 
context of increasing demand and activity throughout the social care 
system. 

Work with schools and other education providers to implement new 
strategies and support, to enable children and young people to 
achieve their educational potential and begin to catch up on learning 
they have missed due to COVID-19 restrictions (rated Good)  
Provisional 2022-23 data for the percentage of pupils reaching the required 
standard in Phonics suggest an improvement in our national rank position 
and a narrowing of the gap between disadvantaged and non-
disadvantaged pupils. Latest figures on the percentage of Derbyshire 16 to 
17 year olds in education, employment or training continue to track within 
the top quartile nationally. 

Page 97



Appendix 5   
 

 
 

 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Review how the Council delivers home to school transport for 
children with special educational needs ensuring the most effective 
use of resources (requires Review)  
Issue: This is a complex area with some significant risks particularly in 
terms of the required data and intelligence currently available to assess our 
statutory responsibilities and to support decisions to be able to deliver 
these in an efficient manner. Response: Work is now in place to start to 
implement and deliver the 12 month improvement plan. An independent 
lead for the implementation of the plan is in place and the improvement 
plan has been linked to both the SEND Executive Board and the Education 
Partnership. A decision-making team in now established and work is 
starting to move forward. 

 
 
Arial 

There is a forecast overspend of £17.901m on 
the portfolio.  The main variances are: 
 

Placements for Children in Care/unable to 
remain at home, £10.795m overspend - 
Expenditure on placements for children in 
care or alternatives to care is continuing to 
rise due to an increase in the number and 
cost of placements. The number of children 
requiring support is growing because the 
rate at which children enter care is greater 
than the rate at which children exit care and 
because alternatives to care often require 
long-term financial support leading to a growing number of arrangements 
to fund. Average cost increases are due to inflation and the need to make 
more higher cost placements with independent providers, excerbated by a 
shortage of foster care places.  There are also a greater number of 
children in arrangements which are alternatives to care, such as Special 
Guardianship Orders, many of which require long-term financial support. 
The projection takes into account plans to mitigate rising costs by £4m 
through increased activity to step down to less expensive care packages 
or care alternatives where those meet the needs of the child.   
Support for Children with Disabilities, £1.290m overspend - The 
overspend is primarily due to budget pressures arising from the need to 
provide high cost packages to support children with complex needs to 
remain with their families or maintain their current care placement. 
Children's Safeguarding services, £2.420m overspend - The overspend is 
made up of a number of areas all relating to demand pressures from 
greater numbers of children in care and children in need; including 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Page 98



Appendix 5   
 

 
 

children in care support expenditure and Quality Assurance and Child 
Protection teams. Increased use of agency staffing to cover social work 
vacancies and to provide care staff for temporary placement alternatives 
(when children can not stay at home but no placements are available for 
them) is also adding to the overspend. The projection takes into account 
plans to mitigate rising costs by £0.5m through procurement efficiencies 
and cost control measures. 
Home to School Transport, £2.670m overspend - Projected spend 
exceeds current allcoated budget due to an increase in the number of 
children eligible for Council funded transport and an increase in average 
costs. The increase in cost is due to both economic factors affecting 
contractors and an increased need for more specialised vehicles to 
transport individual children. The increase in demand for SEND transport 
is linked to the increase in the number of children with Education Health 
and Care Plans (EHCPs) which has increased by 16% over the last 12 
months. 
Education support services, £1.624m overspend - The overspend is 
primarily due to the costs of meeting the increased demand for EHCPs. 
Loss of grant funding for the Education Improvement Service impact of 
high rates of inflation on the costs of running traded services are also 
factors. The projection takes into account plans to grow income from 
traded services and reduce areas of overspend by £2m. 
Pensions payable to former staff, £0.245m overspend - These costs 
represent pension obligations payable to teachers and other staff 
previously employed by the Authority. The majority of the cost relates to 
staff who left under efficiency programmes during the early 1990s. 
Grant income and temporary efficencies, £1.190m underspend - 
Underspend includes temporary budget efficiencies from using grant 
income to meet existing spend, including a £0.771m DSG contrubution 
towards funding Early Help & Safeguarding, this reduces by 20% each 
year in line with school funding regulations. 

Page 99



Appendix 5   
 

 
 

Arial 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £0.500m, with a further £0.000m 
target brought forward from previous years.  The in-year savings target of 
£0.500 will be achieved.  The prior-year savings target of £0.000 will also be 
achieved. 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Home to School Transport - £1.084m one-off - The allocation 
recognises the greater numbers of children and young people with SEN 
and increased cost of journeys. £1.811m is held in the inflation 
contingency for further increases in transport costs. It is anticipated this 
will be needed to be drawn down in full. 

• Elective Home Education - £0.360m one-off - Over the last year 
nationally and locally there has been a large increase in the number of 
Electively Home Educated (EHE) children. Funding to extend the EHE 
team to meet statutory functions to manage applications, determine 
whether there are any safeguarding risks and assess whether their 
education is suitable. 

• Social Workers - £0.400m one-off - To fully fund the frontline social 
work structure and the market supplement, without the need to hold a 
level of vacancies which would be counter-productive in meeting the 
statutory demands to help, protect and care for children in Derbyshire. 
The market supplement payment for social workers in frontline 
children’s social work teams was introduced in July 2019 to support the 
Council’s recruitment strategy. 

Other significant additional items of funding that the portfolio is expected to 
receive or has received since the budget was set are: 

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 100



Appendix 5   
 

 
 

• Programmes Team - £0.392m one-off - One year funding via the 
Corporate Services and Transformation Programme Management 
Office budget to continue dedicated project resource to effect change 
and deliver one-off initiatives within Children’s Services. 

• Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) contribution to costs - £0.889m one-off 
– support for Early Help services. 

• Holiday Activities and Food Programme and Household Support - 
£8.262m one-off – grant to support families and vulnerable households. 

 

Page 101



Appendix 6   

 
 

Clean Growth and Regeneration - Portfolio Summary 

Deliverable Progress 

 

 

Progress is "good" for the majority of the Council Plan deliverables led by the 
portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Continue to work with Derbyshire businesses to support the creation 
of apprenticeship opportunities in key economic sectors, connecting 
people to local jobs 
 
During Quarter 2, four apprenticeships with three Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SME) have been formally supported by the Council's 
Apprenticeship Levy. The sectors in which the apprenticeships have been 
supported are Engineering, Automotive, Early Years and Digital 
sectors.  There are also seventeen apprenticeships across seven SMEs in 
the final stages of negotiation; these will be included in the next quarter’s 
report as until formal confirmation of the apprenticeships commencing, it is 
not appropriate to include these in Quarter 2 figures.   
 
At the end of Quarter 2, £172,117 of the Council's Apprenticeship Levy has 
been transferred to businesses. The cost of each apprenticeship differs in 
terms of type of course and the age of the apprentice and so no target has 
been set for the under-pinning performance measure. 
 

Page 102



Appendix 6   

 
 

Refresh and implement our approach to increasing levels of inward 
investment into the County 
 
Following the closure of the European Regional Development Fund's 
"Invest in D2N2" Programme, Derbyshire's investment opportunities and 
key development sites have continued to be promoted via the ‘Invest in 
Derbyshire’ website and other online outlets. 
 
Regarding enquiries, both existing and recent carry a great potential to 
increase levels of inward investment and create a significant number of 
new jobs in the county within the next 3 years. 
 
During Quarter 2, eight new enquiries have been received from both 
domestic and foreign investors, and been in the sectors of residential & 
development, manufacturing, and distribution mainly. An increased 
demand for freehold land and sites with mid-size industrial units has been 
recorded.  
 
Support continues to be provided to some large investments, whilst 
business expansion projects remain in the pipeline. 

 
 
 
 

There is a forecast underspend of £0.274m on 
the portfolio.  The main variances are: 
 

Economic Development, £0.621m 
underspend - The division is currently 
holding vacancies to assist with the 
restructure planned to take place in 2023-
24, this will allow the department to meet its 
saving targets. 
Economy and Regeneration Unachieved 
Savings, £0.385m overspend - This savings 
target will be achieved in 2024-25 when the 
department carries out its restructure. 

 

 
 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 103



Appendix 6   

 
 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £0.000m, with a further £0.385m 
target brought forward from previous years.  The in-year savings target of 
£0.000 will be achieved.  Action is being taken to ensure that the savings 
brought forward from previous years will be achieved before the end of the 
financial year. 
 

Page 104



Appendix 7   
 

 
 

Corporate Services and Budget - Portfolio Summary 

 Deliverable Progress Key Measures Against Target 

   

 

Progress is "good" or "strong" for all of the Council Plan deliverables led by 
the portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Implement the Asset Management Strategy and Property 2025 
programme, reviewing and rationalising our land and building assets 
and ensuring an effective plan is in place for the management of 
those we retain (rated Strong)  
The supporting strategies required for implementation are now completed 
and have been approved by Cabinet. A total of £2.91m has been raised so 
far this year from the sale of 17 property assets 

Embed the Council’s approved People Strategy to deliver the 
Council’s people ambition and the people priorities (rated Good)  
The figure of 4.7% for available hours lost to sickness for the year up to the 
end of September is below the 2023-24 target of 5.1% and for comparison 
the 2022-23 Quarter 2 year to date figure was 5.4%. 
 

Page 105



Appendix 7   
 

 
 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Average days between a job vacancy shortlisting and contract offer 
(Council, not including schools) (requires Action)  
Issue: The year to date average Time to Hire figure of 64.1 days is above 
the target for the year end of 50 days. Action: It is anticipated that 
changes to the related processes and an anticipated reduction in 
Disclosure and Barring Service check delays should see the average time 
to hire figure reduce during Quarters 3 and 4. The recruitment freeze which 
was introduced towards the end of Quarter 2 should also have a positive 
impact on time to hire figures during the remaining quarters of the year.  

Projected achievement of in-year budget savings (requires Action)  
Issue: Of the in-year savings target of £16.190m, £3.929m is forecast to 
be achieved. Action: The Council continues to review planned savings 
initiatives and explore, and implement, opportunities for further or 
alternative in-year efficiency measures to offset the ongoing budgetary 
pressures. 

 
 
Arial 

There is a forecast overspend of £0.942m on 
the portfolio.  The main variances are: 
 

Corporate, £0.365m overspend - This 
overspend is due to historic savings targets 
for Channel Shift which are being held 
centrally. 
Finance & ICT, £0.672m underspend - ICT 
has a significant underspend on salaries 
which is offsetting some of the spend on 
agency and the SOCITM consultants.  The 
position on the monitoring has not allowed 
for any draw down from reserves which is 
available to support the SOCITM 
consultants. 
The expenditure on the SAP Hana project, the implementation of the new 
Finance and Human Resources system, has been Capitalised. This 
means £1.500m SAP project spend has  been transferred to Capital and 
funded from borrowing, less £0.200m reserve funding for the SAP project 
that is no longer required. The total projected underspend on ICT is 
£0.966m. 
The  current SAP system is showing an overspend of £0.442m for 
maintence costs. The  reason for this overspend is an unachievable 
savings target of £0.670m as it was originally proposed that the new SAP 
Hana system would achieve process savings throughout the authority, as 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Page 106



Appendix 7   
 

 
 

the system has yet to be implemented these savings have not been 
achieved. 
Legal services, £0.243m underspend - This underspend is predominantly 
related to vacancies in Members & Management Services, the Business 
Centre due the reallocation of resources at different grades.It is also due 
to recharge income expected to be high as a result of the sustained 
increase in volumes, particularly around post. Due to a £0.779m 
overspend relating to the SAP system arising from an unachievable 
savings target of £0.670m originally proposed as a result of  process 
savings throughout the authority.This is partially offset by an underspend 
in the ICT section of £0.348m due to the number of vacancies. This 
underspend allows for the current costs of consultants and agency staff 
working in the section. 
The new MFD contract went live in July and so the charges for printing 
usage will be monitored closely in order to recover all costs back to the 
Business Centre. It is also a result of vacancies within the Coroners 
service. 
Human Resources, £0.251m underspend - The main underspend relates 
to vacancies of £0.200m. 
Transformation & Strategy, £0.915m underspend - This consists of the 
following:-  
An underspend on Project and Programme Management of £0.594m due 
to vacancies.  
An underspend of £0.522 In Strategy and Policy which is predominantly 
due to vacancies that are proving difficult to recruit to. 
MWOW and County Hall are showing an overspend of £0.201m due to 
insufficient funding. 
Corporate Property, £1.958m overspend - The Corporate Property 
Division overspend is due to savings targets not being met in year 
£0.752m and an estimated budget gap within the service of £0.372m. 
There are current vacancies of (£0.366m), service pressures carried 
forward from last year have now been approved (£0.175m), the Asset 
Valuation & Fees Services budget pressure bid is no longer required 
(£0.240m). Building Maintenance is showing an overspend of £0.360m 
due to a forecast loss on the Maintenance Trading Account (£0.548m) 
offset by inflation contingency funding (£0.188m). 
Whilst Corporate Property are carefully controlling expenditure against the 
remaining budget to avoid overspend, emergency demand is difficult to 
estimate and there is a risk that as the year progresses the forecast may 
change to an increased overspend position, as there is no reserve 
balance to mitigate this. 

Page 107



Appendix 7   
 

 
 

The grounds maintenance budget has been separated from the building’s 
maintenance budget. This element of the budget is for Vertas contracts 
only, inflation impact (£86k). 
Facilities Management is showing an overspend of £0.212m on the 
Cleaning and Caretaking budget due to relinquished budget in 2022/23 for 
site closure/rationalisation savings. It is also a result of a 9% price 
increase with Vertas, due to rises in the National Living Wage and CPI. It 
is hoped the price increase can be met through inflationary funding. This 
also incorporates the anticipated Cleaning & Caretaking redundancy costs 
from site closures of £0.150m. The Inflationary impact is £0.281m. 
On the County Buildings budget the majority of the income and 
expenditure relates to corporately operated buildings as a result of shared 
usage. Additionally Corporate Property assume responsibility for the 
running costs of buildings declared surplus or vacant if the asset is not 
sold or repurposed after 18 months. These running costs include utilities, 
security costs, rates and maintenance. The predicted overspend of 
£0.737m takes into account the inflation element of (£1.534m) which is 
now funded, The overspend includes expected in year budget savings of 
£0.252m, and in overspend of £0.484m. It is intended that budgets and 
expenditure from the departments will be moved across during October to 
implement phase 1 of the Corporate Landlord model.  
Whilst the Industrial development income target has been reduced by 
£0.400m, this has been offset by the introduction of three additional 
savings targets of £0.174m, therefore the net impact is a reduction of 
£0.226m. 
• The income target of £1.792m has been under recovered by £0.045m, 
with forecast income totalling £1.747m. 
• this is offset by a shortfall in the budget for running costs of £0.277m, 
with the forecast running costs totalling £0.406m and a budget of 
£0.129m. 
• The inflation impact of £0.014m has been considered, this is abroad 
estimate as the amount payable varies upon tenancy turnover 
The estate generates a surplus of £1.296m. 
 
Property Operations, £0.548m overspend - The DSO's deficit is a result of 
multiple factors. Firstly over £13m of work has been externalised such as 
Cleaning and caretaking and soft grounds maintenance to Vertas. 
Staffordshire Moorlands & High Peak external work with a value of around 
£0.800m has also ceased. There hasn't been a corresponding decrease in 
fixed costs which has led to a sustained overhead under-recovery, in 
addition, there have been more vacancies held due to the Construction 

Page 108



Appendix 7   
 

 
 

and Maintenance review and this has meant fewer productive hours and 
fewer overheads recovered. 
As a result of the DSO's deficit, the reserve balance has now been 
depleted and there is now no funding for training, Depot repairs & 
maintenance, early retirement costs and equipment. 

Arial 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £0.625m, with a further £2.094m 
target brought forward from previous years.  The in-year savings target of 
£0.625 will be achieved.  Action is being taken to ensure that the savings 
brought forward from previous years will be achieved before the end of the 
financial year. 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Leadership Development Programme - £0.300m one-off - To enable the 
second year of the Council's leadership development programme. 

• ODP-Business Partnering Hub & Spoke Transformation Model - 
£0.180m one-off - Aligned to the creation of the new Transformation 
and Strategy Division, this funding will enable the training for employees 
in Prince2, MSP and MoP to equip them with the right skills to ensure 
the Council delivers projects efficiently and successfully. 

• Corporate Property - Disposal Professional Fees - £0.446m one-off - To 
instruct property agents and solicitors required to deliver capital receipts 
for the forecasted five-year Disposals Programme. 

• Corporate Property - Demolition Budget - £0.550m one-off - To 
replenish the Corporate Revenue Demolition Budget which is already 
fully committed for this financial year. 

• Corporate Property - Asset Valuations & Fees - £0.324m one-off - 
Additional fees required to meet the statutory requirement to value the 

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 109



Appendix 7   
 

 
 

Council’s Property Asset base including the newly introduced IFRS 16 
valuations. 

• Corporate Property - Commercial Appraisal Officers - £0.229m one-off - 
Development Appraisal Team required to accelerate asset appraisals. 

• Corporate Property - Carbon reduction for Corporate Buildings - 
£0.400m one-off - To support the carbon reduction programme for 
corporate buildings. 

• Corporate Property - CCTV Installations / Rationalisation - £0.179m 
one-off - To implement outcomes of CCTV Governance investigations in 
order to bring the Council into a position of compliance with the 
Information Governors Code of Practice. 

• Corporate property-Decommissioning, Dilapidations & Staff Relocations 
- £0.501m one-off - To decommission buildings that are closing and 
being disposed of. 

• Corporate Property - Project Co-ordination Pool - £0.143m one-off - To 
add additional resource for internal projects to achieve the asset 
rationalisation programme. 

• Corporate Property Running Costs-Inflation/Contingency - £5.663m 
one-off - To cover increased property running costs including utility 
costs. 

• Legal Services-Staffing budget deficit - £0.952m ongoing - To ensure 
the Legal Services salaries budget meets the costs of the current 
structure. 

• Legal Services-Child Protection - £0.850m ongoing - Jointly endorsed 
pressure by Legal Services and Children's Services to secure funding to 
cover the budget deficit for children in care proceedings. 

• ODP-Vision Derbyshire Annual Contribution - £0.087m ongoing - The 
funding is to support the ongoing implementation of the Vision 
Derbyshire approach in particular the funding of the programme team.

Page 110



Appendix 8   
 

 
 

Health and Communities - Portfolio Summary 

 Deliverable Progress Key Measures Against Target 

   

 

Progress is "good" or "strong" for the majority of the Council Plan deliverables 
led by the portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Deliver £1.5 million of grant awards to promote positive behaviours 
for young people and residents, improve local networks, help people 
to feel safer, and encourage sustainable and green activity (rated 
Strong)  
Since the implementation of the programme in February 2022, 250 grants 
to the value of £1,391,305 have been approved. 

Provide support to people and communities in need, including 
financial help from our Discretionary Fund and other activities that 
promote financial inclusion and tackle cost of living pressures (rated 
Good)  
Throughout Quarter 2 the Council has continued to provide support to 
people and communities in need, including financial wellbeing via the 
Derbyshire Discretionary Fund. Demand for these services continues to be 
high due to the rise in the cost of living. Demand for Emergency Cash 
Payments also continues to be very high. 
Demand for the Public Health Advisory Service continues to be high in both 
GP surgeries and community settings. 

Page 111



Appendix 8   
 

 
 

Work with partners to enable people to lead healthier lives by 
supporting people to take part in physical activity, to stop smoking 
and manage their weight (rated Good)  
In Quarter 2, demand for Live Life Better Derbyshire services to stop 
smoking, achieve a healthy weight and become more physically active 
remains strong and on track to achieve its annual targets. 
Physical activity transformation work is continuing to develop a partnership 
approach to physical activity services. The physical activity agreement and 
specification is written and being reviewed. 
Walk Derbyshire innovation programme is progressing well and work has 
started delivering the four neighbourhood pilots. 

Work with partners to promote positive mental wellbeing and improve 
support for local people, with a particular focus on children and 
young people and suicide prevention (rated Good)  
The Director of Public Health annual report was published and focused on 
mental health and wellbeing. 
The Mental Health and Suicide Prevention team attended a number of 
events throughout Quarter 2 to promote awareness and have conversation 
about mental health and suicide prevention, including Y Not Festival, pride 
events, football matches and a Baton of Hope event in Glossop. 

Deliver health and wellbeing advice and coaching to prevent, reduce 
and delay the need for adult social care services (rated Good)  
The team are actively supporting a total of 228 people and have received 
97 new introductions in Quarter 2. 
The new website, online initial contact form and outcomes capture form 
introduced on 1 April 2023 are now fully operational. 
 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Work with partners to welcome refugee families into Derbyshire and 
developed a countywide response to the implementation of asylum 
dispersal (requires Review)  
Issue: The provision of accommodation and support for those seeking 
asylum is becoming a significant issue, the funding available for central 
government support is being passported to Districts and Borough Councils. 
Response: Whilst there is no funding available to upper tier authorities, the 
Council is providing support to partners and engaging in multi-agency 
meetings. Moving forward, consideration needs to be given to the role the 
Council can play in relation to the co-ordination of a countywide response 
to the roll out of asylum dispersal. 

 
 

Page 112



Appendix 8   
 

 
 

Arial 

There is a forecast underspend of £0.288m on 
the portfolio. 
Public Health Falls Pathway iBCF underspend 
of £85k moved into iBCF reserve. 
The main variances are: 
 

Registrars, £0.082m underspend - Income 
from weddings seems to have decreased at 
several offices. This is due to the current 
financial climate, with a significant number 
of ceremony cancellations or that the price 
increase of 10% for 2023-24 has also been 
applied. Essential staff vacancies have 
been applied to be filled.  
One ceremony room, that was previously closed due to health and safety, 
has been decorated and reopened for business so could generate 
additional income. Staffing has been adjusted to meet the manning hours 
needed for the new opening hours. The Bakewell registry office is due to 
have some free publicity which may increase bookings and therefore 
overall income levels. 
Trading Standards, £0.154m underspend - Vacancies. 
Coroners, £0.130m underspend - The forecast underspend is a result of 
vacancies within the section, the Senior Coroner post has also now been 
recruited to.  
Further on-going costs relating to a high profile case have been forecast, 
although these are anticipated to be less than the previous year. 
Community Safety, £0.086m underspend - The underspend is a result of 
not undertaking one-off projects, which has meant less expenditure in 
year. 

Arial 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 113



Appendix 8   
 

 
 

Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Domestic Abuse - £1.417m ongoing - The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
has introduced statutory duties in the provision of emergency 
accomodation for victims of domestic abuse and their families. To 
enable the development and delivery of a long term comprehensive 
commissioning strategy, this bid seeks to confirm the availability of 
funding on an ongoing basis and make a temporary post permanent. 
This bid puts the base budget in but will be offset by a general grant 
received in later years. 

• Community Safety - £0.254m ongoing - Funding to support new activity 
required to meet statutory duties in respect of community safety, i.e. the 
imminent Serious Crime White Paper. The funding is for 3 posts and a 
project fund to support commissioned activity. 

• Trading Standards - £0.046m one-off - New APP/Flare Database due to 
current system coming to the end of its contract. 

• Public Health - £-11.137m one-off - Contain Outbreak Management 
Fund Grant income with end date of 30th Sep 2024. 

• ASCH Prevention Household Support Fund - £2.006m ongoing - 
Household Support Fund Govt Grant now extended to 31st March 2024 
so associated budget pressures from 2024-25. 

 

Page 114



Appendix 9   
 

 
 

Highways Assets and Transport - Portfolio Summary 

 Deliverable Progress Key Measures Against Target 

   

 

Progress is "good" for the majority of the Council Plan deliverables led by the 
portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Deliver a £47 million Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) in 
partnership with Derbyshire bus operators and establish a 3-year 
programme to develop and improve bus frequency, connectivity, 
usage and affordability (rated Good)  
The Department for Transport BSIP Relationship Manager visited 
Derbyshire during Quarter 2 and following receipt of year 2 funding, work 
continues at pace. 17 additional bus services commenced, all with greater 
frequency and extension into the evenings and weekends in many 
communities around Derbyshire. 
 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Complete the delivery of a £120 million 3-year Local Transport 
Programme (LTP) to provide well managed roads and highways and 
address road safety concerns (requires Review)  
Issue: Captured costs in the Council’s financial management system so far 
for the year to the end of Quarter 2 amounted to £16.4m, however 
delivered work on the ground was in excess of £19m. The repair of road 
defects on time has continued to decline and issues, accelerated by 

Page 115



Appendix 9   
 

 
 

unseasonal adverse weather conditions, have impacted on the rate of 
repair; the treatment required still exceeds the budget available. 
Response: A further £22.5m of work is programmed for the remainder of 
the current financial year and every effort is being made to increase this to 
achieve the 2023-24 target of £43m to deliver the programme within 
timescales. Any shortfall in this amount will be carried forward to the start 
of the 2024-25 financial year. 

 
Arial 

There is a forecast overspend of £7.327m on 
the portfolio. 
The budget has been increased to reflect 
£2.725m which has been given for inflation on 
Highways Reactive Maintenance Costs and 
Inflation on Publilc Transport. 
The main variances are: 
 

Public and Community Transport, £2.046m 
underspend - Due to additional Local 
Transport Funding (LTF) being received in 
year and some staffing costs being funded 
from the Bus Service Improvement 
Programme (BSIP) Funding. 
Highways Administration/Hub, £0.425m overspend - Increased staff costs 
to cover backlogs in Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs).The overspend 
relates to increased staffing resources. 
Highways Design and Land Reclamation, £0.544m overspend - Under 
recovery on capital salary and an increase in agency costs.The overspend 
is due to the capital recharge model being unachievable, as it is built 
around an unachievable in-house resource. 
Construction Services, £0.827m overspend - Staff costs anticipated to be 
chargeable to capital budgets are lower than budgeted and more general 
under-recovery from highways works. £0.230m of utility related inflation 
costs are included in this forecast.The overspend is due to an overly 
ambitious income target on contract supervision which to date hasn't been 
achievable. 
Network Planning, £1.241m overspend - Unfunded implementation of the 
new Alloy and Kaarbontech systems that are being introduced this 
year.The overspend in part is due to insufficient budget being allocated to 
fund the highways asset management system, as it was originally thought 
this would be funded from capital. 
Highways Maintenance Works, £0.899m overspend - Increased reactive 
maintenance works being carried out.The overspend is due to increased 
reactive maintenance works being carried out to repair the County’s roads 
and footways to meet the Council’s statutory requirement. 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Page 116



Appendix 9   
 

 
 

Winter Maintenance, £0.747m overspend - The budget for is only 
sufficient to cover a mild winter season, the current prediction is based on 
the average costs for the last five years. The balance of £0.280m available 
in the Winter Maintenance Reserve will be fully drawn to offset some of 
this overspend.The allocated budget for winter is only sufficient to cover a 
mild winter season. The current prediction is based on the average costs 
for the last five years winter periods. There is £0.280m available in the 
Winter Maintenance Reserve that will be used to top up this budget. 
Accelerated Capital Delivery, £0.726m overspend - Unfunded staffing 
costs associated with the delivery of the Manifesto Pledge of a £120m 
capital delivery programme.This relates to programme managers 
delivering the capital programme not being able to allocate their time to 
the capital budget. 
Highways Savings Yet to be Achieved, £2.212m overspend - Savings 
targets relating to iniatives previously identified but not yet achieved.These 
relate to unachievable savings initiatives not being able to be delivered. 
Unachieved Resources and Improvement Saving, £0.503m overspend - 
These relate to unachievable savings initiatives not being able to be 
delivered. 
Council Fleet Services, £0.599m underspend -  
Unallocated Savings, £2.125m overspend -  

Arial 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £0.500m, with a further £3.671m 
target brought forward from previous years.  £0.000m of the in-year savings 
target of £0.500 will be achieved.  Action is being taken to ensure that the 

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 117



Appendix 9   
 

 
 

savings brought forward from previous years will be achieved before the end 
of the financial year. 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Highways Reactive Maintenance - £2.500m one-off - .As the highways 
authority the Council has a statutory duty to maintain highways. 
Reactive maintenance is necessary whereby the Council is required to 
attend to defects on the highways and in response to emergency 
situations such as flooding. The Highway Service operates an out-of-
hours service and is developing procedures to allow quicker response 
times. Neglecting this duty can lead to claims against the Council for 
damages. The current delivery model is being reviewed under the 
ongoing work in the Derbyshire Highways Programme. 

• Highways - £2.000m ongoing - Current budgets within the Highways 
Service were set on an historic organisational structure with an income 
target that is not achievable with the current level of staff resource, this 
will allow the service to set a realistic capital recharge recovery rate. 

• Bus Companion Service - £0.150m ongoing - Introducing a Companion 
Service will allow a discretionary service to provide free travel to a 
family member or carer when they accompany Gold Card holders. 

• Commercial Services - £1.000m ongoing - Most of the local bus 
services in Derbyshire are run commercially. Providers have withdrawn 
from certain routes as they are no longer commercially viable. Where 
there isn’t a commercial case to operate specific local bus routes across 
Derbyshire, then the Council – in its role as Local Transport Authority 
(LTA) – can consider funding a service to maintain services where there 
is a social, economic, and environmental need for them to operate key 
routes in the county. 

• Restructure of Intergrated Transport Unit - £0.200m ongoing - A service 
restructure is required to ensure adequate resources are in place to 
meet current and future demands and challenges, improve service 
delivery and efficiency, meet the Council’s statutory duties, and 
administer the Bus Services Improvement Plan (BSIP) grant. 

 

Page 118



Appendix 10   
 

 
 

Infrastructure and Environment - Portfolio Summary 

Deliverable Progress 

 

 

Progress is "good" for 2 out of the 4 Council Plan deliverables led by the 
portfolio. 

Finalise and implement a new Digital Strategy for Derbyshire, 
including support for the roll out of gigabit technology 

Both the Digital Strategy and Action Plan have now been finalised. It is 
expected to be approved by Cabinet by early November. Project Gigabit 
Type B contract is due to be awarded by November, with the Type A in 
January 2024. Following both contract awards, a list of all properties will be 
received from Building Digital UK and the chosen supplier will intervene so 
that properties within those areas will be de-scoped. This then leaves a 
clear indication of where intervention and implement of the Action Plan is 
required. 

Work with partners to finalise the regional response to the Integrated 
Rail Plan, including a refreshed HS2 Growth Strategy, an action plan 
to prepare for Midland Mainline electrification and implementation of 
Restoring Your Railways programme 

The Barrow Hill Line has passed another important milestone with the 
Department for Transport's Restoring Your Railways (RYR) Programme 
Board finalising the project scope by confirming rail stations at Barrow Hill 
and Killamarsh for further development during the Outline Business Case 

Page 119



Appendix 10   
 

 
 

(OBC) Stage. Network Rail has commenced OBC preparation during this 
period and is on track for completion by end March 2024. RYR Ivanhoe 
Line project remains on track for meeting a milestone of OBC submission 
in December 2023. High Speed 2 (HS2) Ltd and Network Rail are 
progressing HS2 Eastern leg workstreams, which are programmed to 
complete March 2025, to de-risk Integrated Rail Plan proposals and 
minimise future late changes to the project by considering cost and carbon 
emission opportunities. The Council has held ongoing liaison with Network 
Rail about the future Midland Mainline Electrification work programme in 
Derbyshire, but there is no further progress to report for Quarter 2. 

 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Develop the Local Nature Recovery Strategy for Derbyshire in 
accordance with the Environment Act 2021, for the coordinated 
benefit of Derbyshire's natural environment (requires Review)  
Issue: The Council is the 'Responsible Authority' for the production of 
Derbyshire's Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) and has been 
awarded a grant of circa £400k from the the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs. The timescale for delivery is tight as the deadline is 
March 2025 and ongoing budgetary pressures could have implications for 
delivery. Response: Progress will be kept under review. 

Submit the planning application and continue to progress proposals 
for the Chesterfield to Staveley Regeneration Route, which will create 
new homes and jobs for the area (requires Action)  
Issue: The Council is awaiting a decision from Government about the 
Outline Business Case. It was reconsidered in August, however no 
decision has been communicated to date. Action: Officers, members, local 
MPs and partners have all contacted the Government to stress the 
importance of the project, and the need for certainty over its funding. 

 
 
Arial 

There is a forecast underspend of £0.206m on 
the portfolio. 
The figures above include a total of £3.583m 
waste related inflation. 
The main variances are: 
 

Waste Management, £2.375m underspend - 
This Service area has seen an increase of 
inflation totalling £3.583m along with a 
tonnage decrease in the region of 6%. The 
contracts that are in place for waste 
disposal and treatment contain binding 
indexation mechanisms which pass the 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Page 120



Appendix 10   
 

 
 

impact of inflation to the Council. The inflation cost has been met from the 
Corporate Inflation Reserve. 
Planning and Development Control Savings Target, £0.231m overspend - 
A staffing restructure is currently out for consultation for this area if this is 
progressed as is it is thought that savings in the region of £0.232m will be 
made this current year with the balance being achieved in 2024-25 when a 
full years savings can be realised. 
Unallocated Savings, £2.125m overspend - Savings allocated to the 
portfolio but not yet allocated to specific areas. Options are being looked 
at as part of the 2024-25 budget setting process to allow Place to realise 
some of these savings. 

Arial 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £0.350m, with a further £3.118m 
target brought forward from previous years.  The in-year savings target of 
£0.350 will be achieved.  Action is being taken to ensure that the savings 
brought forward from previous years will be achieved before the end of the 
financial year. 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Elvaston Master Plan - £0.050m ongoing, £0.340m one-off - The 
Elvaston Masterplan requires targeted activity to develop and test the 
business case for the Masterplan. This will help ensure sustainable and 
commercially viable solutions are secured for the estate. 

• Grounds Maintenance - £0.365m ongoing - The Countryside Service 
has developed a business plan which establishes the service’s strategy 
and operational priorities over the medium term. Funding is required to 
enable a bespoke grounds maintenance schedule of work and 
appropriate allocation of resources across the Council’s 123 countryside 
sites. 

• Ash Die Back - £0.450m one-off - The Council is undertaking a step 
change in tree-planting across the county driven by its Climate Change 

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 121



Appendix 10   
 

 
 

Strategy, Nature Recovery Motion, and its anticipated role as 
responsible authority for the Derbyshire Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy. The target is to facilitate the planting of up to one million trees 
by 2030, and to ensure delivery of the Council’s Ash Die Back Action 
Plan. 

 

Page 122



Appendix 11   
 

 
 

Strategic Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate Change - Portfolio 
Summary 

 Deliverable Progress Key Measures Against Target 

   

 

Progress is "good" for the majority of the Council Plan deliverables led by the 
portfolio. 

Key areas of success are: 
Embed the new Portfolio Management approach and framework 
across the Council to ensure that programmes and projects are 
coordinated and deliver improved outcomes and value for money 
(rated Good)  
The Portfolio Management Implementation Programme is preparing to 
move as scheduled into the Closure Stage. The Portfolio Management and 
Transformation Function sitting within Corporate Services and 
Transformation has achieved full operating capacity through the successful 
transition of the programme and project management resource which 
transferred to the corporate function in July 2023. 

Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from Council property, vehicles 
and street lighting to 12,310 tonnes CO2e by 2024 and net zero by 
2032 (rated Good)  
The Council has made good progress towards its net zero target of 2032, 
or sooner, with a provisional 71.3% reduction in Council emissions 
achieved between 2009-10 and 2022-23 (from 42,965 tonnes CO2e to 
12,338 tonnes CO2e). However, the speed of reduction is at risk of slowing 

Page 123



Appendix 11   
 

 
 

down, highlighting that further effort is required to reduce the Council's 
emissions. 
 

Key areas for consideration are: 
Refresh and implement our Library Strategy to ensure a modern, 
efficient and improved service (requires Review)  
Issue: Further to the relaunch of the former Library Strategy in September 
2021 there has been no further response from community groups 
regarding Community Managed Libraries (CML). Response: The 
implementation focus of the Library Strategy is shifting from CML (although 
proposals will still be considered as and when they come forward) to 
sustaining the service through co-location/relocation. 

Support a resident-focused approach through a range of mechanisms 
to improve access to online services and customer service 
performance including implementing a complaints and feedback 
system (requires Review)  
Issue: In support of a resident focused approach, 153 services have been 
made available on line, working towards and end of year target of 160 
services. Progress on the Council’s new Customer Service Portal is 
delayed, however, whilst priorities for ICT resources are reviewed. 
Response: Priorities are also being reviewed with each service area in 
terms of resource available to continue with the agreed road maps. 

Deliver the Derbyshire Cultural Framework to support the creative 
and cultural sectors to become more resilient, grow and capitalise on 
new opportunities (requires Review)  
Issue: There is currently £1m in the cultural recovery framework reserve to 
support delivery of the cultural framework. This funding has been identified 
as potential to be used to support the Council's current budget situation. 
Response: This activity is obviously important to the council but it is not a 
statutory service. 

Work with partners towards the production of a Development 
Framework that provides a positive unified vision for the Derwent 
Valley Mills World Heritage Site (DVMWHS), that highlights 
development possibilities, and identifies the infrastructure that is 
needed to release the site’s potential (requires Review)  
Issue: There is a high level of support for the production of a Development 
Framework, especially with the advent of the Levelling-up Bill, which 
specifically mentions WHSs, and the formation of the East Midlands 
Combined Authority. Unfortunately the Council's financial position is likely 

Page 124



Appendix 11   
 

 
 

to impact on the Development Framework's production. Response: 
Progress will be kept under review. 

Residents’ survey measures (requires Action)  
Issue: The results from the Pulse Survey of residents carried out in June 
2023 remain similar to those from the main survey carried out in Autumn 
2022 and are below target. Action: In order to address some of the 
findings from the surveys a high-level action plan is being implemented. 
The action plan sets out activity to increase the proportion of residents that 
positively view the Council and its services and widening and enabling 
participation across demographic groups. 

 
 
Arial 

There is a forecast overspend of £0.232m on 
the portfolio.  The main variances are: 
 

Communications, £0.169m underspend - A 
reduction in publicity expenditure. There is 
an underspend after the unachievable 
income target has been removed, also a 
reduction in the publicity expenditure and 
vacancies. 
Call Derbyshire, £0.086m overspend - The 
main overspend relates to the Granicus 
licence fee (£0.145m) being unfunded. 
Libraries, £0.343m overspend - £0.218m 
related to property inflation. The balance is due to unachieved savings 
targets.The overspend is due to historic savings that the service have not 
to date been able to achieve. 

Arial 

The budget savings target for 2023-24 is £0.156m, with a further £0.645m 
target brought forward from previous years.  The in-year savings target of 
£0.156 will be achieved.  Action is being taken to ensure that the savings 

Forecast Outturn against 
Target Budget

Forecast Under (-)/Over Spend by Service Line

Page 125



Appendix 11   
 

 
 

brought forward from previous years will be achieved before the end of the 
financial year. 
Additional funding has been provided in the 2023-24 budget for the main 
growth items: 

• Business Change - £0.180m one-off - Aligned to the creation of the new 
Transformation and Strategy Division, this funding will enable the 
training for employees in Prince2, MSP and MoP to equip them with the 
right skills to ensure the Council delivers projects efficiently and 
successfully. 

• Vision Derbyshire - £0.087m ongoing - The funding is to support the 
ongoing implementation of the Vision Derbyshire approach in particular 
the funding of the programme team. 

 
 

Page 126



Appendix 12 
 

 
 

Traded Services 
 
Fully Traded 
‘Fully traded’ trading areas are separately identifiable and have a net controllable budget of £0, i.e. there is an 
expectation that on average all the controllable expenditure within this area will be funded from external income. 
 

Projected Gross 
Controllable 
Expenditure* 

Projected 
Gross 

Controllable 
Income 

Forecast 
Contribution/ 
Deficit(-) to 

General 
Overheads 

Portfolio Service 
Area Trading Area 

£m £m £m 

Performance 
Is Contribution/ 

Deficit transferred 
to Earmarked 

Reserves? 

CSB Finance & 
ICT 

IT Support 
Services 

0.649  0.691  0.042   No 

CSB HR Schools Advisory 
Service 

0.431  0.513  0.082   No 

CSB HR Work Experience 0.105  0.109  0.004   No 
CSB Corporate 

Property  
Direct Service 
Organisation 
Operations 
(Turnover at 
period 6) 

19.784  19.236  (0.548)  Yes 

CSB Finance & 
ICT 

Finance School 
Support Team 

0.363  0.387  0.024   No 

CSSGE School 
Catering 

School Catering + 
FSM checking 

29.157  28.799  (0.358)  No 

CSSGE SORE Swimming 1.460  1.447  (0.013)  No         
 Total     51.949  51.182  (0.767)    

  
*This is the expenditure remaining after any costs have been recharged to other service areas internal to the Council. 

P
age 127



Appendix 12 
 

 
 

Partially Traded 
‘Partially traded’ trading areas do not have a net controllable budget of £0, but they do receive income from external 
entities which contributes to funding some of the discretionary services they provide. 
 

Budgeted 
Income Target 

Projected Actual 
Income 

Forecast Excess/ 
Shortfall(-) compared 

to Target Portfolio Service Area Trading Area 

£m £m £m 

Performance 

CSB Legal and 
Democratic 

Legal Services 0.549  0.522  (0.027)  

CSB Finance & ICT Exchequer 0.290  0.243  (0.047)  
CSB Corporate 

Property 
Disability Design 
Team (DFG agency 
fees) 

0.087  0.087  0.000   

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Estates 0.154  0.144  (0.010)  

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Energy Management: 
Commissioning Fees 

0.070  0.070  0.000   

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Energy Management: 
Display Energy 
Certificates 

0.016  0.012  (0.004)  

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Energy Management: 
Fire & Rescue Svc 
Database Mgt 

0.006  0.006  0.000   

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Asbestos Surveys 0.049  0.049  0.000   

CSB Corporate 
Property 

SMHP Repairs & 
Maintenance Contract 
Mgt Fee 

0.000  0.000  0.000   

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Fire Risk Assessment 
Surveys 

0.005  0.005  0.000   

P
age 128



Appendix 12 
 

 
 

Budgeted 
Income Target 

Projected Actual 
Income 

Forecast Excess/ 
Shortfall(-) compared 

to Target Portfolio Service Area Trading Area 

£m £m £m 

Performance 

CSB Corporate 
Property 

County Buildings  0.503  0.479  (0.024)  

CSB Corporate 
Property 

Industrial 
Development 

1.528  1.742  0.214   

CSB HR Occupational Health 
Services 

0.072  0.130  0.058   

CSB HR Learning & 
Development 

0.377  0.253  (0.124)  

CSB HR H&S 0.082  0.107  0.025   
CSB HR Payroll Services 1.274  1.311  0.037   
CSSGE Education & 

Improvement 
Various 0.816  0.453  (0.363)  

CSSGE SORE Outdoor Education & 
Sport 

2.314  2.181  (0.133)  

CSSGE SEMH Services Behavoural Support 0.319  0.320  0.001   
CSSGE Adult Education Adult Education 0.267  0.250  (0.017)  
CSSGE Education 

Psychology 
Education Psychology 0.597  0.798  0.201   

CSSGE Music Music 0.057  0.043  (0.014)  
CSSGE Children Missing 

Education  
Out of School Tuition 0.174  0.174  0.000   

CSSGE SEMH Services Positive Play 0.041  0.041  0.000   
CSSGE Early Years Early Years SEN 0.015  0.000  (0.015)  
CSSGE Information & 

ICT 
Various 1.313  1.178  (0.135)  

P
age 129



Appendix 12 
 

 
 

Budgeted 
Income Target 

Projected Actual 
Income 

Forecast Excess/ 
Shortfall(-) compared 

to Target Portfolio Service Area Trading Area 

£m £m £m 

Performance 

HC Public Health Mental Health course 
delivery 

0.000  0.000  0.000   

HC Public Health School Crossing 
Patrol SLA sites 

0.012  0.012  0.000   

HC CST Registrars 1.524  1.912  0.388   
HAT Highways 

Laboratory 
Highways Laboratory 0.100  0.016  (0.084)  

HAT Fleet Services Fleet Services 1.300  1.836  0.536   
IE Countryside Shops 0.269  0.341  0.072   
IE Countryside Cycle Hire 0.019  0.019  0.000   
IE Countryside Car Parking 0.501  0.363  (0.138)  
SLCTCC Organisational 

Development & 
Policy 

Crisis 
Communications 

0.043  0.046  0.003   

SLCTCC Place Derbyshire 
Environmental Studies 
Service 

0.113  0.005  (0.108)  

          
14.856  15.148  0.292   

 

P
age 130



Appendix 13 
Public   

 
 

Earmarked Reserves 
 
Earmarked Reserves as at 30 September 2023  

  
Adult Care £m 
Older People's Housing Strategy 12.766 
Prior Year Underspends 3.983 
Other reserves 0.028 
Total Adult Care 16.777 

  
Clean Growth and Regeneration  
Regeneration Kick-Start Feasibility Fund 1.985 
Skills Training 0.855 
Markham Environment Centre 0.114 
Other reserves 0.308 
Total Clean Growth and Regeneration 3.262 

  
Corporate Services and Budget  
Revenue Contributions to Capital 51.433 
Loan Modification Gains 23.114 
Insurance and Risk Management 15.543 
Business Rates Risks 6.568 
Budget Management 4.516 
Cyber Security 4.000 
Planned Building Maintenance 3.265 
Prior Year Underspends 3.059 
Investment Losses Contingency 2.500 

P
age 131



Appendix 13 
Public   

 
 

Property Insurance Maintenance Pool 2.400 
PFI Reserves 2.063 
Computer Purchasing 2.059 
Business Development and Economic Recovery Fund 2.035 
Demolition of Buildings 1.643 
Other reserves 4.219 
Total Corporate Services and Budget 128.417 

  
Childrens Services and Safeguarding and Education  
Tackling Troubled Families 4.882 
Prior Year Underspends 1.112 
Education Levelling Up 0.767 
Other reserves 0.632 
Total Childrens Services and Safeguarding and 
Education 7.393 

  
Health and Communities  
Homes for Ukraine Grant 10.415 
Domestic Abuse Contract Support 1.358 
Grant Funding Prospectus 1.009 
Domestic Abuse Grants 0.801 
Other reserves 1.210 
Total Health and Communities 14.793 

  
Highways and Transport  
Bus Services Improvement Plan Grant 6.357 

P
age 132



Appendix 13 
Public   

 
 

Prior Year Underspends 3.836 
Highway Development Control Interface 1.436 
Derby and Derbyshire Road Safety Partnership 0.611 
Other reserves 1.295 
Total Highways and Transport 13.535 

  
Infrastructure and Environment  
Digital Growth 2.440 
Waste Recycling Initiatives 0.573 
Elvaston Maintenance 0.158 
Bidding and Funding Team 0.100 
Other reserves 0.310 
Total Infrastructure and Environment 3.581 

  
Strategic Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change  
Climate Change 4.155 
Green Entrepreneurs 1.602 
Community Managed Libraries 0.912 
Cultural Recovery Fund 0.790 
Vision Derbyshire Economic Development Pilot 0.511 
Library Restructure 0.429 
Policy and Research 0.331 
Other reserves 0.825 
Total Strategic Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change 9.555 

P
age 133



Appendix 13 
Public   

 
 

  
Total Portfolio Earmarked Reserves 197.313 

  
Schools  
Schools Balances 33.300 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 0.275 

  
Total balances held for and on behalf of schools 33.575 

  
Public Health Grant 7.751 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 134



Appendix 14 
Public   

 
 

Budget Savings Monitoring 2023-24 
 
In-Year Savings Monitoring: 
 

  Deliverable in 2023-24    

  
Target 2023-24 

£m 
Ongoing 

£m 
One-Off 

£m 

Total 
Deliverable in 

2023-24 
£m 

Deferred to 
future years 
for delivery 

£m 

Alternative 
Savings to be 

delivered 
£m 

Adult Care 12.139 0.900 1.257 2.157 1.257 9.982 
Childrens Services 0.500 0.500 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.000 
Clean Growth and Regeneration 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Corporate Services and Budget  0.625 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.625 
Health and Communities 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Highways Assets and Transport 0.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 
Infrastructure and Environment 0.700 0.100 0.000 0.100 0.000 0.600 
Strategic Leadership, Culture, 
Tourism and Climate Change 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Other 1.726 1.172 0.000 1.172 0.000 0.554 
Total 16.190 2.672 1.257 3.929 1.257 12.261 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 135



Appendix 14 
Public   

 
 

Aggregated In-Year and Previous-Years Savings Monitoring: 
 
Budget Savings 
Monitoring 2023-24          

 Budget Savings Targets  Ongoing Savings Initiatives  Actual Savings Forecast  

Portfolio 

 
Not yet 

achieved 
Brought 
Forward 

 
Prior Year 

Current 
Year 

Total 
Target  

Total 
Identified 

(Shortfall)/ 
Additional 
Identified 

Savings  

Forecast to 
be achieved 
by Financial 

Year End 

Actual 
(Shortfall)/ 
Additional 

Achievement 
of Savings 

Target  
 £m £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  

AC 3.009 12.139 15.148  15.241 0.093  5.513 (9.635)  
CSSGE 0.000 0.500 0.500  0.500 0.000  0.500 0.000  
CGR 0.000 0.000 0.000  0.385 0.385  0.000 0.000  
CSB 2.070 0.625 2.695  2.719 0.024  0.781 (1.914)  
HC 0.000 0.000 0.000  0.000 0.000  0.000 0.000  
HAT 3.671 0.500 4.171  0.000 (4.171)  0.000 (4.171)  
IE 2.767 0.700 3.467  1.293 (2.174)  0.432 (3.035)  
SLCTCC 0.521 0.000 0.521  1.043 0.522  0.601 0.080  
Other 0.000 1.726 1.726  1.172 (0.554)  1.172 (0.554)  

           
Total 12.038 16.190 28.228   22.353 (5.875)   8.999 (19.229)  

 
 
 

P
age 136



Appendix 15 
Public 

   

 
 

Aged Debt 
 
Age profile of debt, relating to income receivable, at 30 September 2023 
 
 0 - 30 

days 
31 - 365 

days 
1 - 2 
years 

2 - 3 
years 

3 - 4 
years 

Over 4 
years 

Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Adult Social Care and 3.026  6.465  2.271  1.247  0.450  1.258  14.717  
Health 20.6% 43.9% 15.4% 8.5% 3.1% 8.5% 100.0% 
Children’s Services 0.710  0.545  0.133  0.009  0.001  0.006  1.404  
 50.6% 38.8% 9.5% 0.6% 0.1% 0.4% 100.0% 
Place 1.074  1.496  0.210  0.102  0.058  0.904  3.844  
 27.9% 38.9% 5.5% 2.7% 1.5% 23.5% 100.0% 
Corporate Services and 3.161  1.602  0.142  0.087  0.045  0.089  5.126  
Transformation 61.7% 31.3% 2.8% 1.7% 0.9% 1.7% 100.0% 
All Departments 7.971 10.108 2.756 1.445 0.554 2.257 25.091 
 31.8% 40.3% 11.0% 5.8% 2.2% 9.0% 100.0% 
 
 
Aged Debt over Time 
 

 
 
The value of debt written off in the 12 months up to 30 September 2023 
 
Department £m  
Adult Social Care and Health 0.400   
Children’s Services 0.014   
Place 0.093   
Corporate Services and Transformation 0.012   
All Departments 0.519   

 
 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

FOR PUBLICATION  
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

16 November 2023 
 

Report of the Director of Finance & ICT  
 

East Midlands Combined County Authority Financial Arrangements 
(Corporate Services and Budget) 

 
 

1. Divisions Affected 
 
1.1  County-wide. 
 
2. Key Decision 

 
2.1  This is a Key Decision because it is likely to result in the Council incurring 

expenditure which is, or savings which are, significant, having regard to 
the budget for the service or function concerned (this is currently defined 
as £0.500m) and it is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on 
communities living or working in an area comprising two or more electoral 
areas in the County. 

 
3. Purpose 
 
3.1 To approve the receipt of £0.250m of mayoral capacity funding allocated 

to the Constituent Councils which will form part of the East Midlands 
Combined County Authority (EMCCA) for the financial year 2023-24.  
 

3.2 To delegate to the Director of Finance & ICT acceptance of any future 
grants allocated to the Constituent Councils which will form part of the 
EMCCA for the financial year 2023-24.   

3.3 To note the Council is the accountable body for funding given on behalf 
of the EMCCA, and to confirm that the Council will be responsible for 
administrating the grants.  When the EMCCA is in full operation the 

Page 139

Agenda Item 6



 

 

organisation will be responsible for its own financial affairs and the 
Council will no longer be the accountable body.  
 

4. Information and Analysis 
 
4.1 As Cabinet is aware, the EMCCA Devolution Deal includes significant 

additional funding to the area. The key funding is set out in the table 
below: 

 

 
 

4.2 In view of the fact that Derbyshire County Council had been chosen to 
act as Accountable Body for the capital funding, a report was brought to 
Cabinet on the 23rd February 2023 to approve the receipt of £18.0m of 
capital funding to support the delivery of housing priorities and drive Net 
Zero carbon ambitions in the East Midlands.  .  

 
4.3 As set out above, as part of the EMCCA Devolution Deal, Central 

Government has agreed to provide revenue funding of £0.5m in Mayoral 
Capacity Funding in 2023-24.  Ministers agreed that an initial payment of 
£0.250m could be made to assist in the preparations for full 
implementation of the deal.  The payment was received on 30 June 2023.  
A further payment will be made later in 2023-24, subject to the ongoing 
viability of the deal and once the local Assurance Framework has been 
approved by DLUHC.   
 

4.4 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC  
requested a proforma be completed on how this funding will be spent; 
this was submitted at the end of July 2023.  DLUHC has since requested 
a second proforma be completed, to request the remaining £0.250m of 

Page 140



 

 

funding.  DLUHC has also requested an Implementation Plan, which was 
approved on 5 October 2023.  

 
4.5 To ensure a consistent approach, Derbyshire County Council will also 

be the accountable body for the revenue funding.  All income and 
expenditure will be processed through the Council’s finance system with 
regular monitoring reported through the governance structures in place. 
Cabinet is asked to approve receipt of the £0.250m Mayoral Capacity 
Funding already received and delegate authority to the Director of 
Finance & ICT to accept any future grants allocated to the Constituent 
Councils for the financial year 2023-24 as part of the Devolution Deal. 
The dates the grants will be released is unknown but there will be a 
requirement to spend within this financial year with several key pieces 
of work to be delivered using this funding.  Therefore delegation is 
requested to ensure this work can be delivered and obligations met 
without adding any delays. 

 
 
4.4 An allocation of £0.5m for 2023-24 is identified in the EMCCA Devolution 

Deal for transport.  This is to develop the following: 
• Local Transport Plan. 
• Public Transport Plan. 
• Highways and Key Route Network Plan. 

 
Funding is expected to be received later in the financial year. DLUHC has 
confirmed it is working with the Department of Transport to clarify the 
timescales for the release of the funding.  
 
 
 

4.5 An allocation of £0.918m for 2023-24 and 2024-25 is identified in the 
EMCCA Devolution Deal for housing.  This is to support the development 
of a pipeline of housing sites across the EMCCA area.  DLUHC has 
begun a business case process, in order for them to release the funding.  
In addition to this, Homes England has approved an additional £0.050m 
of capacity funding for 2023-24, which will be used to begin this work and 
more specifically to commission consultants to work with potential 
applicants, in order to develop projects and submit expressions of interest 
to be considered for the next stage.   
 

4.6  Under the Skills workstream of the EMCCA Devolution Deal, the Adult 
Education Budget will not be devolved until the academic year 2025-26.  
The Department of Education (DfE) has offered implementation funding 
for work to take place on the readiness conditions of the funding.  The 
DfE has awarded £0.738m across the period August 2023 to July 2025, 

Page 141



 

 

of which Derbyshire County Council as Accountable Body will receive 
£0.245m for the period 1st August 23 to 31st March 2024.  The EMCCA 
will receive the remaining funding once the organisation is formed in the 
next financial year.  This funding is given on a match funded basis and 
the Constituent Councils and EMCCA will be expected to provide match 
in the form of staff time to do the work. 

 
5. Consultation 
 
5.1  No consultation is required directly arising out of this report. 

 
6. Alternative Options Considered 
 
6.1  The alternative is not to receive the funding allocated to the Constituent 

Councils on behalf of the EMCCA.  However, if the funding is not received 
the work on the preparations for the implementation of the devolution deal 
would not be able to take place 

 
7  Implications 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
8.1  None identified.  
 
9.  Appendices 
 
9.1  Appendix 1 – Implications 

 
 

10. Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet: 

10.1 Approves the receipt of the £0.250m Mayoral Capacity funding 
awarded to the constituent councils on behalf of the EMCCA and notes 
that a further payment will be made later in 2023-24, subject to the 
ongoing viability of the deal and once the local Assurance Framework 
has been approved by DLUHC.  
 

10.2 Delegates authority to the Director of Finance & ICT to accept any 
future grants  allocated to the Constituent Councils which form part of 

Page 142



 

 

the EMCCA for the financial year 2023/2024 as part of the Devolution 
Deal. 
 

10.3 Notes that the Council, is the accountable body for this funding, will be 
responsible for administering the grants. 

 
11. Reasons for Recommendations 
 
11.1  This funding is over £0.500m and therefore requires approval by Cabinet 

in line with Financial Regulations. 
 
11.2  Delegation of the decision to the Director of Finance and ICT to accept 

grants for 2023/2024 will mean that further reports to Cabinet are not 
necessary in order to work can be delivered and obligations met for the 
financial year 2023/24.  
 

12. Is it necessary to waive the call in period? 
 
12.1  No 

 
 
Report 
Author: 

Sarah Wainwright Contact 
details: 

sarah.wainwright@derbyshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 
  

Page 143



 

 

Appendix 1 
Implications 
 
Financial 
 
1.1 This funding, which is above £0.500m, was not outlined in the Service 

Plan, as it was only announced by Government following signature of the 
EMCCA Devolution Deal in Autumn 2022.    
 

1.2 As the accountable body, the Council will be responsible for the 
processing of income and expenditure through the Council’s financial 
system and will report on budget monitoring to the governance structure 
in place.  This is important to ensure expenditure is kept within the 
available grants awarded from Central Government outlined in Section 4 
of this report. 

 
 
Legal 
 
2.1  The Council is receiving the Mayoral Capacity funding on behalf of the  

Constituent Councils who will form part of the EMCCA as part of the 
Devolution deal with Government 

  
 2.2 The Director of Legal and Democratic Services provides advice as 

necessary in relation to the responsibilities of theCouncil as 
Accountable Body and also in relation to specific projects which are 
supported by grant funding. 

 
2.3 As Accountable Body, the Council will be responsible for ensuring that 

any conditions associated with the funding are complied with. 
Appropriate arrangements will be put in place as necessary to ensure 
that the risk of clawback of funding is mitigated.  

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 None 
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 None 
 

Page 144



 

 

Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 The Council Plan values commit to spending money wisely, making the 

best use of the resources that the Council has. 
 
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 Part of this funding is towards work on the Net Zero agenda and will 

contribute towards the Council’s ambition of being a net zero carbon 
organisation by 2032, or sooner and for the county of Derbyshire to be 
net zero by 2050. 

 
 
 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET  
 

23 November 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Corporate Services and 
Transformation  

 
Digital Strategy, ICT Strategy, Target Operating Model and 

Implementation Plan for Derbyshire County Council’s Future ICT Service 
(Corporate Services and Budget) 

 
1. Divisions Affected 
 
1.1 County Wide. 
 
2. Key Decision 
 
2.1 This is not a key decision. 
 
3. Purpose  

 
3.1 To update Cabinet on the progress of the Digital Strategy, ICT Strategy, 

Target Operating Model (TOM) and Implementation Plan for Derbyshire 
County Council’s future ICT Service, and the proposal to make changes 
to the leadership structure.  

 
4. Information and Analysis 
 
Assessment of Derbyshire County Council’s ICT Service 
 
4.1 SOCITM Advisory conducted an assessment of the current state of 

Derbyshire County Council’s ICT Service, which has been explained in 
the exempt Cabinet Report ‘SAP Upgrade Programme and 
Procurement of an SAP Implementation Partner’, dated 19th October 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



 

 

2023. The conclusions of this assessment, have already been briefed to 
CMT, Cabinet and Opposition Leader, and have been used to inform 
the Digital Strategy and ICT Strategy. 

 
Technical Infrastructure Analysis 
 
4.2 The exempt SAP Upgrade Cabinet Paper noted that Derbyshire County 

Council has delivered its business process applications through a 
predominantly ‘on premises’ configuration, where the applications are 
hosted by Derbyshire County Council’s ICT service, and data storage is 
managed by the council. The council is currently storing c180TB of data 
on two sites, County Hall and Shand House, with 81% of its service 
delivery reliant upon ‘on premise’ applications. 75% of the council’s 
network infrastructure and 42% of its storage servers are already out of 
contracted support, with the remaining infrastructure and storage 
servers due to go out of contracted support from 2025-27. 

 
4.3 To determine the practical implications of migrating business 

applications and storage to a Software as a Service (SaaS) and Cloud 
storage configuration, an analysis of the council’s technical 
infrastructure has been conducted. The full report is being produced, 
and once complete will inform the ICT Strategy, and allow costing of an 
Implementation Plan. 

 
Digital Strategy 
 
4.4 The Council’s Digital Strategy is currently being developed and will be 

reported to a future meeting of Cabinet for consideration and approval. 
The Digital Strategy will define the council’s approach to systems and 
data use, to both drive and support service delivery in the future.  The 
key objectives of the emerging Digital Strategy are as follows. 

 
• To move to a modern cloud-based infrastructure with applications 

and data hosted in the cloud.   
• An integrated application landscape to provide efficient interoperable 

systems and processes. 
• Automate manual processes to provide additional capacity and 

deliver improved services to residents and the council.   
• Improve user experience by designing customer centric services.  
• Utilise an Enterprise Architecture function to provide architectural 

governance, proactive end to end solutions and reduced complexity. 
• Create a Business Information and Data Analytics function to 

harness to value of DCC’s data and use it to provide evidence and 
insight for proactive decision making.  

 

Page 148



 

 

4.5 The Digital Strategy will set out a Digital Strategy Vision, which will be 
described by three elements ‘Simplify, Digitise and Grow’. The emerging 
Digital Strategy describes how this will be delivered via three key 
themes to drive outcomes, ‘Technology & Integration, Design & 
Innovate and Scale, and Data Driven Decisions’. The themes are further 
developed into actions and roadmaps, as a high-level guide to 
implementation. 

 
ICT Strategy, Target Operating Model (TOM) and Implementation Plan. 
 
4.6 Alongside the Digital Strategy, the Council’s ICT Strategy is being 

developed and will also be reported to a future meeting of Cabinet for 
consideration and approval.  The ICT Strategy will define the ICT 
service necessary to deliver the Council’s Digital Strategy, identify a 
Target Operating Model (TOM) for that service, identify the gap between 
the current ‘as-is’ operating model and the future ‘to-be’ operating 
model, and describe an implementation plan to transition to the future 
state. The emerging ICT Strategy, TOM and Implementation Plan 
explains the following. 

 
• Operating Model Principles. 
• The Critical Success Factors of the Operating Model. 
• The ICT Function Definitions and Outputs the Operating Model will 

be required to meet. 
• TOM structure and leadership responsibilities. 
• Impacts of the TOM on other services areas. 
• Outline transition plan to April 2025. 

 
ICT Leadership 
 
4.7 Central to the effectiveness of the Digital Strategy, ICT Strategy, TOM 

and Implementation Plan is the future leadership of the ICT service. The 
drafts of the ICT Strategy recommend that the future service is led at 
Director level by a Chief Technology Officer (CTO), supported by an 
Assistant Director to lead Strategy and Enterprise Architecture, and 
Heads of Service to lead Service Management, Continuous 
Improvement and Business Support. The link to departments would be 
delivered through a Business Partner model. Together, this leadership 
team would manage and drive value from technology across the 
council, ensure effective oversight and continuous development of the 
ICT service, so that the council does not accumulate another technical 
deficit over time. The implications to the change in the leadership 
structure of the ICT Service will be the subject of a recommendation to 
the Head of Paid Service. 

 

Page 149



 

 

4.8 The Director level CTO role’s responsibilities would include the 
following. 

 
• Developing and implementing the Digital Strategy and ICT Strategy 

for the council, aligned with the council’s Ambition, Outcomes and 
Strategic Objectives. 

• Providing technical guidance and advice to the Managing Director, 
Executive Directors, Statutory Officers and other senior leaders on 
technology-related matters, such as innovation, digital 
transformation, security, privacy, and governance. 

• Holding responsibility for the totality of the council’s technology 
spend, to ensure cost effectiveness and value for money. 

• Monitoring and assessing the performance, efficiency, and 
effectiveness of the technology systems and solutions, identifying 
issues and opportunities for improvement or innovation. 

• Evaluating and selecting the appropriate technology vendors, 
partners, platforms, and systems for the council, negotiating 
contracts and managing relationships. 

• Overseeing and supervising the research and development of new 
technologies, products, or services that can improve service 
delivery. 

• Staying abreast of the latest technology trends and developments in 
the market, anticipating potential disruptions or opportunities for the 
council. 

 
4.9 The SOCITM Advisory stabilisation contract currently provides the 

leadership of the council’s ICT service at Assistant Director level, along 
with Heads of Service level capacity (namely Enterprise Architecture, 
Operations and Applications). The aim would be to recruit to the 
required future leadership roles as soon as possible, so that the 
SOCITM Advisory stabilisation leadership could be replaced by 
permanent leadership of the service to drive implementation of the 
Digital Strategy and ICT Strategy once approved. 

 
4.10 The Director level Chief Technology Officer’s salary would fall above the 

£100k salary threshold, which requires agreement at Full Council. The 
role could be resourced in one of the following two ways. 
 
• Establish the role as a new role, with the salary found from an 

increase in the ICT revenue budget, or commensurate savings 
made elsewhere. Aside from the costs involved, this approach 
would increase the number of Directors in Corporate Services and 
Transformation (CST) to six, two of which are statutory roles 
(Director of Finance & ICT, Director of Legal & Democratic Services, 

Page 150



 

 

plus the Director of Property, and Director of Organisation 
Resilience, People & Communications). 

• An alternative approach would be to remove the Director of 
Transformation & Strategy role and replace it with the Chief 
Technology Officer’s role, retaining five Director roles in CST.  

 
4.11 The Director of Strategy & Transformation role was not filled when 

advertised in December 2022, due to a lack of suitable candidates, and 
because the needs of the role continued to evolve as the council’s new 
Portfolio Management Organisation (PMO) took shape. An Interim 
Director was appointed in April 2023 to bring in an improved Integrated 
Strategic Planning process for the council and reshape the Strategy & 
Policy Team in CST to better suit the council’s strategic planning needs. 
The interim contract was terminated at the start of October 2023 as a 
savings measure in the council’s ‘in-year’ cost reductions, with the line 
management of the two teams passing back to Director Organisation, 
Resilience, People & Communications (OPRC), and direction of the 
PMO and Strategy & Policy teams delivered by a combination of 
Director ORPC and Executive Director CST leadership. 

 
4.12 Retaining a Director of Transformation & Strategy, would increase the 

council’s capacity for strategic planning, but given the current climate 
the role can be mitigated by Executive Director CST. Of the two options 
above, the recommendation to the Head of Paid Service is that the 
Director Transformation & Strategy role in the council’s current structure 
is removed and replaced by a Director level Chief Technology Officer 
role to lead the future ICT service. 

 
5. Consultation 

 
5.1 As this is a report to Cabinet to note, there is no requirement to consult. 
 
6. Alternative Options Considered 
 
6.1 Not to provide an update report to Cabinet on the progress of the Digital 

Strategy, ICT Strategy, Target Operating Model (TOM) and 
Implementation Plan for Derbyshire County Council’s future ICT 
Service, and the proposal to make changes to the leadership structure. 
However, it is considered appropriate for Cabinet to be informed of the 
emerging strategies in advance of the report to full Council to approve 
the salary for the proposed new Director role. 
 

7. Implications 
 

Page 151



 

 

7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 
preparation of the report. 

 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 None identified. 

 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix 1 – Implications. 
 
10. Recommendation(s) 
 
That Cabinet note: 
 

a. The progress of the Digital Strategy, ICT Strategy, Target 
Operating Model (TOM) and Implementation Plan for Derbyshire 
County Council’s future ICT Service. 

b. That further development of the Strategies, TOM and 
Implementation Plan, an analysis of the council’s infrastructure to 
determine the upgrade costs and likely timeframe to move 
services from an ‘on-premise’ to a ‘cloud’ provision is ongoing, 
and will be the subject of further reporting. 

c. The analysis to date recommends a change to the future ICT 
Service’s leadership structure, and the establishment of a Chief 
Technology Officer, Director level leadership role, with overall 
responsibility for the council’s technical infrastructure, ICT service 
and the full costs of delivering them.  

d. The recruitment of a Chief Technology Officer, Director level role, 
and supporting Assistant Director and Heads of Service level 
capacity and capability, will allow the council to replace the 
stabilisation leadership currently provided by SOCITM Advisory. 

e. The implications to the change in ICT Service’s leadership 
structure will be the subject of a recommendation to the Head of 
Paid Service, so that approval can be sought from Full Council for 
the Chief Technology Officer, Director level salary, and 
recruitment to the structure can begin. 

 
11. Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

 
11.1 To ensure that Cabinet are informed of the progress of the Digital 

Strategy, ICT Strategy, Target Operating Model (TOM) and 
Implementation Plan for Derbyshire County Council’s future ICT 
Service, and the proposal to make changes to the leadership structure. 

 

Page 152



 

 

12. Is it necessary to waive the call-in period? 
 

12.1 No. 
 
 

 
 
Report Author: Joe O’Sullivan   Contact details: 
Joe.OSullivan@derbyshire.gov.uk  
 

Page 153

mailto:saurabh.zindal@derbyshire.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1 
 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1 At this stage, no full costings of the proposed Digital Strategy, ICT 

Strategy, Target Operating Model (TOM) and Implementation Plan can 
be provided, but a full costing up and budget analysis will be undertaken 
in conjunction with the ICT service when more data is available. Finance 
and ICT colleagues will continue to work closely on this new operating 
model. 

 
Legal 
 
2.1 The Head of Paid Service (Managing Executive Director) is responsible 

for the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-
ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge 
of functions, the organisation of officers and the appointment and 
proper management of the Council’s officers. 

 
2.2 The Responsibility for Functions at Appendix 1 to the Constitution 

makes it clear that reviewing and authorising changes to departmental 
structures and establishments must be dealt with in conjunction with the 
Director of the Organisational Development and Policy. In addition, in 
exercising delegated powers it is the duty of an officer to whom the 
exercise of powers is delegated to consult such other officers, Director 
of Finance & ICT and Director of Legal and Democratic Services as 
may be appropriate in the circumstances and to have regard to any 
advice given. 

 
2.3 The establishment of the post of Chief Technology Officer at Director 

level and deletion of the post of Director of Transformation and Strategy 
is therefore not a decision which falls within the remit of Cabinet.  It will 
be the subject of a report to the Head of Paid Service. 

 
2.4 The Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 

40 of the Localism Act provides that full council, or a meeting of 
members should be offered the opportunity to vote before large salary 
packages are offered in respect of a new appointment. The Secretary 
of State considers that £100,000 is the right level for that threshold to 
be set. For this purpose, salary packages should include salary, any 
bonuses, fees or allowances routinely payable to the appointee and any 
benefits in kind to which the officer is entitled as a result of their 
employment. As set out in the Constitution, Appendix 1 – Responsibility 

Page 154



 

 

for Functions, approval of remuneration on appointment in excess of 
£100,000 is the responsibility of full Council. 

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 Any associated workforce implications will be considered and outlined in 
the recommendation to the Head of Paid Service with regard to the proposal 
to make changes to the leadership structure.  
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 These are considered in the body of the report.  
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 None.  
 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 None.  
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 None. 
  
 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

FOR PUBLICATION  
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

23 November 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director - Children's Services  
 

Brackenfield Special School - outcome of the pre-publication consultation on the 
proposed change of age range and request to take to a statutory consultation 

(Cabinet Member for Education) 
 

  
 

1. Divisions Affected 
 
1.1 Long Eaton 
 
2. Key Decision 
 

No 
 

3. Purpose 
 

3.1 To advise Cabinet of the outcome of an initial pre-publication consultation carried 
out by Brackenfield SEND School on a proposal to alter the school’s upper age 
limit from 16 years to 19 years so that it can offer increased provision. 

3.2 To seek Cabinet’s approval of the publication by the Local Authority of a formal 
statutory proposal to increase the school’s age limit and to undertake a statutory 
consultation on the proposal. 

 
4. Information and Analysis 

 
The Authority proposes to alter the upper age limit of Brackenfield SEND School by 
extending the provision to include young people up to the age of 19. The Authority 
has confirmed that the school already has adequate staffing and premises. 
 
If the Authority’s proposal is implemented, the school will be able to offer the young 
people post 16 provisions with a view of preparing them for adulthood (see appendix 
A below). If implemented, this proposal will allow the school to offer families a 
comprehensive education programme linking in with employers and partners to offer 
an employment focused specialist provision focused on young people with SEND. 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 8



The school has carried out a pre-publication consultation and 3 responses were 
received.  The Head teacher has reported that Governors and staff are supportive of 
the proposed alteration of the school’s upper age limit and that the Governing Body 
are therefore eager for the Authority to publish the proposal in accordance with the 
formal statutory process prescribed by the School Organisation (Prescribed 
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2018. 

 
A non-statutory pre-publication consultation took place between 4th September 2023 
and 29th September 2023 to seek the views of interested parties before reporting to 
Cabinet and a copy of that consultation paper is attached at Appendix A. 
 
There were 3 responses to the consultation all of which supported the expansion. 
There were common themes to the comments and therefore they have been grouped 
together.   

 
General 

• Three respondents simply provided general support for the proposal as being in 
the best interests of children, the school, and the community.   

 
Continuity 

• Three respondents identified that by extending the schools age range, the 
children would have continuity in learning and relationships with school staff  

 
 
Summary – The consultation demonstrated support for proceeding with the change 
of age range to accommodate a gap in SEND provision.  

 
5. Consultation 
 
5.1 A pre-publication consultation has been carried out and Cabinet approval is being 

sought to carry out a statutory consultation on the proposal to extend the age range 
at Brackenfield SEND School.  

 
6. Alternative Options Considered 

 
Not to proceed to statutory consultation and the age range for the School remains at 
3-16.  

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the preparation of the 

report. 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 These are held in the Children’s Services Development Section. 
  
 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix 1 – Implications 

Page 158



9.2 Appendix 2 – Copy of the pre publication consultation 
9.3 Appendix 3 – Proposed Statutory consultation 

 
 

10. Recommendation(s) 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
a) Considers the pre-publication consultation carried out by the school.   

 
b) Approves the publishing of a statutory proposal to extend the age range of 
Brackenfield SEND school and for a statutory consultation on the proposal to 
be undertaken.   
 

 
11. Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
11.1 In response to the support received from the non statutory consultation.  

 
12. Is it necessary to waive the call in period? 
 
12.1 No  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 Page 159



 
Implications 
 
Financial 
 

1.1 It is proposed to locate the provision within existing school accommodation. 

Staffing numbers at Brackenfield have steadily increased over the last 2.5 years to 
meet the increased demand for places. The staff for the post 16 provision would come 
from the current staff team. The school have several staff who will be trained in 
systematic instruction to support placements.   

 
Legal 
 

2.1 This proposal is subject to the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. A permanent alteration of age 
range at a school requires the Local Authority to follow the statutory process set out in 
the Regulations. The Local Authority is required to publish a statutory proposal which 
contains sufficient information for interested parties to make a decision on whether to 
support or challenge the proposed change. The consultation period must last for 4 
weeks from the date of the publication. During this period, any person or organisation 
can submit comments on the proposal to the Local Authority. Following the close of 
the consultation the decision on whether to extend the age range must be made 
within a period of 2 months or the proposals must be referred to the Schools 
Adjudicator.  

 
2.2 The Local Authority has a duty to secure efficient primary and secondary education 

and further education to meet the needs of the population of their area under 
sections 13 and 13A of the Education Act 1996.  

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 None  
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 The Local Authority is required to have ‘due regard’ to the duties set out in Section 

149 of the Equality Act 2010 (the Public Sector Equality Duty, ‘PSED’) in determining 
these proposals.  An Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken as part of the 
consultation process to identify the equality implications of this proposal and any 
appropriate mitigation 

 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 Not applicable 
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, Property and 
Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) Page 160



 
7.1 Derbyshire County Council has a statutory duty to ensure there are sufficient primary 

and secondary school places and is committed to working in close partnership with 
schools, academy trusts, the dioceses and key partners to ensure that the supply of 
school places across Derbyshire is in the right location, is of sufficient size, is viable 
and of good quality. We know that schools can face challenges in meeting pupils’ 
needs, particularly where pupil numbers are falling, and that in some cases, changes 
to the pattern of school organisation in an area can help secure the viability of 
schools, improve opportunities and raise standards.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 2 
 Page 161



Brackenfield SEND School 

Pre-Publication Consultation on a Proposal by the Governing Body for the Extension of the Age Range of 
Brackenfield SEND School from 3-16 years to 3-19 years through Supported Employment Study Programmes and 

Supported Internships  

Context 

Brackenfield is a South Derbyshire special school for children from 4-16 years old. Over the last 3 years we have streamlined our offer to become 
a specialist school for pupils with communication and comprehension difficulties. All our pupils are significantly cognitively impaired, operating 
developmentally between 0 – 6 years of age. We support pupils’ learning and journey into adulthood through a curriculum based on life skills 
and skill generalisation. Pupils are not taught in chronological age groups, they are placed in class groups dependent on their cognitive, sensory, 
social emotional and communication needs. Classes are organised into pathways. All pupils are placed in a pathway however some may have 
some of their education in another pathway based on their individual needs. Pupils may move pathways in their school career or even in a year. 

Proposal 

It is proposed to change the age range of Brackenfield SEND School from 3-16 to 3-19 years. Under this proposal the provision would be 
maintained along with the rest of school.  

Over recent years we have been working towards expanding our provision to offer a post-16 for our pupils preparing them for adulthood. Whilst 
we have developed relationships with local post 16 providers for some of our leavers, we identify a gap in specialist provision which focuses on 
preparing young people with SEND (specifically SLD) for employment. This gap is also identified by local post 16 and post 19 provisions, including 
other Derbyshire special schools and local colleges. We aim to work in partnership with other post 16 and post 19 providers to ensure there is a 
county wide offer of employment focused provision for young people with SEND. It is also imperative this offer works alongside local authority 
services for independent living, health and other community projects to ensure young people have a secure holistic provision as they enter 
adulthood.  

Being situated in Long Eaton means we offer places to Derbyshire, Derby City and Nottinghamshire – this would widen the employment 
opportunities for young people with SEND in these areas. Derby City and Nottinghamshire local authorities fully support this proposal and echo 
the requirement for this type of provision in the locality.  

Brackenfield SEND School fully supports a model of inclusion; however, it is recognised that there is a cohort of children whose needs are great 
and would be better supported in specialist provision up to 19 years. This is particularly apparent when these children have associated medical 
needs which require specialist training; something that Brackenfield already has expertise in. It is also evident in groups of pupils who can display 
challenging behaviours; this is another area of expertise for Brackenfield. As young people enter adulthood it is imperative the support structures 
are in place to support regulation; whether this be self-regulation or co-regulation. Co-regulation techniques would form part of the programme 
of study for each young person, including detailed transition plans. It is expected transition would be to employment or employment based 
training (apprenticeship) and therefore continued education would cease, unless focused on employment training.  

The impact of the proposal on existing staff and pupils at Brackenfield would be negligible. We already have classroom spaces and resources 
that are appropriate for this age group and the expertise within the staff. Extending the age range to 19 years would enable the provision of a 
key stage 4 and 5 offer to be streamlined and focused on preparation for employment. It is expected pupils would have the option of transitioning 
into employment rather than into another education provider. The proposal would not alter the school’s admission arrangements and parents 
of key stage 5 pupils would continue to apply in the usual way for admission to school and post 16 provision. This means the children would 
need to be in receipt of an EHC Plan.  

Initial Provision and Intended Growth  

The school operates a 4 pathway model.  

Pupils in the first two pathway typically function around 30-40 months and would not access a supported internship and would transition into 
specialised PMLD post 16 provision or access to independence study programmes within a specialist college provision.  

On occasion some pupils in the final pathway typically achieve entry 3/ level 1 outcomes and therefore would be supported into other post 16 
options to ensure they achieved their potential into adulthood; this might be an entry level apprenticeship or vocational college course.  

The Comprehend and Decode pathways typically achieve between entry 1 and entry 2 within key stage 4 and would be the cohorts we would 
expect to access Brackenfield’s post 16 supported internships provision.  

Page 162



For the September 2021 pilot, we had 3 pupils. These pupils were placed within a ks4/ ks5 class. In future years the ks4/ ks5 population will be 
streamlined to create 14-18 provision, and depending on cohort, there will be a key stage 5 class. This needs to be a fluid model to accommodate 
pupil needs, including social exposure and relationships. This will support a 4 year employment/ careers curriculum. In 2022/2023 academic 
year, we aim to have a minimum of 7 post 16 pupils.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Partnership Working with Employers  

Working with employers and charities we intend to offer three tiered levels of work placements catering to the ability and career interests of 
our students. This would be begin with work experience as part of the careers programme and employment curriculum, leading to Supported 
Internships in the second year of post 16 provision, this might be earlier depending on the pupil’s progress and prior experience. The internships 
enable young people with an EHCP to achieve sustainable paid employment by equipping them with real life skills to enter the workplace.  All 
students will be fully supported by a member of Training in systematic instruction trained staff while on placement. This will replicate the role 
of a Job Coach.  

 

Working with local employers we aim to provide opportunities to support young 
people to: 

• Understand what it means to have a job 

• Recognise their strengths in a workplace and team 

• Develop transferable skills which will help in future employment  

• Interact in a work environment  

These work experience opportunities would be supported by a Job Coach, who 
would work with employers to ensure the placement was meeting their business 
needs as well as providing a meaningful experience. In addition to this, the Job 
coach would work with the employers to complete a workplace audit of positions 
which could be secured for young people with SEND.  

 

 

In addition to this, as SEND specialists we deliver professional development for employers and their workforce related to SEND. This has received 
very positive feedback including changing the way employers think about SEND and educating employers on proactive strategies to support 

High Risk: new employers 
with limited experience of 

SEND and public facing/ 
complex aspects of roles   

Medium Risk: warm 
employers with SEND 

experience, some public 
facing opportunities 

Low Risk: internal 
placements or placements 
with regular contractors, 

SEND experience 

Pathway Impact Next Stage of Provision Looks Like (Post 16)

Pupils can get needs met either through 
simple communication or adults reading and 

understanding the pupil. Specialist post-16 provision, with sensory input-
additional services supporting and constant support

(pre-entry/ entry 1 continuum) 

Social Care referrals

Independent navigation of familiar world.
Ability to express needs and share wants.

Aware of their dislikes and interests.
Know what makes them content and be able 

to access this themselves.

Development of thinking and problem-
solving skills

Navigate and explore world

Can share opinions, obtain, and give 
information

Supported internship in low/ medium-risk 
placements; volunteering placements or long term 

supported placements aimed at long term community 
placement/ long term volunteer

Study programmes built around PfA outcomes
(entry 1-2)

Possible social care referrals 

Development of competency to 
independently explore the world and keep 

safe

Supported internships in in medium/ high risk 
placements; work experience placements across 
different settings to build skillset then working 

interview aimed at paid employment
Study programmes built around PfA outcomes

(entry 2-3)

Possible social care referrals

Page 163



adults with SEND in the workplace. This has supported employers to be more inclusive and empowered them to challenge discriminatory 
behaviours and beliefs.  

As a school, we believe it is important to educate employers on the different between mental health and SEND, because everyone has mental 
health but not everyone has a learning difficulty or disability, and they should not be treated in the same way.  

A number of current national supported internship programmes are targeted at young people with social, emotional and mental heath needs. 
Programmes have not considered the requirements for young people with SEND and this has meant current provision is offered from around 
entry 3 and above. Our cohort, would be operating between entry 1 and entry 3, meeting the gap in provision for supported employment for 
pupils with SLD (severe learning difficulties, including disabilities).  

Placement offer  

Through extensive labour market research, partnership working with other providers and D2N2 we aim to ensure employment opportunities 
are meaningful and have longevity for lifelong fulfilment. Currently, labour market research suggests the following industries are key 
employment markets:  

Trade % of jobs in this 
area 

This includes: Other key information to consider: 

Manufacturing  17% Forklift Truck Driver 

Production Operative 

Technicians  

Factory Floor Worker  

Construction  5.4% Builder 

Labourer 

Plasterer 

Electrician 

Plumber 

Wholesale retail 
and trade 

16% Store Assistant  

Warehouse operative  

Forklift Truck Driver 

Customer Service Assistant  

Accommodation 
and food 

8.2% Waiter 

Chef 

Receptionist 

Cleaner 

Kitchen Staff 

Education  9.5% Cleaner 

Caretaker 

Patrol Crossing 

Midday Supervisor 

Teaching Assistant 

Learning Mentor   

Youth Worker  

Support Worker  

• There are less jobs than people living 
in Derbyshire 

• Number of people: 487700  
• Number of jobs: 352000 
• Average hourly earning is £2 less than 

the national average at £12.02  
• 78% of Derbyshire adults are 

employed  
• 13.8% of households claim benefits  
• 15% of households do not have a 

working adult  
• 97100 children live in workless 

households 

 

The two year programme will offer two types of work placements, as detailed below.   

• Year 1 (or at least first 6 months): Short Term Placements and Work Experience within the Supported Employment Study Programme  
Page 164



Short term placements would be block placements throughout the school year for different students. It might a full week or 2 weeks, however 
it might not be a full week at a time- for example, it may be 3 afternoons a week for 3 weeks. The purpose is to expose our young people to real 
life work as much as possible and allow pupils to experience different job markets, job roles and recognise their skill set and how they could fit 
into the world of work.  

• Year 2 (or from 6-18 months if appropriate): Supported Internships and Long Term Placements and Working Interviews 

Long term placements would be over a longer period and may be once or twice a week for at least a 3-month period. We intend to run these 
placements for 6-12 months, to show considerable progress in the young person’s ability to interact and show impact in the workplace. These 
placements would form part of the supported internship models. These placements would be identified through employer audits, workplace 
evaluations and job carving.  

Research from Mencap in 2019 showed that a large proportion of people with a learning disability stayed in entry level employment longer than 
average, have fewer sickness absence days than their non-disabled peers and have a positive impact on the morale of their colleagues.  

Research from Education and Employers charity found four or more employer encounters leads to young people being 86% less likely to be NEET 
(Not in Education or Employment). Recent statistics from Base.org have shown savings for the NHS/ social care when people with SEND are in 
employment.  

Staff 

Staffing numbers at Brackenfield have steadily increased over the last 2.5 years in order to meet the increased demand for places. The staff for 
the post 16 provision would come from the current staff team. We have several staff who will be trained in training in systematic instruction to 
support placements. We have consulted with HR and have written an Employment Coordinator position, who would oversee employer liaison, 
placements and ensure study programmes were fit for purpose for long term employment, as well as coordinating the careers programme for 
school. This position will also be qualified in Information, Advice and Guidance for SEND, via a specific SEND focused apprenticeship. This will be 
completed by September 2024. This position will be liaise with other SEND provisions and offer a SEND focused IAG role, which all schools in the 
South Derbyshire SEND Careers Cluster have identified as an urgent need to support their careers programmes.  

The provision would be directly overseen by the Deputy Headteacher and would be subject to rigorous quality assurance to ensure it was fit for 
purpose and meeting pupil needs effectively.  

The Staffing model below is based on 7 post 16 pupils.  

Deputy Headteacher (time allocation: 0.2 FTE) 

Admin Support (0.2 FTE) Employment Coordinator (1.0 
FTE) 

Teacher (1.0 FTE) 

TSI trained STLA (Job Coaching) (1.0 FTE) TSI trained STLA (Job Coaching) (1.0 FTE) 

LSA (1.0 FTE) LSA (1.0 FTE) 

Health and Personal Care Assistant (0.5 FTE) 

 

Funding 

The provision will run over a minimum of 3 days a week- some part time days will be timetabled to spread provision over 4 days. In order to 
replicate realistic working life arrangements provision will prepares young people for adulthood by replicating the working week and weekend 
model. This is a 15-20 hour week.  

The anticipated funding per pupil: 

Pupil placement:  £10,000 + Pupil profile: £15,000= £25,000   

This equates to £164 a day.  

This would include: preparation for adulthood tailored curriculum offer including specialist provision from Physios, Speech and Language, 
Occupational Therapy and mental health interventions; fitness programme with gym membership;  travel training to independent traveller 
(where appropriate); community projects including regular enrichment trips; enterprise projects including quality IAG provision and meaningful 
employer encounters including work experience and supported internships.  

This would be adequate funding to run the staffing model suggested above. However additional hours have been costed in to support work 
placements. Access to Work funding will be applied for to cover the cost of this additional coverage. Access to work funding is Department for 
Work and Pensions grants to support young people into employment. Maximum funding can reach £60700- on average £10000 a year is claimed 
per young person. This is on a case by case basis and can only be applied for once a placement is secured. 

In the locality, within a 10 mile radius there is not a provision who offer this type of post 16 curriculum specially for young people with SEND. 
The average price of post 16 provision is as follows: 

• 3 day offers range from £12, 037 to £38,000. This does not include therapeutic input, work placements or job coaches therefore not 
equitable to compare provisions.  

• A typical 3 day offer similar to our proposal is £23,980 a year. This is £210 a day. Page 165



• In the north of the region, 4-day provision is available for £60,000 a year. This is £394 a day.  
At between £79-£263 cheaper a day, £15,010-£49,970 a year), this shows our proposal is cost effective and offers richer and a wider 
employment outcome focused curriculum offer than the current provision available.  

 

 

 

 

Page 166



Example Timetables for Different Post-16 Provisions 

KS4: 

 Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Wed am  Wed pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am  Fri pm 

KS4 class 
space  

(14 
students)  

 Functiona
l Skills  

 

Vocationa
l units 

Functiona
l Skills  

Vocationa
l units 

Functiona
l Skills  

Functiona
l Skills  

 

RSHE  Careers/ 
independen
t living  

Employmen
t Carousel  

 Creative 
Arts  

Work 
Experienc
e  

 Work 
experienc
e 
placemen
t (1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
training 
and 
placment  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experienc
e 
placemen
t (1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
training 
and 
placment  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experienc
e 
placemen
t (1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
training 
and 
placment  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experience 
placement 
(1.5 hours) 

Travel 
training and 
placment  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI coach 

 Work 
experienc
e 
placemen
t (1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
training 
and 
placment  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

Offsite 
communit
y visits  

Community 
visits  

(volunteering
) 

 Travel 
training  

Travel 
training  

Gym     Community 
visits  

(volunteering
) 

 

Onsite 
specialist 
spaces 
(PE, 
cooking) 

  Cooking  Cooking    Cooking     

College Session: 
Vocational 
college 
course 

No.students: 
10 

Staff: 3 staff 

 

       Session: 
Vocational 
college 
course 

No.students: 
10 

Staff: 3 staff 

 

 

 

Post 16 group 1: 

 Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues 
pm 

Wed am  Wed 
pm 

Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am  Fri pm 

Post 16 
work 
room 
(Capacity 
10 
students) 

Registration  
 

Lunch  
Vocational 
Profiling  
Employment 
coordinator  
1 pupil 

Registration  
RSHE incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 
1 teacher 

Lunch  Registration  Lunch  Registration 
RSHE incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 
1 teacher 

Lunch    

KS4 class 
space  
(14 
students)  

     English/ 
maths 
delivery  
3 pupils  
1 teacher  
 

  Employment 
carousel  
All pupils  

  

Page 167



Work 
Experience  

Work experience 
placement (4 
hours) 
Travel training 
and placment  
1 or 2 pupils 
1 TSI coach 

 Work 
experience 
placement 
(4 hours) 
Travel 
training and 
placment  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI coach 

 Work 
experience 
placement 
(4 hours) 
Travel 
training and 
placment  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI coach 

     

Offsite 
community 
visits  

 Gym  
2 LSAs 
4 pupils  

   Gym  
10 
pupils  
Teacher 
2 LSAs 

    

Onsite 
specialist 
spaces (PE, 
cooking) 

   Cooking  
5 pupils 
1 
teacher 
2 LSAs 
 

      

College Session: 
Vocational 
college course 
2 LSAs 
3 pupils  

 

         

 

Post 16 group 2: 

 Mon 
am 

Mon 
pm 

Tues am Tues pm Wed am  Wed 
pm 

Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am  Fri pm 

Post 16 
work room 
(Capacity 10 
students) 

  Registration 
RSHE incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 
1 teacher 

Lunch  Registration  Lunch  Registration 
RSHE incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 
1 teacher 

Lunch  Registration  Lunch  
Vocational Profiling  
Employment 
coordinator  
1 pupil 

KS4 class space  
(14 students)  

   Employment 
carousel  
All pupils  

English/ 
maths 
delivery  
3 pupils  
1 teacher  
 

  Employment 
carousel  
All pupils  

  Creative Arts 
enrichment 
(optional) 
1 LSA 

Work 
Experience  

    Work 
experience 
placement 
(4 hours) 
Travel 
training and 
placment  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI coach 

 Work 
experience 
placement 
(4 hours) 
Travel 
training and 
placment  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI coach 

 Work 
experience 
placement 
(4 hours) 
Travel 
training and 
placment  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI coach 

 

Offsite 
community 
visits  

     Gym  Shopping   Gym  
2 LSAs 
4 pupils  

Onsite 
specialist 
spaces (PE, 
cooking) 

       Cooking  
5 pupils 
1 teacher 
2 LSAs 
 

  

College         Session: 
Vocational 
college 
course 
2 LSAs 
3 pupils  

 

 

Page 168



Post 16 Supported Internship: 

Breakdown of hours for Supported Internship: 

6 months 12 months 

540/ 19 weeks= 28 hours a week  

70% of 28 hours = 19.5 hours in workplace a week/ 
8.5 in education  

540/ 35= 16 hours a week  

70% of 16=11. 5 hours in workplace a week / 4.5 
hours in education  

Timetable: 

 Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Wed am  Wed 
pm 

Thurs am Thurs 
pm 

Fri am  Fri pm 

Post 16 
work 
room 
(Capacity 
10 
students) 

Lunch  
Vocational 
Profiling  
Employment 
coordinator  
1 pupil 

         

KS4 class 
space  
(14 
students)  

         Creative 
Arts 
enrichment 
(optional) 
1 LSA 

Work 
Experience  

  Work 
placement 
(4 hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI coach/ 
Access to 
Work Job 
Coach  

Work 
placement 
(4 hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI coach/ 
Access to 
Work Job 
Coach  

Work 
placement 
(4 hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access to 
Work Job 
Coach  

 Work placement 
(4 hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI coach/ 
Access to Work 
Job Coach  

 Work placement 
(4 hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI coach/ 
Access to Work 
Job Coach  

 

Offsite 
community 
visits  

 Gym visit  
Shopping  

   
 

    

Onsite 
specialist 
spaces  

 Cooking          

 

 Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues 
pm 

Wed am  Wed 
pm 

Thurs am Thurs 
pm 

Fri 
am  

Fri pm 

Post 16 
work 
room 
(Capacity 
10 
students) 
Onsite 
Specialist 
spaces  

Lunch  
Vocational 
Profiling  
Employment 
coordinator  
1 pupil 

 
 
Cooking  

        

KS4 class 
space  
(14 
students)  

         Creative 
Arts 
enrichment 
(optional) 

Work 
Experience  

  Work placement 
(4 hours) 1 pupil / 
1 TSI coach/ 
Access to Work 
Job Coach  

 Work 
placement 
(4 hours) 
1 pupil / 1 
TSI coach/ 
Access to 
Work Job 
Coach  

 Work placement (4 hours) 
1 pupil / 1 TSI coach/ 
Access to Work Job Coach  

   

Offsite 
community 
visits  

 Gym visit  
Shopping  

   
 

    

 Page 169



Appendix 3 

 

Derbyshire County Council 
Statutory Consultation for the Extension of the Age Range of Brackenfield SEND 

School from 3-16 years to 3-19 years through Supported Employment Study 
Programmes and Supported Internships  

Context 
Brackenfield is a South Derbyshire special school for children from 3-16 years old. Over the 
last 3 years we have streamlined our offer to become a specialist school for pupils with 
communication and comprehension difficulties. All our pupils are significantly cognitively 
impaired, operating developmentally between 0 – 6 years of age. We support pupils’ learning 
and journey into adulthood through a curriculum based on life skills and skill generalisation. 
Pupils are not taught in chronological age groups, they are placed in class groups dependent 
on their cognitive, sensory, social emotional and communication needs. Classes are 
organised into pathways. All pupils are placed in a pathway however some may have some 
of their education in another pathway based on their individual needs. Pupils may move 
pathways in their school career or even in a year. 

Proposal 
It is proposed to change the age range of Brackenfield SEND School from 3-16 to 3-19 
years. Under this proposal the provision would be maintained along with the rest of school.  

Over recent years the school have been working towards expanding their provision to offer 
a post-16 provision for pupils preparing them for adulthood. Whilst they have developed 
relationships with local post 16 providers for some leavers, a gap in specialist provision has 
been identified which focuses on preparing young people with SEND (specifically SLD) for 
employment. This gap is also identified by local post 16 and post 19 provisions, including 
other Derbyshire special schools and local colleges. Brackenfield School aim to work in 
partnership with other post 16 and post 19 providers to ensure there is a county wide offer 
of employment focused provision for young people with SEND. It is also imperative this offer 
works alongside local authority services for independent living, health and other community 
projects to ensure young people have a secure holistic provision as they enter adulthood.  

Being situated in Long Eaton means the school offer places to Derbyshire, Derby City and 
Nottinghamshire – this would widen the employment opportunities for young people with 
SEND in these areas. Derby City and Nottinghamshire local authorities fully support this 
proposal and echo the requirement for this type of provision in the locality.  

Brackenfield SEND School fully supports a model of inclusion; however, it is recognised that 
there is a cohort of children whose needs are great and would be better supported in 
specialist provision up to 19 years. This is particularly apparent when these children have 
associated medical needs which require specialist training; something that Brackenfield 
already has expertise in. It is also evident in groups of pupils who can display challenging 
behaviours; this is another area of expertise for Brackenfield. As young people enter 
adulthood it is imperative the support structures are in place to support regulation; whether 
this be self-regulation or co-regulation. Co-regulation techniques would form part of the 
programme of study for each young person, including detailed transition plans. It is expected 
transition would be to employment or employment based training (apprenticeship) and 
therefore continued education would cease, unless focused on employment training.  

Page 170



The impact of the proposal on existing staff and pupils at Brackenfield would be negligible. 
The school already have classroom spaces and resources that are appropriate for this age 
group and the expertise within the staff. Extending the age range to 19 years would enable 
the provision of a key stage 4 and 5 offer to be streamlined and focused on preparation for 
employment. It is expected pupils would have the option of transitioning into employment 
rather than into another education provider. The proposal would not alter the school’s 
admission arrangements and parents of key stage 5 pupils would continue to apply in the 
usual way for admission to school and post 16 provision. This means the children would 
need to be in receipt of an EHC Plan.  
 

Initial Provision and Intended Growth  
The school operates a 4 pathway model.  

Pupils in the first two pathway typically function around 30-40 months and would not access 
a supported internship and would transition into specialised PMLD post 16 provision or 
access to independence study programmes within a specialist college provision.  

On occasion some pupils in the final pathway typically achieve entry 3/ level 1 outcomes and 
therefore would be supported into other post 16 options to ensure they achieved their 
potential into adulthood; this might be an entry level apprenticeship or vocational college 
course.  

The Comprehend and Decode pathways typically achieve between entry 1 and entry 2 within 
key stage 4 and would be the cohorts we would expect to access Brackenfield’s post 16 
supported internships provision.  

For the September 2021 pilot, there were 3 pupils. These pupils were placed within a ks4/ 
ks5 class. In future years the ks4/ ks5 population will be streamlined to create 14-18 
provision, and depending on cohort, there will be a key stage 5 class. This needs to be a 
fluid model to accommodate pupil needs, including social exposure and relationships. This 
will support a 4 year employment/ careers curriculum. In 2022/2023 academic year, we aim 
to have a minimum of 7 post 16 pupils.   
 

Page 171



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Partnership Working with Employers  
Working with employers and charities the school intend to offer three tiered levels of work 
placements catering to the ability and career interests of our students. This would be begin 
with work experience as part of the careers programme and employment curriculum, leading 
to Supported Internships in the second year of post 16 provision, this might be earlier 
depending on the pupil’s progress and prior experience. The internships enable young 
people with an EHCP to achieve sustainable paid employment by equipping them with real 
life skills to enter the workplace.  All students will be fully supported by a member of Training 
in systematic instruction trained staff while on placement. This will replicate the role of a Job 
Coach.  

Pathway Impact Next Stage of Provision Looks Like (Post 16)

Pupils can get needs met either through 
simple communication or adults reading and 

understanding the pupil. Specialist post-16 provision, with sensory input-
additional services supporting and constant support

(pre-entry/ entry 1 continuum) 

Social Care referrals

Independent navigation of familiar world.
Ability to express needs and share wants.

Aware of their dislikes and interests.
Know what makes them content and be able 

to access this themselves.

Development of thinking and problem-
solving skills

Navigate and explore world

Can share opinions, obtain, and give 
information

Supported internship in low/ medium-risk 
placements; volunteering placements or long term 

supported placements aimed at long term community 
placement/ long term volunteer

Study programmes built around PfA outcomes
(entry 1-2)

Possible social care referrals 

Development of competency to 
independently explore the world and keep 

safe

Supported internships in in medium/ high risk 
placements; work experience placements across 
different settings to build skillset then working 

interview aimed at paid employment
Study programmes built around PfA outcomes

(entry 2-3)

Possible social care referrals

Page 172



 

Working with local employers the school aim to 
provide opportunities to support young people to: 

• Understand what it means to have a job 

• Recognise their strengths in a workplace and 
team 

• Develop transferable skills which will help in 
future employment  

• Interact in a work environment  

These work experience opportunities would be 
supported by a Job Coach, who would work with 
employers to ensure the placement was meeting their 

business needs as well as providing a meaningful experience. In addition to this, the Job 
coach would work with the employers to complete a workplace audit of positions which could 
be secured for young people with SEND.  

 
 
In addition to this, as SEND specialists we deliver professional development for employers 
and their workforce related to SEND. This has received very positive feedback including 
changing the way employers think about SEND and educating employers on proactive 
strategies to support adults with SEND in the workplace. This has supported employers to 
be more inclusive and empowered them to challenge discriminatory behaviours and beliefs.  

As a school, they believe it is important to educate employers on the different between 
mental health and SEND, because everyone has mental health but not everyone has a 
learning difficulty or disability, and they should not be treated in the same way.  

A number of current national supported internship programmes are targeted at young people 
with social, emotional and mental health needs. Programmes have not considered the 
requirements for young people with SEND and this has meant current provision is offered 
from around entry 3 and above. Our cohort, would be operating between entry 1 and entry 
3, meeting the gap in provision for supported employment for pupils with SLD (severe 
learning difficulties, including disabilities).  
 

Placement offer  
Through extensive labour market research, partnership working with other providers and 
D2N2 we aim to ensure employment opportunities are meaningful and have longevity for 
lifelong fulfilment. Currently, labour market research suggests the following industries are 
key employment markets:  

Trade % of jobs in this 
area 

This includes: Other key information to consider: 

Manufacturing  17% Forklift Truck Driver 

Production Operative 

Technicians  

• There are less jobs than people 
living in Derbyshire 

• Number of people: 487700  
• Number of jobs: 352000 

High Risk: new employers 
with limited experience of 

SEND and public facing/ 
complex aspects of roles   

Medium Risk: warm 
employers with SEND 

experience, some public 
facing opportunities 

Low Risk: internal 
placements or placements 
with regular contractors, 

SEND experience 

Page 173



Factory Floor Worker  

Construction  5.4% Builder 

Labourer 

Plasterer 

Electrician 

Plumber 

Wholesale retail 
and trade 

16% Store Assistant  

Warehouse operative  

Forklift Truck Driver 

Customer Service Assistant  

Accommodation 
and food 

8.2% Waiter 

Chef 

Receptionist 

Cleaner 

Kitchen Staff 

Education  9.5% Cleaner 

Caretaker 

Patrol Crossing 

Midday Supervisor 

Teaching Assistant 

Learning Mentor   

Youth Worker  

Support Worker  

• Average hourly earning is £2 less 
than the national average at 
£12.02  

• 78% of Derbyshire adults are 
employed  

• 13.8% of households claim 
benefits  

• 15% of households do not have a 
working adult  

• 97100 children live in workless 
households 

 

The two year programme will offer two types of work placements, as detailed below.   

• Year 1 (or at least first 6 months): Short Term Placements and Work Experience within 
the Supported Employment Study Programme  

Short term placements would be block placements throughout the school year for different 
students. It might a full week or 2 weeks, however it might not be a full week at a time- for 
example, it may be 3 afternoons a week for 3 weeks. The purpose is to expose our young 
people to real life work as much as possible and allow pupils to experience different job 
markets, job roles and recognise their skill set and how they could fit into the world of work.  

• Year 2 (or from 6-18 months if appropriate): Supported Internships and Long Term 
Placements and Working Interviews 

Long term placements would be over a longer period and may be once or twice a week for 
at least a 3-month period. We intend to run these placements for 6-12 months, to show 
considerable progress in the young person’s ability to interact and show impact in the 
workplace. These placements would form part of the supported internship models. These Page 174



placements would be identified through employer audits, workplace evaluations and job 
carving.  

Research from Mencap in 2019 showed that a large proportion of people with a learning 
disability stayed in entry level employment longer than average, have fewer sickness 
absence days than their non-disabled peers and have a positive impact on the morale of 
their colleagues.  

Research from Education and Employers charity found four or more employer encounters 
leads to young people being 86% less likely to be NEET (Not in Education or Employment). 
Recent statistics from Base.org have shown savings for the NHS/ social care when people 
with SEND are in employment.  
 

Staff 
Staffing numbers at Brackenfield have steadily increased over the last 2.5 years in order to 
meet the increased demand for places. The staff for the post 16 provision would come from 
the current staff team. The School have several staff who will be trained in training in 
systematic instruction to support placements and have consulted with HR and have written 
an Employment Coordinator position, who would oversee employer liaison, placements and 
ensure study programmes were fit for purpose for long term employment, as well as 
coordinating the careers programme for school. This position will also be qualified in 
Information, Advice and Guidance for SEND, via a specific SEND focused apprenticeship. 
This will be completed by September 2024. This position will be liaise with other SEND 
provisions and offer a SEND focused IAG role, which all schools in the South Derbyshire 
SEND Careers Cluster have identified as an urgent need to support their careers 
programmes.  

The provision would be directly overseen by the Deputy Headteacher and would be subject 
to rigorous quality assurance to ensure it was fit for purpose and meeting pupil needs 
effectively.  

The Staffing model below is based on 7 post 16 pupils.  
Deputy Headteacher (time allocation: 0.2 FTE) 

Admin Support (0.2 FTE) Employment Coordinator (1.0 
FTE) 

Teacher (1.0 FTE) 

TSI trained STLA (Job Coaching) (1.0 FTE) TSI trained STLA (Job Coaching) (1.0 FTE) 

LSA (1.0 FTE) LSA (1.0 FTE) 

Health and Personal Care Assistant (0.5 FTE) 

 

Funding 
The provision will run over a minimum of 3 days a week- some part time days will be 
timetabled to spread provision over 4 days. In order to replicate realistic working life 
arrangements provision will prepares young people for adulthood by replicating the working 
week and weekend model. This is a 15-20 hour week.  

The anticipated funding per pupil: 

Pupil placement:  £10,000 + Pupil profile: £15,000= £25,000   

This equates to £164 a day.  Page 175



This would include: preparation for adulthood tailored curriculum offer including specialist 
provision from Physios, Speech and Language, Occupational Therapy and mental health 
interventions; fitness programme with gym membership;  travel training to independent 
traveller (where appropriate); community projects including regular enrichment trips; 
enterprise projects including quality IAG provision and meaningful employer encounters 
including work experience and supported internships.  

This would be adequate funding to run the staffing model suggested above. However 
additional hours have been costed in to support work placements. Access to Work funding 
will be applied for to cover the cost of this additional coverage. Access to work funding is 
Department for Work and Pensions grants to support young people into employment. 
Maximum funding can reach £60700- on average £10000 a year is claimed per young 
person. This is on a case by case basis and can only be applied for once a placement is 
secured. 

In the locality, within a 10 mile radius there is not a provision who offer this type of post 16 
curriculum specially for young people with SEND. The average price of post 16 provision is 
as follows: 

• 3 day offers range from £12, 037 to £38,000. This does not include therapeutic input, 
work placements or job coaches therefore not equitable to compare provisions.  

• A typical 3 day offer similar to our proposal is £23,980 a year. This is £210 a day. 
• In the north of the region, 4-day provision is available for £60,000 a year. This is 

£394 a day.  
At between £79-£263 cheaper a day, £15,010-£49,970 a year), this shows our proposal is 
cost effective and offers richer and a wider employment outcome focused curriculum offer 
than the current provision available.  

 

 
 

 

Page 176



 

 
 

Example Timetables for Different Post-16 Provisions 

KS4: 

 Mon 
am 

Mon 
pm 

Tues 
am 

Tues 
pm 

Wed 
am  

Wed 
pm 

Thurs 
am 

Thurs 
pm 

Fri am  Fri pm 

KS4 
class 
space  

(14 
stude
nts)  

 Functi
onal 
Skills  

 

Vocat
ional 
units 

Funct
ional 
Skills  

Vocati
onal 
units 

Functi
onal 
Skills  

Funct
ional 
Skills  

 

RSHE  Career
s/ 
indepe
ndent 
living  

Emplo
yment 
Carous
el  

 Creati
ve 
Arts  

Work 
Experi
ence  

 Work 
experi
ence 
place
ment 
(1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
trainin
g and 
placm
ent  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experi
ence 
place
ment 
(1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
trainin
g and 
placm
ent  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experi
ence 
place
ment 
(1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
trainin
g and 
placm
ent  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experi
ence 
placem
ent 
(1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
trainin
g and 
placme
nt  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experi
ence 
place
ment 
(1.5 
hours) 

Travel 
trainin
g and 
placm
ent  

1 or 2 
pupils 

1 TSI 
coach 

Offsite 
comm
unity 
visits  

Commu
nity 
visits  

(volunt
eering) 

 Trave
l 
traini
ng  

Travel 
trainin
g  

Gym     Commu
nity 
visits  

(volunt
eering) 

 

Onsite 
specia
list 
space
s (PE, 
cookin
g) 

  Cooki
ng  

Cooki
ng  

  Cookin
g  

   

Colleg
e 

Sessio
n: 
Vocatio
nal 
college 
course 

       Sessio
n: 
Vocatio
nal 
college 
course 

 

Page 177



 

 
 

No.stud
ents: 
10 

Staff: 3 
staff 

 

No.stud
ents: 
10 

Staff: 3 
staff 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Post 16 group 1: 

 Mon am Mon pm Tues 
am 

Tues 
pm 

Wed am  Wed 
pm 

Thurs 
am 

Thurs 
pm 

Fr
i 
a
m  

Fr
i 
p
m 

Post 
16 
work 
room 
(Capa
city 10 
stude
nts) 

Registra
tion  
 

Lunch  
Vocation
al 
Profiling  
Employ
ment 
coordina
tor  
1 pupil 

Registra
tion  
RSHE 
incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 
1 
teacher 

Lunc
h  

Registra
tion  

Lunc
h  

Registra
tion 
RSHE 
incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 
1 
teacher 

Lunch    

KS4 
class 
space  
(14 
students
)  

     English/ 
maths 
delivery  
3 pupils  
1 
teacher  
 

  Employ
ment 
carousel  
All 
pupils  

  

Work 
Experien
ce  

Work 
experie
nce 
placeme
nt (4 
hours) 
Travel 
training 
and 
placmen
t  
1 or 2 
pupils 

 Work 
experie
nce 
placeme
nt (4 
hours) 
Travel 
training 
and 
placmen
t  
1 or 2 
pupils 

 Work 
experie
nce 
placeme
nt (4 
hours) 
Travel 
training 
and 
placmen
t  
1 or 2 
pupils 

     

Page 178



 

 
 

1 TSI 
coach 

1 TSI 
coach 

1 TSI 
coach 

Offsite 
commun
ity visits  

 Gym  
2 LSAs 
4 pupils  

   Gym  
10 
pupil
s  
Teac
her 
2 
LSAs 

    

Onsite 
specialis
t spaces 
(PE, 
cooking) 

   Cooki
ng  
5 
pupil
s 
1 
teach
er 
2 
LSAs 
 

      

College Session
: 
Vocatio
nal 
college 
course 
2 LSAs 
3 pupils  
 

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

Post 16 group 2: 

 M
on 
a
m 

M
on 
p
m 

Tues 
am 

Tues 
pm 

Wed 
am  

We
d 
pm 

Thurs 
am 

Thurs 
pm 

Fri am  Fri pm 

Post 
16 
work 
room 
(Capa
city 
10 

  Registr
ation 
RSHE 
incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 

Lunch  Registr
ation  

Lun
ch  

Registr
ation 
RSHE 
incl. 
online 
safety  
3 pupils 

Lunch  Registr
ation  

Lunch  
Vocatio
nal 
Profiling  
Employ
ment 
coordin
ator  

Page 179



 

 
 

stude
nts) 

1 
teacher 

1 
teacher 

1 pupil 

KS4 
class 
space  
(14 
students
)  

   Employ
ment 
carouse
l  
All 
pupils  

English/ 
maths 
delivery  
3 pupils  
1 
teacher  
 

  Employ
ment 
carouse
l  
All 
pupils  

  Creative 
Arts 
enrichm
ent 
(optiona
l) 
1 LSA 

Work 
Experie
nce  

    Work 
experie
nce 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
Travel 
training 
and 
placme
nt  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experie
nce 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
Travel 
training 
and 
placme
nt  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI 
coach 

 Work 
experie
nce 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
Travel 
training 
and 
placme
nt  
1 or 2 
pupils 
1 TSI 
coach 

 

Offsite 
commun
ity visits  

     Gy
m  

Shoppi
ng 

  Gym  
2 LSAs 
4 pupils  

Onsite 
specialis
t spaces 
(PE, 
cooking) 

       Cooking  
5 pupils 
1 
teacher 
2 LSAs 
 

  

College         Session
: 
Vocatio
nal 
college 
course 
2 LSAs 
3 pupils  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 180



 

 
 

Post 16 Supported Internship: 

Breakdown of hours for Supported Internship: 

6 months 12 months 

540/ 19 weeks= 28 hours a week  

70% of 28 hours = 19.5 hours in workplace a 
week/ 8.5 in education  

540/ 35= 16 hours a week  

70% of 16=11. 5 hours in workplace a week / 
4.5 hours in education  

Timetable: 

 Mon am Mon 
pm 

Tues 
am 

Tues 
pm 

Wed 
am  

W
ed 
pm 

Thurs 
am 

Thu
rs 
pm 

Fri am  Fri pm 

Post 
16 
work 
room 
(Capa
city 10 
stude
nts) 

Lunch  
Vocation
al 
Profiling  
Employ
ment 
coordina
tor  
1 pupil 

         

KS4 
class 
space  
(14 
students
)  

         Creativ
e Arts 
enrich
ment 
(option
al) 
1 LSA 

Work 
Experien
ce  

  Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to 
Work 
Job 
Coach  

Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to 
Work 
Job 
Coach  

Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to 
Work 
Job 
Coach  

 Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to 
Work 
Job 
Coach  

 Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
1 pupil  
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to 
Work 
Job 
Coach  

 

Offsite 
commun
ity visits  

 Gym 
visit  
Shopp
ing  

   
 

    

Onsite 
specialis
t spaces  

 Cooki
ng  

        

 

 Mon am Mon 
pm 

Tues 
am 

Tue
s 
pm 

Wed 
am  

We
d 
pm 

Thurs 
am 

Thur
s 
pm 

Fr
i 

Fri pm 

Page 181



 

 
 

a
m  

Post 16 
work 
room 
(Capaci
ty 10 
student
s) 
Onsite 
Special
ist 
spaces  

Lunch  
Vocationa
l Profiling  
Employm
ent 
coordinat
or  
1 pupil 

 
 
Cookin
g  

        

KS4 
class 
space  
(14 
students)  

         Creative 
Arts 
enrichm
ent 
(optional
) 

Work 
Experien
ce  

  Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 1 
pupil / 1 
TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to Work 
Job 
Coach  

 Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 1 
pupil / 1 
TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to Work 
Job 
Coach  

 Work 
placem
ent (4 
hours) 
1 pupil / 
1 TSI 
coach/ 
Access 
to Work 
Job 
Coach  

   

Offsite 
communit
y visits  

 Gym 
visit  
Shoppi
ng  

   
 

    

 

 

The consultation on this proposal will be from 8th January 2024 to 2nd 
February 2024 
 
The consultation document is available on the Derbyshire County Council 
website at www.derbyshire.gov.uk/council/have-your-say  or by request from 
Jenny Webster on Tel: 01629 535808 or by e-mail to 
jenny.webster@derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
Within four weeks of the publication of this notice, any person may object to or 
comment on the proposal by writing to the address or by sending an e-mail to 
the contact details below. 
 

Page 182

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/council/have-your-say
mailto:sue.pegg@derbyshire.gov.uk


 

 
 

Jenny Webster, Head of Development, Derbyshire County Council, North 
Block, County Hall, Matlock, Derbyshire DE4 3AG or 
jenny.webster@derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
The deadline for receiving responses is Friday 2nd February 2024. 
 

 
Carol Cammiss 
Executive Director – Children’s Services 

Page 183

mailto:sue.pegg@derbyshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET FOR EDUCATION 
 

23 November 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Children’s Services  
 

Childrens Services Capital Programme – Proposed Expansion Project for  
The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary School 

(Cabinet Member for Education) 
 

 
1. Divisions Affected 
 
1.1 Duffield and Belper South 
 
2. Key Decision 
 
2.1 This is a key decision   
 
3. Purpose  
 
3.1 To request approval for the funding of a capital project at The Curzon CE 

(Aided) Primary School to meet the demands of housing growth.    
3.2 Request approval to publish the statutory notice for the consultation in regard 

of the proposed expansion at The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary School. 
 
4. Information and Analysis 
 

As a result of a planning application at Kedleston Road for 400 dwellings, the 
Authority has secured £1,249,427 from the Section 106 agreement.  The 
school have employed a specialist firm to draw up a proposed expansion 
scheme which will deliver a two classroom modular block, and internal 
remodeling to the main school building, to accommodate the additional pupils 
from the housing development. 
 

Page 185

Agenda Item 9



 

The design has been completed and the cost will be £1,275,000.  The Section 
106 funds that are available to this project are identified in the table below. 
 
Planning 
Reference 

Site  Available Funds Funds to be 
Allocated to 
Project 

AVA/2014/0928 Kedleston Road, 
Quarndon, Derby 
 

£1,249,427 £1,249,427 

Total  £1,249,427 £1,249,427 
 
 
An additional funding allocation is required from the Children’s Services Basic Need 
of £25,573 to top up the received S106 funding to cover the cost of the project. 
 
Total Cost of the project   £1,275,000 
 
Section 106 Funding available  £1,249,427 
Basic Need allocation    £     25,573 
Total to be approved   £1,275,000 
 
 
5. Consultation 
 
5.1 The permanent expansion of premises at The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary 

requires the Local Authority to undertake a statutory consultation as set out in 
The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.  

 
6. Alternative Options Considered 
 
6.1 Not to proceed – The school retain its current capacity and not be able to 

admit the pupils from the local housing development.   
 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the preparation of 

the report. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 These are held on file in the Children’s Services Development Section  
 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix 1-  Implications. 

Page 186



 

 
10. Recommendation(s) 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

(a) Approves the allocation of £1,249,427 of Section 106 funding and £25,573 
of Basic Need funding 2015-16 towards the proposed expansion of The 
Curzon CE (Aided) Primary School. 

(b) Approves the publication of the statutory notice for the consultation of the 
expansion of The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary School. 

 
11. Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
11.1 Pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 1996 the local authority is 

required to provide sufficient school places for primary and secondary 
education in its area. 

 
 
12. Is it necessary to waive the call in period? 
 
12.1 No  
 
Report Author: Fiona Mosley/Jenny Webster    
Contact details:  01629 536048/01629 535808 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 187



 

Appendix 1 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1  The financial implications are explained in the Information and Analysis section 

above.  The Section 106 funding is held by the council.   
 
Legal 
 
2.1  

This proposal is subject to the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. The permanent expansion of 
premises at The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary requires the Local Authority to 
follow the statutory process set out in the Regulations. The Local Authority is 
required to publish a statutory proposal which contains sufficient information for 
consideration of the proposed change. The consultation period must last for 4 
weeks from the date of the publication.  

 
2.2  Pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 1996 the local authority is 

required to provide sufficient school places for primary and secondary 
education in its area. 

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1  The School will be responsible for providing the staff to teach the additional 

pupils on completion of the proposed expansion.  
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 No Impact 
 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 Not applicable 
 
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, Property and 
Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1  Not applicable 

Page 188



 

 

  

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET  
 

16 November 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 
 

Acceptance of Local Electric 
 Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) Funding from the Department for Transport 

(Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and Environment 
 

 
1. Divisions Affected 
 
1.1 County-wide.  
 
2. Key Decision 
 
2.1 This is a key decision because it is likely to result in the Council 

incurring expenditure which is, or savings which are significant having 
regard to the budget for the service or function concerned (this is 
currently defined as £500,000). 

 
3. Purpose  
 
3.1 To note and accept the Urgent Officer Decision taken by the Executive 

Director - Place on 16 March 2023 to accept a capability fund grant 
allocation of £127,440 from the Department of Transport.  
 

3.2 To set out additional capability funding allocations from the Department 
of Transport and seek approval to accept a grant of £580,560 for the 
period 2023 to end of March 2025.   
  
 

Page 189

Agenda Item 10



 

 

3.3 To seek Cabinet approval to accept £6.604m of capital grant – made up 
of £2.5m for street lighting LEVI charge point work packages and 
£4.104m for ‘destination’ charge point work packages, subject to 
successful completion of project delivery plans through consultation with 
the Department of Transport; and to add both work packages to the 
Council’s capital programme. 
 

3.4 To seek Cabinet approval to delegate the awarding of charge point 
contracts to the Executive Director -  Place, in consultation with Cabinet 
Member for Infrastructure and Environment, subject to a competitive 
procurement exercise being satisfactorily completed.   
 

3.5 To seek Cabinet approval for the Council’s involvement in the East 
Midlands Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure Consortium and to work 
with the Consortium to develop and manage the destination charge 
point project delivery plan. 

 
3.6 To seek Cabinet approval for finalisation of both charge point work 

packages be delegated to the Executive Director – Place, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and 
Environment. 

 
4. Information and Analysis 
 
4.1 The report, ‘Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure Programme Update 

and Forward Programme of Activity’, approved by Cabinet on 16 March 
2023 (Minute No. 51/23 refers), provided a detailed update on progress 
and the approach taken to accelerate delivery of the County’s Low 
Emission Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) Strategy and put forward further 
recommendations on how best to develop the public charging network.  
 

4.2 At the time of the decision, it was not known what level of funding would 
be made available from Government to support development of the 
public charging network. 
 

4.3 This report provides information about allocations from the Department 
for Transport (DfT) through the Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Fund, outlines the proposed spend for this funding and sets out details 
of the Derbyshire’s participation in the Joint East Midlands LEVI 
Consortium. 
 
NB: Any reference to LEVI in this report is to the County Council’s ‘Low 
Emission Vehicle Infrastructure’; Government also references LEVI 
which is the ‘Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure’ grant fund. For the 

Page 190



 

 

avoidance of doubt, this will be referred to only as the ‘Grant Fund’ in 
this report.  
 
The LEVI Grant funding allocations consist of upfront resource 
(capability) funding to assist with planning and programming for charge 
point implementation, ongoing resource (capability) funding to provide 
resource to support the continued development of the charging network, 
and a capital allocation to cover the initial investment needed for 
purchasing and installing charging infrastructure. 
 
Capability Funding 
 

4.4 In February 2023, the Council was awarded an allocation of £127,440 
revenue funding from the DfT’s Capability Fund. The Council had only a 
very short timescale within which to accept the grant offer and 
consequently, it was not possible to seek Cabinet approval in advance 
of accepting the funding.  
 

4.5 In consultation with the Cabinet Member - Infrastructure and 
Environment, the Executive Director – Place accepted the grant funding 
and agreed to utilise the money to support recruitment of additional 
resources, namely a dedicated Senior LEVI Project Officer. The full 
allocation of £127,440 has since been received by the Council and is 
now available for draw down.  
 

4.6 In March 2023, the Council received a further indicative allocation of 
£580,560 capability funding to support the continued development of 
charge points across the County. Since this time, work has taken place 
to develop project funding proposals which have now been agreed with 
DfT and, as a result, the indicative grant offer has been confirmed 
covering the period 2023 to end of March 2025.  
 

4.7  It is intended to utilise this capability funding to boost Derbyshire’s in-
house resource for LEVI planning and delivery through the creation of 
up to five fully grant funded posts across the Sustainable Travel and 
Highways teams; to confirm, these posts are proposed to be offered on 
a fixed term basis and recruitment will be in line with the Council’s 
established processes.  
 
Capital Funding 
 

4.8 The Council has also been advised of an indicative allocation of 
£6.604m capital from the Government’s Grant Fund, subject to the 
completion of relevant documentation being returned by the end of 
November 2023 setting out proposed project spend. Final allocation of 

Page 191



 

 

the grant is dependent on Government’s acceptance of these proposals 
and will be available for draw down within the current financial year 
2023-24 (completing March 2025). 
 

4.9 The capital funding will support delivery of two work packages already 
set out in the LEVI Programme Update report (March 2023). It is 
recommended that the £6.604m capital grant be split as follows: 
 
• Work Package 1: Street Lighting Charge Point Network (£2.5m)  

This funding will cover all capital costs associated with the supply and 
installation of street light electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 
Ongoing management, back office and maintenance responsibilities 
will lie with a third-party operator under a concession contract 
arrangement. 

• Work Package 2: Destination Charge Point Network (£4.104m) 
To support the development of the charge point network at key 
destination points, for example car parks across the County in both 
rural and urban locations. 

 
4.10 Delivery plans for both these work packages will need to demonstrate 

how they will deliver a step-change in the deployment of electric vehicle 
charge points, and to accelerate commercialisation and increased 
private sector investment in delivery of this infrastructure. Delivery plans 
are specifically required to provide details of proposed tender 
documentation and to how these will ensure that the spend will be in 
accordance with grant conditions. Grant conditions include technology 
specification, locations, carbon reduction and approach to tariff setting. 
Due to the timescales associated with delivery plan development it is 
not possible to complete these ahead of this Cabinet meeting. 
Consequently, Cabinet is requested to give approval for finalisation of 
both charge point work packages be delegated to the Executive Director 
– Place, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and 
Environment. 
 

4.11 Two different approaches are being used to develop delivery plans for 
the two work packages. The Council is developing work package 1 
delivery plan and the necessary procurement documentation to deliver 
the street lighting charge points. Work package 2 is being developed 
together with several local authorities across the Midlands who are also 
engaged in developing and procuring destination charge points.  This 
joint approach is referred to as the East Midlands Low Emission Vehicle 
Infrastructure Consortium. 

 
4.12 The East Midlands Consortium is being led by Midlands Connect, the 

Sub-National Transport Body for the Midlands, with partners authorities 

Page 192



 

 

including all the upper-tier authorities of the proposed East Midlands 
Combined County Authority: Derby City Council, Nottingham City 
Council, and Nottinghamshire County Council. The primary objective of 
the consortium is to pool resources, expertise, and purchasing power to 
secure more competitive prices from suppliers. By joining forces, the 
consortium hopes to unlock numerous benefits, such as increased 
negotiating leverage for expanding networks in both urban and rural 
areas, reduced procurement costs, enhanced efficiency in their 
procurement operations and importantly higher levels of private sector 
match funding.  
 

4.13 The East Midlands Consortium has been working together for several 
months now and is well-advanced in being in a position to bring forward 
a charge point network across Derbyshire from early 2024. It is 
therefore recommended that Cabinet approves the involvement of the 
Council in the Consortium to provide the most timely route and value for 
money approach to procurement of the destination charge point 
network. 
 

4.14 The Council will be required to expediently progress the procurement of 
charge point suppliers, once the two work packages are approved by 
the DfT. It is therefore recommended that authority to award 
subsequent charge point contracts is delegated to Executive Director - 
Place in consultation with Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and 
Environment, subject to a competitive procurement exercise being 
satisfactorily completed.   

 
5. Consultation 
 
5.1 There is no consultation required in association with the acceptance of 

this grant award. However, it is important to note that since April 2023, 
through an online consultation page, the Council has been collecting 
expressions of interest (EOIs) from residents who want to see charge 
points delivered in their area. To date, over 500 EOIs have been 
registered.  
 

5.2 As the LEVI project progresses, officers will actively engage with the 
local community and ensure that all necessary statutory consultations 
are carried out in accordance with Council expectations and standards. 

 
6. Alternative Options Considered 
 
6.1 Option 1 – Do not accept the capability fund and LEVI grant funding. 

Taking this option would put the Council’s ambition to develop a public 

Page 193



 

 

charging network at significant risk and delay Derbyshire’s transition to 
towards net zero and helping to de-carbonise travel.  

6.2 Option 2 - Accept the capability funding and LEVI Grant funding. This 
would enable the Council to develop a public charging network at no 
financial risk to the Council, and to expediently procure the supply, 
installation, operation, and maintenance of the charge point 
infrastructure. This option provides an opportunity to accelerate the 
commercialisation and private sector investment in electric vehicle 
charge point infrastructure. 

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 Cabinet Report, Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure Programme 

Update and Forward Plan, dated 16 March 2023 (Minute No. 51/23 
refers). 

 
8.2 Copies of Grant Award letters. 
 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix 1-  Implications. 
 
9.2 Appendix 2 - Copies of Grant Award letters. 
 
10. Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

a) Notes and accepts the Urgent Officer Decision taken by the Executive 
Director - Place on 16 March 2023 to accept a capability fund grant 
allocation of £127,440 from the Department of Transport. 

b) Approves the acceptance of additional capability funding allocation 
grant of £580,560 from the Department of Transport (DfT) for the period 
2023 to end of March 2025.   

c) Approves the acceptance of £6.604m of capital grant – made up of 
£2.5m for street lighting LEVI charge point work packages and £4.104m 
for ‘destination’ charge point work packages, subject to successful 
completion of project delivery plans through consultation with the 
Department of Transport, and to add both work packages to the 
Council’s capital programme. 

Page 194



 

 

d) Approves the delegation of the awarding of charge point contracts to 
Executive Director - Place, in consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Infrastructure and Environment, subject to a competitive procurement 
exercise being satisfactorily completed.  

e) Approves the Council’s involvement in the East Midlands Low Emission 
Vehicle Infrastructure Consortium and to work with the Consortium to 
develop the destination charge point project delivery plan. 

f) Approves the finalisation of both charge point work packages be 
delegated to the Executive Director – Place, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and Environment. 

 
11. Reason for Recommendations 
 
11.1 Approval of recommendations in this report will ensure the Council can 

continue its work towards net zero and helping de-carbonise travel by 
progressing the County’s electric vehicle charging network. 

 
12. Is it necessary to waive the call in period? 
 
12.1 No. 
 
 
 

. 
 
Report Author: Daniel McCrory  
Contact details: Daniel.mccrory@derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 195



 

 

Appendix 1 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1 The Department for Transport (DfT) has allocated the Council a total of 

£7.312m through the Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure grant fund, as 
below: 
 
Type of 
Funding 

Financial Year 
2022-2023 

Financial Year 
2023-2024 

Financial Year 
2024-2025 

Capability £127,440 £290,280 £290,280 
Capital n/a £6,604,000 n/a 
Total £7,312,000 

 
1.2 Funding will be issued to the Council as non-ringfenced grant payments 

under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003, for resource 
expenditure.  
 

1.3 In accepting the grant, the Council accepts responsibility for meeting 
any costs over and above the DfT’s contribution set out in Paragraph 
1.1, including potential cost overruns and the underwriting of any 
funding contributions expected from third parties.  
 

1.4 The Council will be asked to provide the DfT with a full breakdown of 
how the funding has been used or has otherwise been allocated for 
future use.  
 

1.5 Following the payment made in Financial Year 2022-2023, an annual 
payment will be made in Financial Year 2023-2024 following a 
refreshed proposal for Financial Year 2023-2024 and Financial Year 
2024-2025.  
 

1.6 Financial Year 2024-2025 grant payments will be made in summer 
2024. The DfT may withhold this payment should satisfactory progress 
not be made against objectives and planned utilisation of resource, as 
agreed through the proposal submitted in May 2023. 
 

1.7 The DfT recognises that deviation from agreed plans may occur, but 
requests that the Council notifies and agrees changes with the DfT 
ahead of time to ensure Financial Year 2024-2025 payments can occur 
promptly. Deviating from the agreed plans without notifying the DfT 
could mean Financial Year 2024-2025 grant payments are withheld.  
 

Page 196



 

 

1.8 It is important to note that the availability of LEVI grant funding has 
meant the Council does not need to take up previously secured Capital 
reserve funding of £1.65m secured for financial years 2022-2023, 2023-
2024 and 2024-2025. 

 
Legal 
 
2.1 The Director of Legal and Democratic Services will provide advice as 

necessary on the individual projects included in the Council’s LEVI 
agenda. 

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 The capability funding allocations provides sufficient funding to support 

the creation of up to five additional posts across grades 8 to 12 over the 
period up to end of March 2025.  

 
3.2  Given the limited timespan of the project and the funding, it is proposed 

the new posts be recruited on a fixed term basis thereby avoiding any 
redundancy or strain costs to the service.  

 
3.3 Due regard has been given to the Council’s current financial challenges 

in developing this proposal and recruitment will be undertaken in line 
with Council policy. 

 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None. 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 At this stage, an equalities impact assessment is not required. However, 

as individual projects emerge officers will review the need and complete 
assessments as appropriate. 

 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 Development of the public charging network directly contributes to the 

Council Plan objectives to create a ‘green and prosperous economy’ in 
Derbyshire. 
 

6.2 Development of a public charging network supports the Council’s 
commitments to tackling climate change and reduce vehicle borne 
emissions, as set out in the Derbyshire County Council Climate Change 
Strategy (2021-2025) and Zero Emission Vehicle Strategy (2019-2029). 

Page 197



 

 

Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 None. 
 
 
 

Page 198



 

 

Appendix 2  
 
Copies of Grant Award Letters 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 200



 
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

CABINET 

23 November 2023 
 

Forward Plan 

Report of the Managing Director 

(Corporate Services and Budget) 

 
1. Divisions Affected 

 
1.1 County-wide 

 
2. Key Decision 

 
2.1 This is not a Key Decision 

 
3. Purpose 

 
3.1 To present the Executive’s Forward Plan for the period 1 December – 31 

March 2024 and provide an opportunity for Cabinet to comment on future 
decisions for inclusion in the forthcoming Forward Plan. 

 
4. Information and Analysis 

 
4.1 In the interests of effective coordination and public transparency, the 

Forward Plan includes any item that is likely to require an Executive 
decision of Cabinet or a Cabinet Member whether a key decision or not. 
The Forward Plan covers the forthcoming 4 months and will be updated 
on a rolling monthly basis. All items have been discussed and approved 
by the Corporate Management Team. 

 
4.2 The Forward Plan is ultimately the responsibility of the Leader and 

Cabinet as it contains executive business due for decision. A copy of the 
Forward Plan covering the period 1 December – 31 March 2024 is 
attached at Appendix 2. 
 
 
 

Page 201

Agenda Item 11



5. Consultation 
 
5.1 There is no requirement to consult in relation to the preparation of the 

Forward Plan. 
 
6. Alternative Options Considered 

 
6.1 Cabinet could decide not to agree with any of the items that are suggested 

for inclusion in the Plan. This would then be referred to the Corporate 
Management Team. 

 
6.2 Cabinet could decide to move the date for consideration of any item 

provided the requirement to give at least 28 days’ notice of a key decision 
is met. 

 
7. Implications 

 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 
7.2 Background Papers 

None identified 
 
8. Appendices 

 
8.1 Appendix 1 - Implications 

 
8.2 Appendix 2 - Forward Plan for the period 1 December – 31 March 2024. 

 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 That Cabinet notes the contents of the Forward Plan attached at Appendix 

2 and comments on future decisions for inclusion in the Forward Plan, 
where appropriate. 

 
10. Reasons for Recommendation 

 
10.1 To promote the items that are due for decision by Derbyshire County 

Council’s Executive during the forthcoming four-month period. 
 
10.2 Whilst the Forward Plan cannot be an exhaustive list of all future 

decisions, to ensure as far as possible that the Forward Plan gives an 
indication of those decisions which it is known the executive will need to 
consider in the coming period and can therefore be used as a planning 
tool for managing the work programme of the executive and Improvement 
and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
 

 
Page 202



11. Is it necessary to waive the call-in period? 
 
11.1 No 

 
 
Report Author: Alec Dubberley Contact details: alec.dubberley@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Page 203

mailto:helen.barrington@derbyshire.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 
Implications 

 

Financial 
 
1.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
Legal 

 
2.1 The Council is required by law to give to give 28 days’ notice of key 

decisions that are scheduled to be taken by the Executive. A key decision 
is one which is financially significant, in terms of spending or savings, for 
the service or function concerned (more than £500,000), or which will 
have a significant impact on communities, in two or more divisions in the 
County. This legal obligation is discharged by including the necessary 
information in the ‘Forward Plan’. 

 
2.2 There is no legal requirement to have a four-month rolling Forward Plan, 

however it is good practice to do so to support effective work programmes 
for the executive and scrutiny functions. 

 
Human Resources 

 
3.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
Information Technology 

 
4.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
Equalities Impact 

 
5.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 

 
6.1 The Forward Plan will include future decisions which support the 

Council’s corporate objectives and delivery of the Council Plan priorities 
and deliverables. 

 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 

 
7.1 None directly arising from this report. 

Page 204



 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD 1 DECEMBER 2023 TO 31 
MARCH 2024 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the details of the executive decisions (key and non-key) 
which the Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members or Officers expect to take during the 
next four-month period.  
 
Please note that a key decision is a decision to be taken by the Executive which: 
 
(1) is likely to result in the local authority incurring expenditure or making savings of 
above £500,000 and/or  
 
(2) is significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more divisions/ county electoral areas. 
 
The current members of the Cabinet are: 
Councillor Barry Lewis Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate Change 
Councillor Simon Spencer 
 
Councillor Charlotte Cupit 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Budget 
Cabinet Member for Highways Assets and Transport 

Councillor Alex Dale 
Councillor Carol Hart 
Councillor Natalie Hoy 
Councillor Tony King 

Cabinet Member for Education 
Cabinet Member for Health and Communities 
Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
Cabinet Member for Clean Growth and Regeneration 

Councillor Julie Patten Cabinet Member for Children and Families 
Councillor Carolyn Renwick Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and Environment 

 

 
The information provided for each key decision includes a list of the documents which 
will be submitted to the decision maker. Further documents relevant to the matter may 
also be submitted to the decision maker. 
 
Subject to any restriction on their disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document 
listed will be available on the County Council’s website or for inspection at County Hall, 
Matlock, Derbyshire DE4 3AG at least five clear days before the meeting.  
 
If you wish to request details of documents listed or further documents as they become 
available, please email Democratic Services on 
democratic.services@derbyshire.gov.uk 
 

Page 205



 

 
December 
 
Subject: County Hall Options Appraisal - Outline Business Case for the Future 
of CCHQ 
County Hall Options Appraisal - Outline Business Case for the Future of CCHQ 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

and Budget 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - 
Corporate Services and Transformation 

Lead Officer Helen Forster, Janet Scholes 
Helen.Forster@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Janet.Scholes@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee All Improvement and Scrutiny 
Committees  

 
 
Subject: Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2023-24 
To provide Cabinet with details of Treasury Management activities during the first half 
of 2023-24 and to indicate the Council’s compliance with the prudential indicators set 
by Council at its meeting of 15 February 2023, in accordance with the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s “Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice 2021 Edition” (the CIPFA Code). 
Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

and Budget 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Finance and ICT 

Lead Officer Eleanor Scriven 
Eleanor.Scriven@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Resources  
 
 
Subject: Provision of Insurance Services Tender 
To consider and approve the approach to tendering of insurance services for the 2024 
insurance renewal 

Page 206



 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

and Budget 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - 
Corporate Services and Transformation, 
Director - Finance and ICT 

Lead Officer Naomi Bailey 
naomi.bailey@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Resources  
 
 
Subject: VCS Infrastructure Provision 2024-25 
To update Cabinet on the progress of the funding approach to Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) infrastructure provision and to seek approval to secure VCS 
infrastructure grants for a period of twelve months from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 
2025. 
Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - 
Corporate Services and Transformation 

Lead Officer Rob Lowe, Jodie Harrison 
robert.lowe@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Jodie.Harrison@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Places  
 
 
Subject: Library Strategy Refresh Framework 
To seek Cabinet approval of the Library Strategy Refresh Framework. 
 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change 

Page 207



 

Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Michelle Parker, Joanna Jackson 
Michelle.Parker@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Climate Change, Biodiversity and Carbon 
Reduction  

 
 
Subject: Opportunities for the Potential Relocation of Clay Cross and Staveley 
Libraries - Public Consultation Results 
To inform Cabinet of the results of the public consultation on the opportunities 
presented by the Town Deal programmes to support wider ambitions and 
improvements to Library Services. 
Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change 

Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Michelle Parker, Joanna Jackson 
Michelle.Parker@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Climate Change, Biodiversity and Carbon 
Reduction  

 
 
Subject: Markham Vale Progress 
To inform Cabinet of the continuing success and progress being made at Markham 
Vale and to provide an overview of economic development activity over the period 
October 2022 to October 2023. 
That Cabinet notes the continued success and progress in redeveloping Markham 
Vale and the scale and nature of work required to be undertaken over the coming 
years to complete the project. 
 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Clean Growth and 

Regeneration 

Page 208



 

Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Joanna Jackson, Peter Storey 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Peter.Storey@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Places  
 
 
Subject: Markham Vale Delegated Decisions 
To inform Cabinet of the delegated decisions. 
 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Clean Growth and 

Regeneration 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Joanna Jackson, Peter Storey 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Peter.Storey@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Places  
 
 
Subject: Green Towns Consultation Outcome 
To inform Cabinet of the findings of the public consultation on the introduction of 
20mph speed limits in areas surrounding the town centres of Buxton and Long Eaton 
and recommend the next steps based upon these findings. 
Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Highways, Assets 

and Transport 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Steven Alcock, Joanna Jackson 
Steven.Alcock@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Places  
 
 

Page 209



 

Subject: Charging Policy for local residents in receipt of Adult Social Care 
Support in the community 
To consider the consultation responses and recommendations 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Adult 
Social Care and Health 

Lead Officer Graham Spencer, Linda Elba-Porter 
Graham.Spencer@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Linda.Elba-Porter@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
Subject: Interim Grant for Social Activity Services 
Report to request an extension of grants for Social Activity Services to enable a 
review and move to commissioned arrangement. 
Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Adult 
Social Care and Health 

Lead Officer Phil Wall 
Phil.Wall@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
Subject: Interim Grant for Befriending Services 
To request Cabinet Member’s approval to:  
• Provide grant funds to the nine organisations that currently provide eleven 
befriending services for a period of up to 1 year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 
as set out in this report. The total sum being funded through these grants is £160,652. 
 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 7 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
Document to be submitted to the decision Report of the Executive Director - Adult 

Page 210



 

maker Social Care and Health 
Lead Officer Phil Wall 

Phil.Wall@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  

 
 
Subject: Provision of BME Community Support and Consultation Services 
2024-25 
To provide an update on progress to review BME community support and consultation 
services and request approval to provide grant funding for a period of up to one year. 
Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - 
Corporate Services and Transformation 

Lead Officer Jodie Harrison 
Jodie.Harrison@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
Subject: Provision of Specialist Advice Services 2024-5 
To update on progress to redesign and commission specialist advice services and 
seek approval to continue payments to specialist advice service voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) organisations from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 whilst 
plans are implemented. 
Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - 
Corporate Services and Transformation 

Lead Officer Jodie Harrison 
Jodie.Harrison@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 

Page 211



 

Subject: Vaccination Engagement Creswell and South Normanton (Covid-19 
and Flu) 
Approval of grant funding 
 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 18 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Iain Little, Claire Jones 
iain.little@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
claire.jones@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
Subject: The Fleet Centre, Belper 
Report seeking approval to seek vacant possession of The Fleet Centre to enable a 
disposal on the open market. 
Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made Before 31 December 2023 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

and Budget 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

and Budget 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - 
Corporate Services and Transformation 

Lead Officer Jo Hollick 
Jo.hollick@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Resources  
 
 
January 
 
Subject: Provision of Adult Integrated Substance Misuse Treatment Services: 
Additional Funding for Buprenorphine 
To seek approval to allocate additional funding to Derbyshire Healthcare Foundation 
Trust for the adult integrated substance misuse treatment service for increased costs 
related to Buprenorphine for the financial year 2023/24 
 

Page 212



 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 8 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Katie Dennis, Tanya Nolan 
katie.dennis@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Tanya.Nolan@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
Subject: Development of a Physical Activity Partnership update and approval of 
approach 
To update Cabinet on the progress on the development of the physical activity 
partnership and approve the agreed approach 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Rachel Green, Adam Norris, Angela 
Kirkham (Health Improvement 
Practitioner) 
Rachel.Green@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Adam.Norris@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
angela.kirkham2@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Health  
 
 
Subject: Localities and Place Community Health and Wellbeing Programme 
2024-2029 
This report seeks Cabinet approval for the continuation of funding to support the 
Public Health Localities Programme and approach across the County for five years 
from 1 April 2024. 
 

Is this a key decision? No 

Page 213



 

Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Luan Wilde 
Luan.Wilde@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Health  
 
 
Subject: Reviewing the scope of the Derbyshire Discretionary Fund 
To seek approval from Cabinet to engage in consultation on the future scope of the 
Derbyshire Discretionary Fund 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Adult 
Social Care and Health 

Lead Officer Lois Race, Vicky Smyth 
Lois.Race@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Vicky.smyth@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Health  
 
 
Subject: Update on the Preparation of a New Local Transport Plan 
To update Cabinet on the preparation of a new Local Transport Plan for the East 
Midlands Combined County Authority Area and seek approval to carry out public 
engagement and consultation to inform Plan development. 
 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and 

Environment 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Joanna Jackson, Alan Marsden 

Page 214



 

Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Alan.Marsden@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Places  
 
 
Subject: Statutory Guidance on CCTV Installation in Taxis and Private Hire 
Vehicles – Impact on Council Contracted Services 
To update Cabinet on the new requirement for CCTV to be installed in taxis and 
private hire vehicles, which will impact on children and vulnerable adults who are 
transported on Council contracts to educational settings and adult day services. 
To recommend that the Council supports the implementation of the new requirement, 
initially for North East Derbyshire and Bolsover District Councils who are 
implementing currently, but subsequently for other licensing authorities, whilst 
complying with data protection legislation and the rights of individuals. 
 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Highways, Assets 

and Transport 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Deborah Oddy, Joanna Jackson 
Deborah.Oddy@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Places  
 
 
Subject: Derbyshire County Council Climate Change Strategy: Annual Review 
of Progress 
For Cabinet to consider the progress being made with regards to delivery of the 
Council's Climate Change Strategy and the associated net zero targets. 
Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change 

Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Caroline Toplis 
Caroline.Toplis@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Page 215



 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Climate Change, Biodiversity and Carbon 
Reduction  

 
 
Subject: Derbyshire Makes, the Derbyshire Festival of Making: Approval of 
Delivery Plan, including a Range of Procurement and Funding Methods 
To set out the expected activities and methods of delivery for Derbyshire Makes. 
 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 11 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change 

Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 

Lead Officer Alison Foote, Joanna Jackson 
Alison.Foote@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Joanna.Jackson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Climate Change, Biodiversity and Carbon 
Reduction  

 
 
Subject: Recovery from Alcohol and Drug Dependence Grant 
To seek approval for the award of funding to organisations from the Recovery from 
Alcohol and Drug Dependence Grant 
Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 22 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Gillian Quayle, Victoria Clarke 
gillian.quayle2@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Victoria.Clarke@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
Subject: Strengthen Digital Support in Derbyshire 

Page 216



 

To seek approval to grant fund Digital Support in Derbyshire to strengthen community 
based digital inclusion work 
 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 22 January 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Adam Norris, Claire Burnage, Greg 
Stenson 
Adam.Norris@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Claire.Burnage@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Greg.Stenson@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee People  
 
 
February 
 
Subject: Approval of the 2024-25 Strategic Plan and Budget 
Approval of the Council Budget, Council Plan, Departmental Service Plans and 
Commercial Pipeline for 2024-25 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 22 February 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Leadership, Culture, Tourism and Climate 
Change 

Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Managing Director 

Lead Officer Laura Howe, Esther Croll, Matthew 
Walters 
Laura.Howe@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Esther.Croll@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Matthew.Walters@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Resources  
 
 
Subject: Use of Contain Outbreak Management Fund to provide additional 
support to food banks 

Page 217



 

To seek approval of spend from COMF to support food banks 

Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 22 February 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Louise Noon, Vicky Smyth 
Louise.Noon@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Vicky.smyth@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Health  
 
 
March 
 
Subject: Performance Monitoring and Budget Monitoring/Forecast Outturn 
2023-24 as at Quarter 3 (30 December 2023) 
To provide Cabinet with an update of Council Plan performance and the Revenue 
Budget/forecast outturn for 2023-24, as at 30 December 2023 (Quarter 3). 
Is this a key decision? No 
Date decision to be made 14 March 2024 
Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

and Budget 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Finance and ICT 

Lead Officer Eleanor Scriven, Samuel Holmes, Louise 
Scholes 
Eleanor.Scriven@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Samuel.Holmes@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Louise.Scholes@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Resources  
 
 
Subject: Supplemental Substance Misuse Treatment and Recovery Grant: Year 
three funding allocation 
Approval to accept and spend funding from OHID in relation to substance use 
treatment and recovery 

Is this a key decision? Yes 
Date decision to be made 14 March 2024 

Page 218



 

Decision to be taken by Cabinet 
Relevant Cabinet portfolio Cabinet Member for Health and 

Communities 
Document to be submitted to the decision 
maker 

Report of the Director - Public Health 

Lead Officer Victoria Clarke, Rosalie Weetman 
Victoria.Clarke@derbyshire.gov.uk, 
Rosalie.Weetman@derbyshire.gov.uk 

Improvement and Scrutiny Committee Health  
 
 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 221

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve, as a correct record, the non-exempt minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2023.
	5 Performance and Budget Monitoring Q2 (July-Sept 23)
	Appendix 3 for Performance and Budget Monitoring Q2 (July-Sept 23)
	Council Plan 2023-25  Performance Report Quarter 2 2023-24
	Introduction
	Summary
	Deliverable Overview
	Key Measure Overview
	Performance – Trend over Time
	Key areas of Success
	Key areas for Consideration
	Key Measures Updated for Quarter 2 2023�24
	Key Measures with new data for Quarter 1
	Key Measures with new data for Earlier Quarters
	Key Measures with no new data


	Progress on Council Plan priorities
	Resilient, healthy and safe communities
	Overview
	Key Measure Summary
	Progress on our deliverables and key measures
	Implement key actions to reduce discrimination and tackle inequalities as set out in the Council’s Equality,Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022-25
	Refresh and implement our Library Strategy to ensure a modern, efficient and improved service
	Review how the Council delivers home to school transport for children with special educational needs ensuring the most effective use of resources
	Work alongside people with a learning disability, those recovering from mental ill health and/ or who are autistic to develop Council services to ensure they are tailored to meet individuals needs and help people achieve their personal goals
	Ensure the Council’s strategic approach to community safety responds effectively to existing and emerging challenges such as Serious Violence and Violence Against Women and Girls
	Work with partners to welcome refugee families into Derbyshire and developed a countywide response to the implementation of asylum dispersal
	Develop the Council’s Thriving Communities Strategy to support the embedding of the refreshed approach across the Council
	Provide support to people and communities in need, including financial help from our Discretionary Fund and other activities that promote financial inclusion and tackle cost of living pressures
	Deliver £1.5 million of grant awards to promote positive behaviours for young people and residents, improve local networks, help people to feel safer, and encourage sustainable and green activity
	Further develop the Council’s approach to supporting the voluntary and community sector to ensure it can grow and thrive
	Work with partners to enable people to lead healthier lives by supporting people to take part in physical activity, to stop smoking and manage their weight


	High performing, value for money and resident focused services
	Overview
	Key Measure Summary
	Progress on our deliverables and key measures
	Embed the Council’s approved People Strategy to deliver the Council’s people ambition and the people priorities
	Provide consistent, high quality early help and safeguarding services for children and families across Derbyshire
	Support a resident-focused approach through a range of mechanisms to improve access to online services and customer service performance including implementing a complaints and feedback system
	Implement the Asset Management Strategy and Property 2025 programme, reviewing and rationalising our land and building assets and ensuring an effective plan is in place for the management of those we retain
	Centralise all land and property assets, to ensure a consistent strategic approach to property decisions and building management and a single point of accountability for budgets and costs
	Work in partnership with the NHS to implement the Integrated Care Strategy to benefit the health and wellbeing of the people of Derbyshire, tackle health inequalities and demonstrate a move towards more preventative interventions and investment
	Work with schools so that the percentage of children and young people attending good or better schools improves at a faster rate than nationally
	Work with partners and central government to deliver an East Midlands Combined County Authority (EMCCA) and devolution deal to create jobs opportunities for training, improve the local economy, transport, and housing, and accelerate our route to reduce emissions to net zero
	Further develop the Vision Derbyshire governance arrangements and align the programme to the emerging East Midlands Combined County Authority to deliver agreed priorities and take forward opportunities for broader public sector reform
	Establish and implement a new programme to deliver the updated Enterprising Council Business Strategy, continuing our focus on transforming and modernising the Council
	Implement actions from the review of Modern Ways of Working with a focus on the workstream exploring the future development of County Hall
	Embed the new Portfolio Management approach and framework across the Council to ensure that programmes and projects are coordinated and deliver improved outcomes and value for money
	Kept Council Tax within the lowest 25% of County Council areas and lobbied government to secure a better funding settlement


	Effective early help for individuals and communities
	Overview
	Key Measure Summary
	Progress on our deliverables and key measures
	Improve outcomes for victims of domestic abuse and their families by focusing on prevention, early intervention, work with perpetrators and commissioning specialist support
	Work with partners to promote positive mental wellbeing and improve support for local people, with a particular focus on children and young people and suicide prevention
	Deliver health and wellbeing advice and coaching to prevent, reduce and delay the need for adult social care services
	Finalise the new ways of working with older people and people with a disability to increase their independence so that they remain part of their local communities
	Provide local people with access to a wider choice of digital aids and technologies, to enable them to feel safe and independent in their own home
	Work with District and Borough Council and other partners to identify an average of 3 new sites each year that will increase the amount of age-appropriate accommodation and support for older people


	A prosperous and green Derbyshire
	Overview
	Key Measure Summary
	Progress on our deliverables and key measures
	Continue to deliver the Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan which sets out priorities to reduce the county’s greenhouse gas emissions
	Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from Council property, vehicles and street lighting to 12,310 tonnes CO2e by 2024 and net zero by 2032
	Develop and deliver a strategic approach to sustainable travel and transport across the county, including the promotion of cycling and walking
	Complete the delivery of a £120 million 3-year Local Transport Programme (LTP) to provide well managed roads and highways and address road safety concerns
	Reduce the level of Flood Risk to the residents and businesses of Derbyshire through our planning role, the delivery of flood mitigation schemes and working with communities to support and develop flood resilience measures
	Work with schools and other education providers to implement new strategies and support, to enable children and young people to achieve their educational potential and begin to catch up on learning they have missed due to COVID-19 restrictions
	Develop the Local Nature Recovery Strategy for Derbyshire in accordance with the Environment Act 2021, for the coordinated benefit of Derbyshire's natural environment
	Deliver a £47 million Bus Service Improvement Plan in partnership with Derbyshire bus operators and establish a 3-year programme to develop and improve bus frequency, connectivity, usage and affordability
	Refresh and implement our approach to increasing levels of inward investment into the county
	Submit the planning application and continue to progress proposals for the Chesterfield to Staveley Regeneration Route, which will create new homes and jobs for the area
	Finalise and implement a new Digital Strategy for Derbyshire, including support for the roll out of gigabit technology
	Continue to work with Derbyshire businesses to support the creation of apprenticeship opportunities in key economic sectors, connecting people to local job opportunities
	Work with partners to finalise the regional response to the Integrated Rail Plan, including a refreshed HS2 Growth Strategy, an action plan to prepare for Midland Mainline electrification and implementation of Restoring Your Railways programme
	Deliver the Derbyshire Cultural Framework to support the creative and cultural sectors to become more resilient, grow and capitalise on new opportunities
	Work with partners towards the production of a Development Framework that provides a positive unified vision for the Derwent Valley Mills World Heritage Site (DVMWHS), that highlights development possibilities, and identifies the infrastructure that is needed to release the site’s potential


	Overarching Measures
	Notes
	Key



	Appendices 4 - 11  for Performance and Budget Monitoring Q2 (July-Sept 23)
	Deliverable Progress	Key Measures Against Target
	Deliverable Progress	Key Measures Against Target
	Deliverable Progress
	Deliverable Progress	Key Measures Against Target
	Deliverable Progress	Key Measures Against Target
	Deliverable Progress	Key Measures Against Target
	Deliverable Progress
	Deliverable Progress	Key Measures Against Target

	Appendices 12 - 15 for Performance and Budget Monitoring Q2 (July-Sept 23)

	6 East Midlands Combined County Authority Financial Arrangements
	7 Digital Strategy, ICT Strategy, Target Operating Model and Implementation Plan for Derbyshire County Council’s Future ICT Service
		To move to a modern cloud-based infrastructure with applications and data hosted in the cloud.
		Automate manual processes to provide additional capacity and deliver improved services to residents and the council.

	8 Brackenfield SEND School proposed change of age range
	9 Expansion Project for The Curzon CE (Aided) Primary School
	10 Acceptance of Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) Funding from the Department for Transport
	11 Forward Plan
	FOR PUBLICATION
	2.	Key Decision
	3.	Purpose
	4.	Information and Analysis
	5.	Consultation
	6.	Alternative Options Considered
	7.	Implications
	7.2	Background Papers
	None identified
	8.	Appendices
	9.	Recommendation
	10.	Reasons for Recommendation
	11.	Is it necessary to waive the call-in period?
	Appendix 1
	Legal
	Human Resources
	Information Technology
	Equalities Impact
	Corporate objectives and priorities for change
	Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding)
	Printed plan Forward Plan - 1 December 2023 - 31 March 2024

	13 To approve, as a correct record, the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2023.

